

ISSN 2008-9147

JCMR

Journal of Cell and Molecular Research

Volume7, Number 1, Summer 2015



بسم الله الرحمن الرحيم

Issuance License No. 124/902-27.05.2008 from Ministry of Culture and Islamic Guidance Scientific Research Issuance License No. 161675 from the Ministry of Science, Research and Technology, Iran

Journal of Cell and Molecular Research (JCMR)

Volume 7, Number 1, Summer 2015

Copyright and Publisher *Ferdowsi University of Mashhad*

Director Morteza Behnam Rassouli (Ph.D.)

Editor-in-Chief Ahmad Reza Bahrami (Ph.D.)

Managing Editor Muhammad Irfan-Maqsood (Ph.D. Scholar)

> Assistant Editor Monireh Bahrami (Ph.D. Scholar)

JCMR Office: Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran. Postal Code: 9177948953 P.O. Box: 917751436 Tel./Fax: +98-513-8795162 E-mail: jcmr@um.ac.ir Online Submission: http://jm.um.ac.ir

Director

Morteza Behnam Rassouli, Ph.D., (Professor of Physiology), Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran E-mail: behnam@um.ac.ir

Editor-in-Chief

Ahmad Reza Bahrami, Ph.D., (Professor of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran E-mail: ar-bahrami@um.ac.ir

Managing Editor

Assistant Editor

Muhammad Irfan-Maqsood, Ph.D. Scholar Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran E-mail: jcmr@um.ac.ir **Monireh Bahrami,** Ph.D. Scholar JCMR Office, Department of Biology, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Editorial Board

Nasser Mahdavi Shahri, Ph.D., (Professor of Cytology and Histology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Javad Behravan, Ph.D., (Professor of Pharmacology), Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Hossein Naderi-Manesh, Ph.D., (Professor of Biophysics), Tarbiat Modarres University, Tehran, Iran

Jalil Tavakkol Afshari, Ph.D., (Professor of Immunology), Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Hamid Ejtehadi, Ph.D., (Professor of Ecology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Julie E. Gray, Ph.D., (Professor of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology), University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK

Esmaeil Ebrahimie, Ph.D., (Research Fellow of Bioinformatics), The University of Adelaide, Australia

Zarin Minuchehr, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor of Bioinformatics), National Institute of Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology, Tehran, Iran

Roya Karamian, Ph.D., (Professor of Plant Physiology), Bu-Ali Sina University of Hamedan, Hamedan, Iran

Maryam Moghaddam Matin, Ph.D., (Professor of Cellular and Molecular Biology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Seyyed Javad Mowla, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Neuroscience), Tarbiat Modarres University, Tehran, Iran.

Alireza Zmorrodi Pour, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Genetics), National Institute of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Tehran, Iran

Alireza Fazeli, Ph.D., (Professor of Molecular Biology), University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK

Hesam Dehghani, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Molecular Biology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Frhang Haddad, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Genetics), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Prof. Dr. Muhammad Aslamkhan, D.Sc. (Professor of Molecular Genetics), University of Health Sciences, Lahore, Pakistan

Table of Contents

Significance of Cell/Stem Cell Therapy in Wound Care Management/ The Editorial Muhammad Irfan-Maqsood						
Identification of PI3K Isoforms in Human Prostate Cancer Cell Lines (PC3, DU145) and Human Bladder Carcinoma Cell line (5637)Hajar Aryan, Zahra-Soheila Soheili	3					
Cloning and Expression of Fusion (F) and Haemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) Epitopes in Hairy Roots of Tobacco (Nicotiana tabaccum) as a Step Toward Developing a Candidate Recombinant Vaccine Against Newcastle Disease Amir Ghaffar Shahriari, Abdolreza Bagheri, Mohammad Reza Bassami, Saeed Malekzadeh Shafaroudi, Ali Reza Afsharifar	11					
Association of miR-132 and miR-185 Genes Methylation and their Expression Profile with Risk of Congenital Factor XIII Deficiency Majid Naderi, Dor Mohammad Kordi-Tamandani, Zohreh Rezaei, Akbar Dorgalaleh-Mail	19					
A Long noncoding RNA, ANCR, is Unregulated in Bladder and Breast Tumor Tissues Mahshid Malakootian, Youssef Fouani, Parisa Naeli, Fatemeh Mirzadeh Azad, Seyed Amir Mohsen Ziaee, Seyed Javad Mowla	26					
Renin-Angiotensin A1166C Polymorphism and the Rrisk of Stroke Peyman Zargari, Mohammad R. Ghasemi, Maryam Pirhoushiaran, Veda Vakili, Javad Hami, Mohammad Taghi Farzadfard, Payam Sasan-Nezhad, Mahmood R. Azarpazhooh, Ariane Sadr-Nabavi	32					
Application of Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) to Detect the Genotoxic Effect of Cadmium on Tow Iranian Ecotypes of cumin (Cuminum cyminum) Soraya Salarizadeh, Hamid Reza Kavousi	38					
Acipenser Persicus Growth Hormone gene Sequencing and its structures Ehsan Nasr, Mohammad Pourkazemi, Hrachia Hovhannisyan	47					
Evaluation of Agrobacterium-mediated Transformation of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii using a Synthetic amorpha-4, 11-diene Synthase Gene Afsaneh Mohkami, Hassan Marashi, Farajolah Shahriary Ahmadi, Masoud Tohidfar, Motahareh Mohsenpour	53					
Recombinant vaccine production in green plants: State of art	59					

Maziar Habibi-Pirkoohi, Afsaneh Mohkami

Significance of Cell/Stem Cell Therapy in Wound Care Management

Muhammad Irfan-Maqsood*

JCMR Office, Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Summary

Wound care management is a continuous challenging task for researchers and tissue engineers. Skin substitutes (synthetic and natural) have been introduced as emergency replacements/grafts to the damaged skin and a number of problems such as infection, graft rejection, inadequate healing, short shelf life etc. have reduced their clinical importance as being the ideal skin substitutes. A number of novel ideas have been presented in last decades which have focused on the applications of stem cells as ideal candidate in the development of ideal skin substitutes.

Keywords: Cell Therapy, Stem Cell Therapy, Wound Healing, Wound Management

Introduction

Skin grafting processes starting from 1871 by Reverdin, up till now has been considered as a challenging task for researchers and tissue engineers and a number of skin substitutes, containing degradable synthetic or biological components have been introduced and are being considered as emergency replacements/grafts to the damaged skin for example, Biobrane®, Integra®, OrCel®, Suprathel® etc are available for clinical utilization(Irfan-Magsood and Hemmati Sadeghi, 2013). There are a number of post grafting problems including infection, graft rejection, inadequate healing, short shelf life etc. associated with currently available skin substitutes. This necessitates the need for development of innovative tissue engineering approaches based on biological scaffolds and clinical grade stem cells could be an for attractive alternative available skin substitutes.Reliable and xenobiotic-free keratinocyte culture techniques(Hannigan et al., 1996), better understanding of the molecular mechanisms in the regulation of epidermal stem cells (Li et al., 2007), techniques to accelerate basement membrane formation and vascularization, solution to post grafting problems associated in skin engineering, such as graft contraction, loss of pigmentation and scars formation (Islam and Zhou, 2007; Li et al., 2013; Thiery, 2003) are suggested as main priorities in the field. Graft necrosis,

extensive inflammatory reaction, marked foreignbody reaction (FBR), rapid scaffold degradation, abnormal collagen deposition and remodelling still remain the major issues in skin bioengineering (Nakamura and Tokura, 2011; Yan et al., 2010). Problemsassociated with chemical scaffolds, perceive the ideas of biological membranes as alternatives (Mohd Hilmi et al., 2013). Application of stem cells, especially mesenchymal stem cells, along with keratinocytes, and identification of specific antigens for keratinocyte grafts would serve as promising elements in skin bioengineering.

References

- Hannigan G. E., Leung-Hagesteijn C., Fitz-Gibbon L., Coppolino M. G., Radeva G., Filmus J., Bell J. C. and Dedhar S. (1996) Regulation of cell adhesion and anchoragedependent growth by a new β1-integrinlinked protein kinase. Nature 379: 91-96.
- Irfan-Maqsood M. and Hemmati Sadeghi S. (2013) Developments toward an Ideal Skin Substitute: A Commentary. Journal of Cell and Molecular Research 5(2):87-91.
- 3. Islam M. S. and Zhou H. (2007) Isolation and characterization of putative epidermal stem cells derived from Cashmere goat fetus. European Journal of Dermatology 17: 302-308.
- Li H., Fu X., Zhang L., Sun T. and Wang J. (2007) In vivo dedifferentiation of human epidermal cells. Cell Biology International 31: 1436-1441.

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*} muhammadirfanmaqsood@gmail.com

- Li J. F., Duan H. F., Wu C. T., Zhang D. J., Deng Y., Yin H. L., Han B., Gong H. C., Wang H. W. and Wang Y. L. (2013) HGF accelerates wound healing by promoting the dedifferentiation of epidermal cells through beta1-integrin/ILK pathway. Biomedical Research International 2013: 470418.
- Mohd Hilmi A. B., Halim A. S., Jaafar H., Asiah A. B. and Hassan A. (2013) Chitosan dermal substitute and chitosan skin substitute contribute to accelerated fullthickness wound healing in irradiated rats. Biomedical Research International 2013: 795458.
- Nakamura M. and Tokura Y. (2011) Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the skin. Journal of Dermatological Science 61: 7-13.
- Thiery J. P. (2003) Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and pathologies. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 15: 740-746.
- Yan C., Grimm W. A., Garner W. L., Qin L., Travis T., Tan N. and Han Y. P. (2010) Epithelial to mesenchymal transition in human skin wound healing is induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha through bone morphogenic protein-2. The American Journal of Pathology 176: 2247-2258.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Identification of PI3K Isoforms in Human Prostate Cancer Cell Lines (PC3, DU145) and Human Bladder Carcinoma Cell line (5637)

Hajar Aryan¹, Zahra-Soheila Soheili¹*

1. National Institute of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Tehran, Iran

Received 5 October 2014

Accepted 10 November 2014

Abstract

There exists an association between PI3K pathway licentious activity and the considerable feature of high metastatic potential of the genitourinary cancer cells. Although DU 145 and 5637 have functional phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) tumor suppressor gene, which antagonizes PI3K function, PC-3 is null for PTEN gene. In pursuit to explain why PTEN bearing cell lines display high metastatic behavior, we searched for any discrepancy in PI3K isoforms expression pattern between these cell lines. Gathering gene bank data files, specific primers were designed, for all the genes of 12 studied isoforms from 3 different classes of PI3K. Total RNA was extracted and examined by Real- Time PCR to compare the cells for the type and amount of the isoforms which expressed. Ca and R2 isoforms are indicative of an equal expression for PC3 and DU145, R3 transcripts revealed 80% decrease in DU145 and C β , R1 and C2 α demonstrated an increased expression in DU145. When a comparison is made between 5637 and PC3, it can be seen that although a little decrease in the level of R3 transcripts was demonstrated, the amount of C α , C β , R2, R1 and C2 α increased. In conclusion in this study it is proposed that R1, R2, C α , C β , C2 α and R1, C β , C2 α are candidate genes for silencing via RNA in 5637 and DU145, respectively, to evaluate their roles in metastatic behavior of the both studied PTEN bearing cell lines.

Keywords: PI3K Isoforms, Prostate, Bladder, 5637, DU145, PC3

Introduction

Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases (PI3Ks) as lipid kinases devise pivotal roles in regulation of DNA repair, apoptosis, cell cycle, angiogenesis, metabolism and cell motility. They act as intermediate signaling molecules and transmit signals from cell surface to the cytoplasm (Akinleye, 2013). PI3K has been reported to have protein kinase activity as well. However, it remains unclear if this protein kinase activity has any role in vivo. (Vanhaesebroeck, 2012; Cantrell, 2001; Vanhaesebroeck and Waterfield, 1999).

There are at least twelve members of this family present in the human genome (Fry, 2001). There are eight mammalian PI3K enzymes that have been divided into three classes according to structural features and lipid substrate preferences (Vanhaesebroeck, 2010; Fruman, 2014; Kastan and Lim, 2000). In mammals, class I PI3Ks are the best understood and are present in all cell types (Fruman, 2014).

Corresponding authors E-mail:

Only class I PI3Ks are involved in cancer. Based on this fact it can be deducted that the three classes of PI3K have different product and substrate specificities. Only class I PI3Ks can use PIP2 to generate PIP3, class II PI3Ks produce the 3,4bisphosphate and the 3-monophosphate of inositol lipids, and class III can only make the 3monophosphate(Zhao, 2008).

It should be noted that Class I enzymes are able to convert PI (4, 5) P2 to PI (3, 4, 5) P3 on the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane. They are further classified to class IA and class IB (Fry, 1994; Vanhaesebroeck and Waterfield, 1999). Class IA PI3K as heterodimeric molecules consist of a P110 α , β , or δ (C α , C β , C δ) catalytic subunit (Domin, 1997) and one of the five relevant p85a (R1), p55a (R1), p50a (R1), p85β (R2) or p55γ (R3) regulatory subunits (Okkenhaug and Vanhaesebroeck, 2001). P110 α and P110 β are widely expressed in different tissues but P1108 is primarily expressed in leukocytes(Zhao, 2008; Domin, 1997).

Although class II enzymes are structurally related to class I, unlike classes I and III, comprise no more relevant regulatory proteins. They are so called PI3K C2 as they contain a C-terminal region with

^{*} zahrasoheila@yahoo.com

homology to C2 domains. PI3K C2 catalyses the production of PI (3) P and PI-3, 4-P2 in vitro (Arcaro et al., 1998; Hawkins et al., 2006). Three human subclasses for class II enzymes have been reported; PI3KC2 α , PI3KC2 β and PI3KC2 γ . While C2 α and C2 β are expressed in all mammalian tissues(Maria-Magdalena Georgescu, 2011; Arcaro et al., 2000; Domin et al., 1997), C2 γ is mainly expressed in prostate, liver and breast(Ho et al., 1997; Rozycka et al., 1998)

Class III PI3Ks enzymes generate PI3P from PI (Volinia et al., 1995). They consist of a catalytic Vps34 (C3) subunit and a regulatory p150 (R4) subunit and seem to be primarily involved in intracellular trafficking process of proteins and vesicles (Maria-Magdalena Georgescu, 2011; Foster et al., 2003; Schu et al., 1993; Vanhaesebroeck et al., 2001).

Prostate cancer is the most common cancer diagnosed in males all over the world. It accounts for the second principal cause of cancer deaths in men (Fritz H. Schröder, 2012; Hughes et al., 2005). Metastatic prostate cancer will spread beyond the prostate gland through the body. While the primary affected organ can effectively be cured by surgery or radiation therapy, therapeutic strategies are limited for metastatic disease (Silvia Letašiová, 2012; Ross et al., 2002). Bladder cancer is the second most common cancer of the genitourinary tract, approximately 30% to 70% of superficial bladder tumors will recur after initial treatment and 10% to 30% will progress to invasive and/or metastatic disease(Lee et al., 2002). Consequently the investigation of the molecular mechanisms involved in the emergence of metastatic genitourinary cancers is of great importance.

PI3K has been shown to be involved in the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases which degrade extra cellular matrix major and components of basement membrane and which are involved in cell invasion and cell migration(Brader and Eccles, 2004). Considering the pivotal role of PI3K signaling in cancer metastasis, broad-range PI3K inhibitors have been developed. Although they have shown early signs of becoming effective anticancer drugs, isoform specific inhibitors would provide further therapeutic advantage by limiting undesirable effects of pan-inhibitor compounds (Wee et al., 2008). In this regard identifying the most relevant isoforms in cancer tissues with activated PI3K pathway will be a prerequisite. Since it is unclear which PI3K isoform(s) drive growth and survival or invasiveness feature in human genitourinary cancers containing mutations in the PTEN tumor suppressor, PI3K negative

regulator; identification of the responsible downstream PI3K isoform will be important to overcome the challenge of restoring PTEN loss of function mutations in human cancers.

Materials and Methods

Cell lines and cell culture

The prostate carcinoma cell lines DU145 and PC3 and bladder carcinoma cell line 5637 Type Culture Collection, National (American Institute of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Tehran, Iran) were grown in RPMI 1640 (Gibco, Brussel, Belgium) supplemented with streptomycin (Jabberebn Hayyan, Tehran, Iran), penicillin (Sigma, Brussel, Belgium), and 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Sigma, Brussel, Belgium) in a humidified incubator under 5% CO₂ at 37°C.

RNA isolation

Cells in subconfluent cultures were lysed in Tripure RNA-isolating reagent (Roche, Germany). All samples were extracted according to manufacturer instruction. Resulting purified intact RNA was treated with DNase I (Promega, USA) to remove genomic DNA contaminants. The RNA samples were then stored at -80°C. Experiments were performed at least three times using separate sets of cultures.

Primer for PI3K isoforms and housekeeping genes

Using criteria required for designing SYBER green assay, primers were designed using beacon designer software 6.0. To ensure the absence of secondary structure, mfold zuker program was run for the designed primers (Markham, 1995-2013). Additional criteria for a good SYBR green Real-Time assay included a relatively short amplicon (< 200 bp) for housekeeping genes and genes of interest. A blast search was performed to check the specificity of DNA sequences of primers. To amplify18SrRNA, the offered primers by Bio-rad were used (Table 1). Table 1 : Sequences of primers and amplicon's length

Isoform	Primer	Size of
PIK3CA	Forward:	185 bp
$(C\alpha)$	AAAGTGTGTGGGATGTGATGAATA	105 Up
	С	
	Reverse:	
PIK3CB	Forward:	171 hn
(Cβ)	GACATCTGGGCGGTGGATTC	17100
	Reverse:	
	TG	
PIK3CD	Forward:	160 bp
(Cδ)	TTCAGACACCATCGCCAACATC	
	Keverse: ACAATAGCCAGCACAGGAGAGG	
PIK3CG	Forward:	187 bp
(Cγ)	CCCGAAAGCCAAAGCGAACAG	1
	Reverse:	
PIK3C2A	Forward:	175 bp
$(C2\alpha)$	AAGTCAGCAATCTACAGGTATCTC	170 00
	C	
	TCAAGAAGAACAGCATCCCAAGG	
PIK3C2B	Forward:	188 bp
(C2β)	CTGCGGGCTGGAGGAGTTC	-
	Keverse: GGAGATGGACGAGGTAGTTCAAG	
	G	
PIK3C2G	Forward:	166 bp
(C2γ)	AAGIGGCAGIICAACAAIIAGAC Reverse	
	CAGTAAAGACGATGGGCAACC	
PIK3R1	Forward:	175 bp
	AG	
	Reverse:	
	GTGTAATGTGAGGTCCCAATGC	
PIK3R2	Forward:	187 bp
	C	
	Reverse:	
DIV2D2	AACGGAGCAGAAGGIGAGIGG	160 hn
TIKSKS	ACAGATGCCCTCGCTTTGC	100 Up
	Reverse:	
DIK3D2	GULTUTUCACTTUACATTUAC Forward:	107 hn
TINJNJ	GGAGGAGAGCACCAATGACATC	177.04
	Reverse:	
DIK3C3	CAAAGUGGCAGTAGTAGAGTAGC Forward	158 hn
I INJUJ	CCTTCAGTCTCTTCACCTCCTC	100 00
	Reverse:	
	C	
GUSB	Forward:	121 bp
	CACGACACCCACCACCTACATC	
	Keverse: GACGCACTTCCAACTTGAACAG	
18S rRNA	Forward:	99 bp
	CGGCGACGACCCATTCGAAC	
	Keverse: GAATCGAACCCTGATTCCCCGTC	
GAPDH	Forward:	219 bp
	GCAGGGGGGGGGGCCAAAAGGGT	
	Keverse: TGGGTGGCAGTGATGGCATGG	
L	10001000101010001100	1

Research Article

Quantitative Real-Time RT-PCR

Real-Time PCR was performed in 25 µL of a reaction consisting of 21 µL Superscript III Platinum R SYBR Green one-step RT supermix (Invitrogen, Belgium), 1 µM concentration of each primer and 2 µL CDNA as template. The PCR thermal profile consists of an initial incubation of 30 min at 50°C and 10 min at 95°C followed by 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 s, 54°C for 30 s, 72°C for 30 s, and 80°C for 10 s (data acquisition point). Amplification, detection, and data analysis were performed with MYiQ real-time detection system (Bio-rad, Milan, Italy). Each sample was run at least in duplicate. Relative quantitation of gene expression has been estimated according to the 2^{-1} $\Delta\Delta \tilde{C}t$ method based on the threshold cycle (Ct) values(Schmittgen and Livak, 2008).

Statistical analysis

The Real-Time RT-PCR analysis was performed at least in 3 independent experiments. Each sample was run and examined in duplicate. Differences between groups were analyzed using the t-test. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Table 2: Location of the genes and primers

Gene type	Chromosome	Primer	
			Located
			Exon
PIK3C2A	11	p15.5—14	1
PIK3C2B	1	q32	6,8
PIK3C2G	12	p12	5,7
PIK3C3	18	q12.3	12,14
PIK3CA	3	q26.3	3
PIK3CB	3	q22.3	1,2
PIK3CD	1	p36.2	20,21
PIK3CG	7	q22.3	2
PIK3R1	5	q13.1	V1:15
			V2: 10
PIK3R2	19	q13.2-	7,9
		q13.4	
PIK3R3	1	p34.1	10
PIK3R5	17	p13.1	12,13

Results

PI3K isoforms Gene Expression

Based on data obtained from Real-Time PCR, while C α , C β , C2 α , R1, R2 and R3 isoforms were expressed by PC3, DU145 and 5637 cell lines C δ , C γ , C2 β , R5, C2 γ and C3 isoforms were not detected in aforementioned cell lines(Table 3).

Research Article

PK13 isoform/ cell lines	Са	Сβ	C2a	R1	R2	R3	Сб	Сү	C2β	R5	C2γ	C3
DU145	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
PC3	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
5637	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3: Type of P13K isoforms demonstrated in DU145, 5637and PC3 cell lines

Ratio of the expression of PI3K isoforms in DU145 with respect to PC3

The expression level of $C\alpha$, $C\beta$, $C2\alpha$, R1, R2 and R3 isoforms in DU145 cells were normalized against PC3 cells(null for PTEN gene). It showed that while in DU145 cells, R3 transcripts was decreased to about 80% of its amount in PC3 cells, $C\alpha$ and R2 transcripts represented an equal expression for the compared cell lines. When the level of $C\beta$, $C2\alpha$, R1 transcripts in DU145 cells were assessed, a significant increase in their relative expression was determined (Figure 1).

The expression level of PI3K isoforms in 5637 cells with respect to PC3

Looking to the result of the analysis of P13K isoforms, the data revealed increased quantity of C α , C β , R2, R1 and C2 α transcripts in 5637 cells. The highest increased value was detected for the R2 transcripts, while a little decrease in the level of mRNA transcripts was detected for R3 isoform (Figure 2).



Figure1. Bar graphs showing the relative gene expression of PI3K isoforms in DU145 cell line. Total RNA was isolated and the relative gene expression of genes of interests were analyzed by Real-Time PCR. Relative quantitation of gene expression was estimated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method based on the threshold cycle (Ct) values. Each sample was assessed in at least duplicates,



Figure 2. Bar graphs showing the relative gene expression of PI3K isoforms in 5637 cell line. Total RNA was isolated and the relative gene expression of genes of interests were analyzed by Real-Time PCR. Relative quantitation of gene expression was estimated according to the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ Ctmethod based on the threshold cycle (Ct) values. Each sample was assessed in at least duplicates.

Relative expression level of PI3K isoforms against Ca transcripts

When we compared 5637 and DU145 cell lines against PC-3, we detected the minimum change in the amount of PI3K-C α transcript amongst the catalytic isoforms (Figures 1 and 2). So we calculated the ratios of interested transcripts of PI3K isoforms respected to the PI3K-C α amount in the same cell line to search for any prominent inequality in expression for regulatory subunits respected to catalytic isoforms. Data for DU145 cell line showed a significant increase in PI3K-C β and PI3K-C2 α catalytic isoforms with respect to all the three detected regulatory subunits (R1, R2, R3) (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Bar graphs showing the relative gene expression of PI3K isoforms which were normalized against Ca transcript in Du145 cell line. Total RNA was isolated and the relative gene expression were analyzed by Real-Time PCR. Relative quantitation of gene expression was estimated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method based on the threshold cycle (Ct) values. Each sample was assessed in at least duplicates.

For 5637 cell line data showed a significant increase in R2 and a reasonable increment in PI3K-C2 α , PI3K-C β and R1 respected to PI3K-C α catalytic Isoform. R3 revealed neglectable increment in expression (Figures 4).

In PC3, PI3K-C β and PI3K-C2 α relative expressions were the same as detected for DU145 and 5637. However the regulatory subunits were increased as for 5637 cell line (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Bar graphs showing the relative gene expression of PI3K isoforms which were normalized against C α transcript in 5637 cell line. Total RNA was isolated and the relative gene expression of genes of interests were analyzed by Real-Time PCR. Relative quantitation of gene expression was estimated according to the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct} method based on the threshold cycle (Ct) values. Each sample was assessed in at least duplicates



Figure 5. Bar graphs showing the relative gene expression of PI3K isoforms which were normalized against C α transcript in PC3 cell line. Total RNA was isolated and the relative gene expression were analyzed by Real-Time PCR. Relative quantitation of gene expression was estimated according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method based on the threshold cycle (Ct) values. Each sample was assessed in at least duplicates.

Discussion

Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway has a central role in cancer cells proliferation, survival and migration (Osaki et al., 2004). Considering the studies indicating a component of PTEN/PI3K/Akt cassette is altered in a large number of tumors it is believed that PI3K makes a great contribution to a high percentage of cancers (Fry, 2001). Consequently PI3K family as drug targets has been under investigation (Stein and Waterfield, 2000). PTEN encodes a phosphatase against both lipid and protein substrates. The mechanism by which PTEN might act as a tumor suppressor gene may involve inhibition of the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway which is essential for cell cycle progression and survival.

PTEN is expressed in prostate normal epithelial cells. Its expression mostly reduced in prostate cancer and the loss of expression occurred in cancers with high grade or stage (Fry, 2001).

The expression of PTEN is also negatively correlated with bladder tumor grades; reduced expression of PETN might play an important role in carcinogenesis and progression of bladder cancer (Zhang, 2005).

DU-145 (prostate cell line) and 5637 (bladder cell line) have functional PTEN tumor suppressor gene, unlike this feature these PTEN bearing cell lines display highly metastatic behavior like PC-3(prostate cell line), which is null for PTEN (Bastola et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2000). In pursuit to explain why despite of bearing functional PTEN, DU145 and 5637 are highly invasive cell lines we searched for any discrepancy in PI3K isoforms expression rate and expression pattern against DU145, PC-3 and 5637 cell lines.

We investigated the expression profile of the twelve known isoforms from PI3K family including

PI3K-Cα, PI3K-Cβ, PI3K-Cγ, PI3K-Cδ, PI3K-C2α, PI3K-C2β, PI3K-C2γ, C3, R1, R2, R3, R5 isoforms. To perform precise quantitative Real-Time PCR analysis, GAPDH, 18srRNA and GUSB were included in experiments as control housekeeping genes (HKGs). Our results showed from the three studied HKGs, 18srRNA and GAPDH were the most reliable genes as reference controls and the GUSB gene revealed unstable expression in studied cell lines.

Whereas PI3K-C α , PI3K-C β , PI3K-C 2α , R1, R2 and R3 were the most frequently expressed isoforms in all the three studied cell lines; PI3K-C γ , PI3K-C δ , PI3K-C 2β , PI3K-C 2γ , C3 and R5 isoforms were found to be undetectable.

When PC-3 cell line was used as calibrator evaluation of quantitative gene expression demonstrated that PI3K-C α and R2 represented an equal amount of transcripts for both DU145 and PC-3 cell lines, the expression ratio for R3 showed 80% decrease in DU145 and the ratio of gene expression for R1, PI3K-C β and PI3K-C2 α were increased to 3.73, 7.69 and 3.12 fold respectively.

When we compared 5637 cell line against PC-3(as calibrator) the ratio of gene expression were 62.16, 170, 0.72, 2.5, 8.83 and 11.59 fold for R1, R2, R3, PI3K-C α , PI3K-C β and PI3K-C 2α respectively.

It is speculated that more consequences of PI3Ks in disease will be well-defined by array based PI3K gene profiling and subsequently promised that pharmaceutical intervention will develop isoformspecific PI3K inhibitors with clinical benefits to human (Vanhaesebroeck and Waterfield, 1999).

It has been shown that in cervical and ovarian cancers gene amplification of PI3K-C α isoform culminated to its over-expression. On the other hand in ovarian and colon tumors oncogenic activating mutations were detected in R1 gene (Sawyer et al., 2003). However there exists little information about typical distribution and quantitative expression of all the family members of PI3K isoforms in normal and diseased states.

Among members of PI3K family, class I have been studied extensively. Results of gene expression analysis have suggested that both PI3K-C α and PI3K-C β are widely expressed in mammalian tissues. Further experimental evidence documented the equimolar expression of catalytic and regulatory

Research Article

subunits in studied tissues (Geering et al., 2007). Further compelling evidence revealed that R2 protein reactivity was higher than R1 isoform when compared for WEHI-231 and NIH 3T3 cell lines (Geering et al., 2007). This finding is completely coinciding with our data which has demonstrated high level of R2/R1 expression ratio for DU145, PC3 and 5637 cells. Other recent researches showed an increased specific activity for PI3K-C α when compared with the other members of class IA. This could explain why its expression ratio is lower than the other catalytic subunits in our studies.

Conclusion

R1, R2, PI3K-Ca, PI3K-Cβ and PI3K-C2β isoforms in 5637 cell line and R1, PI3K-CB and PI3K-C2a isoforms in DU145 were increased in these both PTEN bearing cell lines respected to PC3 which is null for PTEN. To shed more light on the functional significance of isoforms overexpression we propose to silence the aforementioned isoforms by RNA interference. It should also be considered that rather than PI3K malignant activation, the extra-activation of other pathways like MAPK and PKC may bypass PTEN normal function for PI3K regulation in 5637 and DU145.

Acknowledgment

This research was supported by National Institute of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology through the grant no. 218.

We should give our wholeheartedly thanks to Shamila Alipoor because of her great assistance in preparing the manuscript and her great soul of forgiveness.

References

- Arcaro A., Volinia S., Zvelebil M. J., Stein R., Watton S. J., Layton M. J., Gout I., Ahmadi K., Downward J. and Waterfield M. D. (1998) Human phosphoinositide 3kinase C2beta, the role of calcium and the C2 domain in enzyme activity. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 273: 33082-33090.
- Akinleye A., Avvaru P., Furqan M., Song Y. and Liu D. (2013) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) inhibitors as cancer therapeutics. Journal of Hematology and Oncology 6(1): 88.
- 3. Arcaro A., Zvelebil M. J., Wallasch C.,

Ullrich A., Waterfield M. D. and Domin J. (2000) Class II phosphoinositide 3-kinases are downstream targets of activated polypeptide growth factor receptors. Molecular and Cellular Biology 20: 3817-3830.

- Bastola D. R., Pahwa G. S., Lin M. F. and Cheng P. W. (2002) Downregulation of PTEN/MMAC/TEP1 expression in human prostate cancer cell line DU145 by growth stimuli. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 236:75-81.
- 5. Brader S. and Eccles S. A. (2004) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase signalling pathways in tumor progression, invasion and angiogenesis. Tumori Journal 90: 2-8.
- Cantrell D. A. (2001) Phosphoinositide 3kinase signalling pathways. Journal of Cell Science 114:1439-1445.
- Domin J., Pages F., Volinia S., Rittenhouse S. E., Zvelebil M. J., Stein R. C. and Waterfield M. D. (1997) Cloning of a human phosphoinositide 3-kinase with a C2 domain that displays reduced sensitivity to the inhibitor wortmannin. The Biochemical Journal 326 :139-147.
- Foster F. M., Traer C. J., Abraham S. M. and Fry M. J. (2003) The phosphoinositide (PI) 3-kinase family. Journal of Cell Science 116: 3037-3040.
- **9.** Fruman D. A. and Rommel C. (2014) PI3K and cancer: lessons, challenges and opportunities. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 13(2):140-56.
- Fry M. J. (1994) Structure, regulation and function of phosphoinositide 3-kinases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1226: 237-268.
- 11. Fry M. J. (2001) Phosphoinositide 3-kinase signalling in breast cancer: how big a role might it play? Breast Cancer Research: BCR 3: 304-312.
- Georgescu M. M. Pten (2010) Tumor Suppressor Network in PI3K-Akt Pathway Control. Genes Cancer 1(12): 1170- 1177.
- Geering B., Cutillas P. R., Nock G., Gharbi S. I. and Vanhaesebroeck B. (2007) Class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinases are obligate p85-p110 heterodimers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104: 7809-7814.
- Hawkins P. T., Anderson K. E., Davidson K. and Stephens L. R. (2006) Signalling through Class I PI3Ks in mammalian cells. Biochemical Society Transactions 34: 647-

662.

- Ho L. K., Liu D., Rozycka M., Brown R. A. and Fry M. J. (1997) Identification of four novel human phosphoinositide 3kinases defines a multi-isoform subfamily. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 235: 130-137.
- Hughes C., Murphy A., Martin C., Sheils O. and O'Leary J. (2005) Molecular pathology of prostate cancer. Journal of Clinical Pathology 58:673-684.
- 17. Jianhua Zhang W. Y. and Siwei Zhou. (2005) Expression and Significance of PTEN in Bladder Transitional Cell Carcinoma. The Chinese-German Journal of Clinical Oncology 4: 218-220.
- Kastan M. B. and Lim D. S. (2000) The many substrates and functions of ATM. Nature reviews. Molecular Cell Biology 1:179-186.
- 19. Lee Y. G., Macoska J. A., Korenchuk S. and Pienta K. J. (2002) MIM, a potential metastasis suppressor gene in bladder cancer. Neoplasia 4:291-294.
- 20. Letasiova S., Medve'ova A., Sovcikova A., et al. (2012) Bladder cancer, a review of the environmental risk factors. Environmental Health 11(Suppl 1): S11.
- 21. Markham M. Z. N. (1995-2013) Mfold web server, Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute, Hosted by The RNA Institute, College of Arts and Sciences, State University of New York at Albany. Supported by the SUNY Albany Research IT Group (www.bioinfo.rpi.edu/application/mfold)
- 22. Okkenhaug K. and Vanhaesebroeck B. (2001) New responsibilities for the PI3K regulatory subunit p85 alpha. Science's STKE : Signal Transduction Knowledge Environment 65:pe1
- 23. Omin J W. M. (1997) Using tructure to define the function of phosphoinositide 3-kinase family members. FEBS Letters: 23: 91-95.
- 24. Osaki M., Oshimura M. and Ito H. (2004) PI3K-Akt pathway: its functions and alterations in human cancer. Apoptosis : an International Journal on Programmed Cell Death 9: 667-676.
- Ross S., Spencer S. D., Holcomb I., Tan C., Hongo J., Devaux B., Rangell L., Keller G.
 A., Schow P., Steeves R. M., Lutz R. J., Frantz G., Hillan K., Peale F., Tobin P., Eberhard D., Rubin M. A., Lasky L. A. and Koeppen H. (2002) Prostate stem cell

antigen as therapy target: tissue expression and in vivo efficacy of an immunoconjugate. Cancer Research 62: 2546-2553.

- 26. Rozycka M., Lu Y. J., Brown R. A., Lau M. R., Shipley J. M. and Fry M. J. (1998) cDNA cloning of a third human C2-domain-containing class II phosphoinositide 3-kinase, PI3K-C2gamma, and chromosomal assignment of this gene (PIK3C2G) to 12p12. Genomics 54: 569-574.
- Sawyer C., Sturge J., Bennett D. C., O'Hare M. J., Allen W. E., Bain J., Jones G. E. and Vanhaesebroeck B. (2003) Regulation of breast cancer cell chemotaxis by the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110delta. Cancer Research 63:1667-1675.
- 28. Schmittgen T. D. and Livak K. J. (2008) Analyzing Real-Time PCR data by the comparative C (T) method. Nature Protocols 3: 1101-1108.
- Schu P. V., Takegawa K., Fry M. J., Stack J. H., Waterfield M. D. and Emr S. D. (1993) Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase encoded by yeast VPS34 gene essential for protein sorting. Science 260: 88-91.
- **30.** Schroder F. H., Hugosson J., Roobol M. J., et al. (2012) Prostate-cancer mortality at 11 years of follow-up. The New England Journal of Medicine 366(11): 981-90.
- Tein R. C. and Waterfield M. D. (2000) PI3-kinase inhibition: a target for drug development? Molecular Medicine Today 6: 347-357.
- **32.** Vanhaesebroeck B., Stephens L. and Hawkins P. (2012) PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 13(3):195-203.
- **33.** Vanhaesebroeck B., Guillermet-Guibert .J, Graupera M. and Bilanges B. (2010) The emerging mechanisms of isoform-specific PI3K signalling. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology11(5):329-41.
- 34. Vanhaesebroeck B., Leevers S. J., Ahmadi K., Timms J., Katso R., Driscoll P. C., Woscholski R., Parker P. J. and Waterfield M. D. (2001) Synthesis and function of 3phosphorylated inositol lipids. Annual Review of Biochemistry 70: 535-602.
- 35. Vanhaesebroeck B. and Waterfield M. D. (1999) Signaling by distinct classes of phosphoinositide 3-kinases. Experimental Cell Research 253: 239-254.

Research Article

- 36. Volinia S., Dhand R., Vanhaesebroeck B., MacDougall L. K., Stein R., Zvelebil M. J., Domin J., Panaretou C. and Waterfield M. D. (1995) A human phosphatidylinositol 3kinase complex related to the yeast Vps34p-Vps15p protein sorting system. The EMBO Journal 14: 3339-3348.
- Wang D. S., Rieger-Christ K., Latini J. M., Moinzadeh A., Stoffel J., Pezza J. A., Saini K., Libertino J. A. and Summerhayes I. C. (2000) Molecular analysis of PTEN and MXI1 in primary bladder carcinoma. International Journal of Cancer. Journal International Du Cancer 88: 620-625.
- Wee S., Lengauer C. and Wiederschain D. (2008) Class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinase isoforms and human tumorigenesis: implications for cancer drug discovery and development. Current Opinion in Oncology 20: 77-82.
- Zhao L. and Vogt P. K. (2008) Class I PI3K in oncogenic cellular transformation. Oncogene 27(41): 5486-96.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Cloning and Expression of Fusion (F) and Haemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) Epitopes in Hairy Roots of Tobacco (*Nicotiana tabaccum*) as a Step Toward Developing a Candidate Recombinant Vaccine Against Newcastle Disease

Amir Ghaffar Shahriari¹, Abdol Reza Bagheri¹*, Mohammad Reza Bassami², Saeed Malek Zadeh Shafaroudi¹, Alireza Afsharifar³

Department of Plant Biotechnology and Breeding, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran
 Biotechnology Research Group, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran
 Plant Virology Research Centre, College of Agriculture, Shiraz University, Shiraz, Iran

Received 23 November 2014

Accepted 30 December 2014

Abstract

Newcastle is a significant avian disease continuing to cause considerable loss. Developments in genetic engineering have led to plant-based platforms for human and animal vaccine production. Recombinant vaccine production in hairy root systems have several advantages over stable expression in whole plants, including high growth rates, ready genetic manipulations, high levels of recombinant protein production, and the potential for bioreactor culture. In an attempt to develop a recombinant vaccine in hairy roots, the sequences encoding fusion (F) and haemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) epitopes of Newcastle disease virus were cloned in pBI121 expression vector which was then transferred into leaf disks of tobacco (*Nicotiana tabaccum*) 'Turkish' cultivar by means of *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*. Hairy roots developed on MS medium containing 50 mg/L kanamycin and 30 mg/L meropenem. Incorporation of the heterologous gene in the genome of hairy roots was confirmed by PCR. Expression analyses were performed by real-time PCR at transcription level and by dot-blot and ELISA assays at translation level, all confirming the expression of the heterologous gene and production of the recombinant protein.

Keywords: Recombinant Vaccine, Antigen Expression, Newcastle Disease, Hairy Roots, Agrobacterium Rhizogenes

Introduction

Recombinant vaccines based on viral coat protein subunits represent an efficient tool as a substitute for conventional, attenuated virus based vaccines (Makela, 2000). They are called edible recombinant vaccines as they are administered orally. A recombinant (or subunit) vaccine is an antigen produced with the help of genetic engineering methods in a suitable expression system. Theoretically, the genes encoding every protein can be cloned and expressed in bacteria, yeasts or mammalian cells. A number of genes encoding surface antigens from viruses, bacteria and singlecelled pathogens have been cloned in expression systems and the expressed antigens have been used as vaccines (Arntzen and Mason, 1995). Plantbased platforms are one of the highly preferred expression systems employed for recombinant vaccine production (Sala et al., 2003). Transgenic plants expressing industrially or pharmaceutically

Transgenic plants are highly interesting candidates for recombinant vaccine production. The main benefits of plant-based edible vaccines include ease of production and administration, as well as a very high level of immunogenicity because they elicit the mucosal immune system, which is the first and most important barrier against different pathogens. The majority of animal pathogens enter the host's body through respiratory or digestive tracts, where the mucosal immune system operates; and the mucosal immune response elicited by edible vaccines will have a very high potency against pathogens (Arntzen and Mason, 1995). Production of recombinant vaccines against veterinary diseases such as Norwalk virus and foot and mouth disease has been reported by several researchers (Mason et

valuable heterologous proteins can well be a substitute for fermented systems. Several vaccines have been produced on a transient or stable basis in plants and proved to conserve the necessary conformation for evoking the immune response in human or animals.

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*} abagheri@um.ac.ir

al., 1996; Lai et al., 2012). In each case, epitopes evoking the immune system have been used in bacteria, yeast or plant-based expression platforms (Mason et al., 1996; Lai et al., 2012), among which the plant-based systems possess a number of advantages as follows: 1- the potential to elicit humoral, cell-mediated, and mucosal immune systems; 2- plant cell walls preserve the antigen from digestion, and it will be released gradually into lymph and later into blood; 3- packaging of viral antigen in plants is exactly similar to that observed in diseased individuals, assembling into subviral particles (Sala et al., 2003); 4- the costs of vaccine production in transgenic plants are considerably lower than conventional methods, with the costs being limited to those of typical plant cultivation and harvest; 5- plant parts or extracts can be kept at room temperature without any special equipments; 6- plants are not hosts of animal viruses, therefore eliminating the risk of mammalian virus contamination: 7- vaccines produced in plants can be consumed as a dietary supplement (Kim and Yang, 2010).

There are two methods for incorporating antigens into plant genomes and producing recombinant vaccines (Fieler et al., 1997). The first method includes insertion of the antigen coding gene into nuclear or organellar genome, resulting in a stable transgenic plant. In the second method, the gene is transferred to the plant by means of *Agrobacterium* or a plant virus, and eliminating the need for *in vitro* tissue culture and plant regeneration (Waugh, 2005).

Expression of recombinant vaccines in hairy roots mediated by *A. rhizogenes* has several advantages over stable expression in whole plants. Among these advantages are high growth rates, low duplication times, easy genetic manipulation, high capacity for recombinant protein production, the potential for growth in bioreactors, the possibility of evaluating expression courses and levels, and verification of the constructs without the need for development of stable transgenic plants (Giri and Narasu, 2000; Fischer and Schilberg, 2004).

Hairy root production in tobacco is preferred over other plants due to several factors such as ease of transformation, availability of optimized tissue culture protocols, and relatively high levels of transgene expression (Tripurani et al., 2003; Arntzen and Mason, 1995).

Newcastle virus is a prominent avian pathogen, both epidemiologically and economically. Killed or attenuated virus is currently used for Newcastle vaccination (Zhao and Hammond, 2005), often forming an effective solution. High costs and the risk of improper attenuation however necessitate a new means of vaccination against Newcastle disease (Zhao and Hammond, 2005).

Newcastle disease virus (NDV), a member of the *Rubulavirus* genus in the *Paramyxoviridae* family, is an enveloped virus with a single-stranded, monopartite anti-sense RNA genome of 15 kb length. Its genome encodes 6 principal structural and non-structural proteins including nucleocapsid (NP), phosphoprotein (P), matrix (M), fusion (F), haemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (L) (Berinstein et al., 2005).

F and HN are trans-membrane glycoproteins necessary for infectivity and pathogenicity and both of them can evoke immune response (Berinstein et al., 2005). Amino acid residues 65 to 81 of F and 346 to 353 of HN are known to constitute the most influential immunogenic sites for antibody induction (Zhao and Hammond, 2005).

The objective of this work was to transform and express the F and HN epitopes in tobacco hairy roots. Tobacco is a model organism in transgene expression studies, and successful expression of antigens in its hairy roots could be a step toward recombinant vaccine production in other plants used as avian feed.

Materials and Methods

Design and preparation of the construct

The construct used in this work included 4 tandem repeats of the HN epitope (encoding residues 346-353 of the HN protein) followed by 3 tandem repeats of the F epitope (encoding residues 65-81 of the F protein). The sequences were retrieved from the NCBI database, and optimized according to the codon bias of the host plant in order to guarantee a high level of expression in its hairy roots.

After optimization, the sequence was examined with the Lasergene software (DNASTAR) to ensure the absence of any transcription or translation inhibitor sequences. A histidine tag (18 bp) was then ligated upstream the construct, followed by the omega sequence (67 bp) as the ribosome attachment site. A 18 bp sequence encoding the endoplasmic reticulum retention signal peptide (SEKDEL) was also fused to the 3' terminus. The omega sequence (Berinstein et al., 2005) and signal peptide (Kang et al., 2004) serve an important role in enhancing the expression level of epitopes. Journal of Cell and Molecular Research (2015) 7 (1), 11-18



Figure 1. Expression cassette incorporating the F and HN epitopes together with the other sequences necessary for expression in eukaryotic systems

Finally, two restriction sites, *Bam*HI and *Sac*I, were incorporated at 5' and 3' termini respectively to facilitate the cloning process. These elements increased the size of the cassette to 376 bp. The resulting F-HN cassette (fig. 1) was designed with CLC software package, synthesized by Gene Ray, and cloned into pGH vector.

Preparation of pBI121 vector carrying F and HN epitopes for transformation of the nuclear genome

The F-HN cassette was extracted from pGH plasmid by enzymatic digestion with *Bam*HI and *SacI*. pBI121 binary vector harbouring CaMV 35S promoter and NOS terminator was also digested at the same sites. After elimination of the GUS sequence, the F-HN cassette was inserted between promoter and terminator (fig. 2).



Figure 2. Schematic structure of the recombinant plasmid pBI121- NDV epitope for Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of tobacco hairy root. The DNA sequence encoding NDV epitope was cloned the downstream of the CaMV 35S promoter of a binary plasmid pBI 121

The resulting construct (named pBI121-NDV epitope) was introduced into *A. rhizogenes* by electroporation, and its proper placement downstream the promoter was confirmed by plasmid extraction and digestion with *Bam*HI and *SacI*, which gave a 376 bp band on the electrophoresis gel (fig. 3).



Figure 3. pBI121-NDV epitope extracted from *A. rhizogenes*, digested with *Bam*HI and *Sac*I: digested plasmid (left) and size marker (right)

Generation of transformed hairy roots

A. *rhizogenes* strain Ar15834 carrying the construct (pBI121-NDV epitope) was cultured in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium for 18 hours, to an optical density (OD) at 600 nm of approximately 0.6%. Suspensions were centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 20 minutes at 4°C. The pellets were suspended in MS medium (pH 5.2) with 0.05 mMacetosyringone (3', 5'-dimethoxy-4'-hydr -

oxyacetophenone) and injected into tobacco leaves with insulin syringe.

Transformed tobacco leaves were cultured on MS medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) with no plant growth regulators (co-culture medium), and subcultured on MS medium containing 50 mg/l kanamycin and 30 mg/l meropenem (selection medium) upon the emergence of bacterial colonies around them. Hairy roots were generated in ample quantities within 35 days (fig. 4), and subcultured in liquid, hormone-free MS medium.



Figure 4. Generation of transformed hairy roots on MS medium containing 50 mg/l kanamycin and 30 mg/l meropenem

Molecular verification of hairy roots

Molecular verification of hairy roots was achieved by PCR amplification of a 194 bp fragment of the rolB gene. Genomic DNA was extracted from hairy roots following Dellaporta et al. (1983), and PCR reaction was performed with the following primers:

Forward:

5'AAGTGCTGAAGGAACAATC 3'

Reverse:

5' CAAGTGAATGAACAAGGAAC 3'

PCR cycles comprised denaturation at 94°C for 1 minute, annealing at 51.5°C for 30 seconds, and extension at 72°C for 20 seconds.

Examination of transformed hairy roots for the presence of F and HN epitopes

Transformation of hairy roots was confirmed by PCR. Genomic DNA was extracted following Dellaporta et al. (1983). A 741 bp fragment was amplified with the following specific primers:

Forward:

5' ATGAACAAGATTATCAAATTAGAC 3' Reverse:

5' CCGTAAAGCACTAAATCG 3'

The 35 PCR cycles comprised denaturation at 94°C for 1 minute, annealing at 46°C for 1 minute and extension at 72°C for 1 minute. Genomic DNA from untransformed hairy roots was used as the negative control.

Expression analysis at transcription level with real-time PCR

Quantitative Real-Time PCR experiments were performed in duplicate for each sample to quantify the expression level of the transgene. Total RNA was extracted from the transformed hairy roots. cDNA was constructed by reverse transcription using oligo-dT primers and used as the real-time PCR template. Real-time PCR reaction volumes of 20 μ l included 0.5 μ l of each primer and 10 μ l SYBR Green Real time PCR master mix., and the following specific primers:

Forward:

5' GACTTCTTCCAAATATGCCAAAG 3' Reverse:

5' TGGAGCCTTAGCACAAGC 3'

Expression analysis at translation level with dotblotting

Production of the recombinant protein in tobacco hairy roots was verified by dot-blotting. A protein sample of 3 μ l volume was spotted onto the membrane and allowed to dry at 37°C. The membrane was incubated for 1 hour with blocking solution (BSA) which prevents non-specific reactions, then incubated for 1 hour with anti-His tag, rinsed 3 times with PBST/PBS, incubated for 1 hour with the secondary antibody (at 37°C), rinsed 3 times with PBST/PBS, and finally incubated with OPD substrate. A 3 μ l sample of commercial NDV vaccine and the same volume of the protein from untransformed plants were used as positive and negative controls, respectively.

Quantification of protein expression with ELISA assay

Expression of the heterologous protein was evaluated by ELISA assay. ELISA plate was coated with total soluble proteins from transformed and untransformed hairy roots and the NDV antigen at 37° C for one hour and then incubated with 1% BSA in PBS at 37° C for 2 hours in order to prevent nonspecific binding. The wells were washed by PBST/PBS, incubated with anti-His tag (1:1000 dilutions) and then with alkaline phosphatase conjugated with anti rabbit IgG (1:1500 dilution), and finally developed with TMB substrate. Colour reaction was stopped by adding 2N H₂SO₄ and read at a wavelength of 405 nm.

Results

In this research transformed hairy roots were obtained by co-culture of tobacco leaf disks with *A. rhizogenes* carrying the binary vector pBI121-NDV epitope. PCR amplification of a 194 bp fragment of the rolB gene confirmed that the generated hairy roots are a result of A. rhizogenes infection (fig. 5).



Figure 5. Molecular verification of hairy roots by amplification of a 194 bp fragment of the rolB gene. Lane 1 is 100bp size marker; lanes 2-8 are the amplified 194 bp rolB fragment

A second PCR confirmed the presence of the construct carrying F and HN epitopes in the transformed hairy roots (fig. 6). As shown in fig. 6, the 741 bp band is only observed in transformed hairy roots.



Figure 6. Verification of the presence of the construct harbouring F and HN epitopes in hairy roots by PCR amplification of a 741 bp fragment of the construct: 100bp size marker (1), untransformed hairy root as negative control (2), plasmid pBI121-NDV as positive control (3) and transformed hairy root (4-7)

Expression of the construct harbouring F and HN epitopes was quantified at transcription level with real-time PCR. The results indicated that the

transgene is expressed in transformed hairy roots (chart 1).



Chart 1. Expression analysis of the construct carrying F and HN epitopes at transcription level in transformed hairy roots by means of real-time PCR (1,2 and 3 are transformed hairy root samples)

Recombinant protein production was verified by dot-blot assay, confirming that the recombinant protein is produced in transformed, but not in untransformed hairy roots (fig. 7).



Figure 7. Verification of recombinant protein production in transformed hairy roots with dot-blotting: positive control (1); protein from transformed hairy roots (2); wild-type protein as negative control (3)

Recombinant protein production was also quantified by ELISA, with the results indicating production of very high levels of recombinant protein in transformed hairy roots, whereas untransformed roots were lacking a cogent evidence of recombinant protein production (chart 2).



Chart 2. ELISA results showing production of F and HN epitopes in hairy roots. From left to right: commercial vaccine as positive control; transformed hairy root; untransformed hairy root as negative control; BSA as blank sample

Discussion

Green plants represent appropriate systems for expression of recombinant vaccines and other pharmaceutical proteins; but several factors such as the considerably long time required for development of transformed lines, relatively high costs, and low expression levels remain major obstacles to commercialize recombinant vaccine production using *A. tumefaciens*-mediated plant genetic engineering (Bendahmane et al., 2000).

expression of antigens in hairy roots or in whole plants using plant viral vectors has been proposed as a solution to these pitfalls. Although expression in hairy roots is not a suitable method for commercial production of recombinant vaccine in plants, the antigens produced in this procedure can be used for production of specific antibodies required in molecular diagnosis. Moreover, this method makes it possible to evaluate efficacy of a potential recombinant vaccine in a short time.

Expression in hairy roots involves introduction of the antigen coding sequence into the plant tissue by means of *A. rhizogenes*, and induction of transformed hairy root production.

In the present work, F and HN epitopes of Newcastle disease virus were expressed in tobacco hairy roots with the help of *A. rhizogenes*. As confirmed by Real Time PCR assay, expression level of the transgene was fairly high which is in agreement with the results obtained other investigators who had reported that foreign gene expression in transient gene expression assays is much higher than that of stable transformation (Leckie and Stewart, 2011; Wroblewski et al., 2005).

As indicated by dot-blot assay, the protein sample from transformed hairy roots produced an intense signal comparable to that from commercial Newcastle vaccines whereas protein of wild type plant was not detectable.

ELISA assay, which quantitates protein levels, also showed that the recombinant protein is produced at very high levels in transformed hairy roots. The faint absorbance observed for untransformed hairy root sample is probably resulting from the nonspecific binding of proteins with the anti-histidine tag.

Plant viruses are also used as vectors for transient antigen expression in plants, where the desired epitope is inserted inside the gene encoding viral coat protein (Sala et al, 2003). Despite being a highly efficient method for recombinant protein production, preparation of viral vectors is a very time consuming and labour intensive task. Another drawback of viral vectors is that insertion of genes larger than a threshold size will diminish the efficiency of the vector (Sala et al., 2003).

On the other hand, the problems associated with recombinant protein production in stably transformed plants such as post-transformation gene silencing, undesirable alterations due to bond formation with complex carbohydrates, the considerable time required for development of a stable transgenic line with appropriate protein production capacity, and most importantly the environmental issues and the possibility of transgene escape (Jianxiang et al., 2007; Julian et al., 2003) have stimulated the application of alternative means such as transformed hairy roots for production of recombinant proteins or other products (Giding et al., 2000).

In the present work, different elements including the CaMV35s promoter, omega and SEKDEL sequences, and codon optimization were used in order to enhance the expression of F and HN epitopes, building on the published literature (Streatfield et al., 2001; Kang et al., 2004; Sala et al., 2003; Streatfield, 2005) reporting them to be important factors which increase expression levels of epitopes in the process of recombinant vaccine production.

It should be noted that the observed increase in expression levels can not be conclusively attributed to the mentioned elements, as the authors did not examine their influence; and this could be the subject of further studies.

Conclusion

Developments in genetic engineering have led to plant-based systems for recombinant vaccine production; but these systems are accompanied by a number of drawbacks which might be overcome with transient expression systems such as hairy roots. Here we report the application of tobacco hairy roots for expression of the F and HN epitopes of Newcastle disease virus. The results showed that hairy roots represent an efficient tool for expression of these viral antigens.

References

 Arntzen J. C. and Mason H. S. (1995) Oral vaccine production in the edible tissues of transgenic plants. *In:* "New Generation Vaccines" (M. M. Levine, G. C. Woodrow, J. B. Kaper, and G. S. Coban, Eds.), 2nd ed., pp. 263-277. Dekker, New York.

- 2. Bendahmane A., Querci M., Kanyuka K. and Baulcombe D. C. (2000) *Agrobacterium* transient expression system as a tool for the isolation of disease resistance genes: application to the *Rx2* locus in potato. The Plant Journal 21: 73– 81.
- Berinstein A., Vazquez-Rovere C., Asurmendi S., Grand D., Taboga O., Calamante G. and Elisa Carrillo. (2005) Mucosal and systemic immunization elicited by Newcastle disease virus (NDV) transgenic plants as antigens. Vaccine 25: 583–5589.
- Dellaporta S. L., Wood J. and J. B. Hicks. (1983) A plant DNA minipreparation: Revision II. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter 1: 19-21.
- Fieler U., Artsaenko O. and U. Conrad. (1997) Optimization Of Scfv antibody production in transgenic plant. Immunology 3: 205-216.
- 6. Fischer R. and Schilberg S. (2004) Molecular Farming plant made pharmaceuticals and technical proteins. Willey-VchI Verlag GmbH and Co.KGaA.
- Giding G., Allison G., Brooks D. and A. Carter. (2000) Transgenic Plants as Factories for Biopharmaceuticals. Nature Biotechnology 18: 1151-1155.
- 8. Giri A. and Narasu L. (2000) Transgenic hairy root: recent trend and application. Biotechnology 18: 1-22.
- Jianxiang Wu., Lian Yu., Long Li., Jinqiang Hu., Jiyong Zhou. and Xueping Zhou. (2007) Oral immunization with transgenic rice seddsexpressing VP2 protein of infectious bursal disease virus induce protective immune response in chickens. Plant Biotechnology Journal 5: 570-578.
- Julian K. C. M., Pascal M. W. Drake. and P. Christou. (2003) The production of recombinant biopharmaceuticals in plant. Nature Reviews Genetics 4: 790-796.
- Kang T. J., Han S. C., Jang M. O., Kang K. H., Jang Y.S. and Yang M. S. (2004) Enhanced Expression of B-Subunit of Escherichia coli Heat-Labile Enterotoxin in Tobacco by Optimization of Coding Sequence. Applied Biochemistry Biotechnology 117: 175-187.
- 12. Kim T. G. and M. S. Yang. (2010) Current Trends in Edible Vaccine Development using Transgenic Plants. Biotechnology

and Bioprocess Engineering 15: 61-65.

- Lai K., Yussof K. and M. Mahmood. (2012) Heterologous expression of Hhemagglutinin-neuraminidase protein from Newcastle disease virus strain in *centella asiatica*. Acta Biologica Cracoviensia Series Botanica 54: 142-147.
- Leckie B. M. and C. N. (2011) Agroinfiltration as a technique for rapid assays for evaluating candidate insect resistance transgenes in plants. Plant Cell Reports 30: 325–334.
- Makela P. H. (2000) Vaccines, coming of age after 200 years. FEMS Microbiology Review 24: 9-20.
- 16. Mason H. S., Ball J. M., Shi J., Jiang X., Estes M. and Arntzen C. J. (1996) Expression of Norwalk virus capsid protein in transgenic tobacco and potato and its oral immunogenicity in mice. Immunology 93:5335-5340.
- 17. Murashige T, and Skoog F. (1962) A revised medium for Rpid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue culture. Physiologia Plantarum 15: 473-97.
- Sala F., Rigano M., Barbante A., Basso B., Walmsley A. M. and S. Castiglione. (2003) Vaccine antigen production in transgenic plants: strategies, gene constructs and perspectives. Vaccine 21 : 803–808.
- 19. Streatfield S. J. (2005) Plant-based vaccines for animal healthRevue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics 24 (1): 189-199.
- 20. Streatfield S. J., Jilka J. M., Hood E. E., Turner D. D., Bailey M. R., Mayor J. M. and et al. (2001) Plant-based vaccines: unique advantages. Vaccine 19: 2742-2748.
- Tripurani S. K., Reddy N. S. and K. R. S. Sambasiva Rao. (2003) Green revolution vaccines, edible vaccines. African Journal of Biotechnology 2 (12): 679-683.
- Waugh, D. S. (2005) Making the most of affinity tags. Trends in Biotechnology 23: 316-320
- Wroblewski T., Tomczak A. and R. Michelmore. (2005) Optimization of *Agrobacterium* mediated transient assays of gene expression in lettuce, tomato and Arabidopsis. Plant Biotechnology Journal 3: 259–273.
- 24. Zhao Y. and Rosemarie W. Hammond . (2005) Development of a candidate

vaccine for Newcastle disease virus by epitope display in the Cucumber mosaic virus capsid protein. Biotechnology Letters 27: 375–382.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Association of miR-132 and miR-185 Genes Methylation and their Expression Profile with Risk of Congenital Factor XIII Deficiency

Majid Naderi¹, Dor Mohammad Kordi-Tamandani^{2*}, Zohreh Rezaei², Akbar Dorgalaleh Mail³

Genetic Researcher Center in Non-Communicable Disease, Zahedan University of Medical sciences, Zahedan. Iran
 Department of Biology, University of Sistan and Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran
 Department of Hematology, Allied Medical School, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Received 1 September 2014

Accepted 30 September 2014

Abstract

Congenital factor XIII deficiency is a very rare bleeding disorder, but because of the high rate of consanguineous marriages, it is common in Sistan and Baluchestan Province of Iran. The discovery of promoter hypermethylation of numerous miRNAs in human diseases has demonstrated an epigenetic mechanism for aberrant miRNA expression. The present study has analyzed methylation and expression status of miR-185 and miR-132 genes in patients with inherited factor XIII deficiency in a sample of South-Eastern Iranian population. Promoter methylation of miR-185 and miR-132 was investigated by Methylation Specific Polymerase Chain Reaction (MS PCR) in blood samples of 75 factor XIII deficient individuals and 74 healthy controls. Expression level of these genes was also assessed in 15 blood samples of patients and 15 healthy controls using real-time quantitative reverse transcription PCR. Analysis of miR-132 and miR-185 promoter hypermethylation did not show any significant difference between cases and controls. Relative gene expression analysis in cases (n=15) with congenital factor XIII deficiency and healthy controls (n=15) revealed no statistically significant relationship for miR-132 (p = 0.126) and miR-185 (p = 0.165) genes. Our findings indicated that promoter methylation as well as gene expression of miR-132 and miR-132 and miR-132 indicated that promoter methylation as well as gene expression of miR-132 and miR-135 had no significant effect on etiology of factor XIII deficiency.

Keywords: XIII Deficiency, MicroRNAs, MiR-185, MiR-132, DNA Methylation

Introduction

Congenital factor XIII (FXIII) deficiency, which was first recognized by Duckert in 1960, is a rare bleeding disorder inherited as an autosomal recessive manner with an incidence of one per 2 million people in the general population. It is characterized by hemorrhagic diathesis frequently connected with spontaneous miscarriage and defective wound healing (Board et al., 1993; Muszbek et al., 2011; Ivaskevicius et al., 2007).

FXIII is expressed during compartmentalization of precursors of monocyte/macrophage and megakaryocyte/platelet cell lines in the bone marrow (Adany and Bardos, 2003). Plasma FXIII is a protransglutaminase, activated by thrombin and converted to transglutaminase in presence of calcium ions. It is a tetrameric molecule composed of 2 A-subunits and 2 B-subunits, which are noncovalently kept together in a heterologous tetramer. Subunit A with catalytic function is synthesized by hepatocytes, monocytes and

megakaryocytes. Subunit B, which has no enzymatic activity and may serves as a plasma carrier molecule, is synthesized in the liver (Hsieh and Nugent, 2008; Ashcroft et al., 2000). In the cellular form and in tissues, the protein is only a homodimer of A subunits (A2). FXIII was first noted for its involvement in the coagulation cascade, where it covalently cross-links fibrin monomers and converts soft fibrin clots into stable hard clots. Factor XIIIa is able to cross-link a2antiplasmin as well as extracellular matrix proteins such as vitronectin, fibronectin and collagen to fibrin, rendering the clot more resistant to lysis and anchoring the clot to the blood vessel wall, respectively (Takagi and Doolittle. 1974). MicroRNAs (MiRNAs) are considered as a regulator of platelet function. MiRNAs are small non-coding RNA molecules (22-25 nucleotides) regulating a range of biological processes by inducing RNA degradation and translation inhibition of targeted mRNAs by binding to complementary sites in the 3'-UTR of target transcripts via Watson-Crick base-pairing (Esquela-Kerscher and Slack, 2006). These molecules play pivotal roles in diverse gene regulatory pathways including timing control of developmental

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*} dor_kordi@yahoo.com

hematopoietic cell differentiation, processes, apoptosis, cell proliferation and organ development (Morita and Han, 2006; Robert et al., 2007; Amelia et al., 2005; Zhao, 2007). MiRNA deregulation can take place at both transcription and processing levels, and aberrant DNA methylation patterns have been implicated in altered expression of 30 or more miRNA genes in different diseases (Erik et al., 2011). Recently, they have also discovered that DNA methylation has emerged as an important mechanism in the regulation of MiRNA expression. Relatively little information is available on epigenetic regulation of miRNAs genes in coagulation disorders (Kunej et al., 2011). Recently, a role for miRNAs has been proposed in the regulation of innate immune responses in monocytes and macrophages. activation of the innate immune response has been associated with changes in the expression of some miRNAs including miR-132 (Taganov et al., 2006). Plateletderived miRNAs could act as paracrine regulators of endothelial cell gene expression. activated platelets shed miRNAs including miR-185 that can regulate endothelial cell gene expression and a recent study demonstrated that platelet miRNA content of ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients is distinctly different to that of healthy individuals (Gidlöf et al., 2013).

In this study, we assessed methylation and expression profiles of miR-185 gene on chromosome 22 (22q11.21) and miR-132 gene on chromosome 17 (17p13.3) predicted to bind the 3' UTR of A-subunit (FXIII-A) protein in normal controls and patients with severe congenital factor XIII deficiency.

Materials and Methods

Diagnosis of and characteristics study population

In hemophilia center of Zahedan city all suspected to factor XIII deficiency were referred to coagulation laboratory of Iranian Blood Transfusion Organization (IBTO). In coagulation laboratory patients were assessed by clot solubility test in 5M urea or 1% monochloroacetic acid environments. Since three separated molecular studies on more than three hundred of patients in this center revealed that all of them were homozygote of FXIII-A Trp187Trp polymorphism, these patients were not again analyzed molecularly for this polymorphism (Naderi et al., 2014; Naderi et al., 2013). 75 patients as well as 74 age and sex matched healthy individuals were selected for assessment the promoter methylation status miR-

132 and miR-185 genes. Out of these two groups, two 15 persons groups were selected for the evaluation of miR-132 and miR-185 genes expression.

Bioinformatics

For the assessment the effect of miRNAs on factor XIII-A subunit we used algorithms of miRNA (http://www.microrna. org). According to these algorithms, we predicted that the FXIII-A gene might be a direct target of miR-132 and miR-185. Therefore the effects of these two miRNAs on factor XIII were assessed in this study.

Sample and DNA preparation

75 blood samples of patient with FXIII deficiency were collected from hemophilia center of Zahedan city, and 74 randomly control blood samples were obtained between November 2012 and May 2013 and all of them were age and sex matched. Informed consent was obtained from all the cases and controls and the study was approved by ethical committee of Sistan and Baluchestan University. Total DNA was extracted from frozen by using salting out method as EDTA blood described previously (Hashemi et al., 2014). Concentration of DNA samples was determined by spectrophotometer, and their integrity was assessed by gel electrophoresis. To modify DNA, 2 µg of extracted genomic DNA was incubated with 0.3 M NaOH for 20 min at 37°C and diluted with 550 µl of a 3.5 M sodium bisulfite (pH 5.0)and1 mM hydroquinone solution (both Sigma Aldrich), and then incubated at 55°C for 16 hr. The modified DNAs were then purified using a Wizard DNA Clean up System (Promega, Madison, WI). Purified DNAs were incubated with 0.3 M NaOH for 10 min at 37°C. DNA was precipitated with ethanol, and the treated DNA was diluted in 20 ml water, and was kept in -20 °C for use in later experiments.

Methylation Specific PCR (MSP)

Each PCR sample contained 1 μ L bisulfitemodified DNA in a final volume of 25 ml including 16 μ L RNase free double distilled water,0.5 μ L Hot Star *Taq*® (Parstus: 2.5 U/ml), 1 μ L dNTP mix (10 mmol/L), 2.5 μ L 10× buffer, 1 μ L each of primers (10 mmol/L), and 2 μ L MgCl₂ (25 mmol/L). MSP amplification was set as follows: 94 °C for 10 min, followed by 39 cycles (94 °C for 30 s, the annealing temperature for miR-185: M=48/2, U=51; miR-132: M=51.8, U= 48.8 for 30 s and extension at 69 °C for 30 s). Final incubation was completed at 72 °C for 10 min. MSP products were separated by electrophoresis on 2% agarose gel and visualized after ethidium bromide staining. The sequences of primers used for the methylation study are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Primer sequences

miR-185 M	F:
	5_TTTTTTTGTAGAGTTGGTTAATTCG_3
	R:
	5_ATCACCATATCTTAATCTAAACGCA_3
miR-185 U	F:
	5_TTTTTTTGTAGAGTTGGTTAATTTGG_3
	R:
	5_ATCACCATATCTTAATCTAAACACA_3
miR-132 M	F:
	5_TTTTTTGGGATATTTTTGACGTTAC_3
	R:
	5_CCGACTAAAAACTCTACTACTCCG_3
miR-132 U	F:
	5_TTTTTGGGATATTTTTGATGTTATG_3
	R:
	5 CCAACTAAAAACTCTACTACTCCAC 3

M; methylated, U; unmethylated, F: Forward, R: Reverse

Gene expression analysis

Total RNA was extracted from fresh blood samples using bioZOL TM-B Blood RNA Isolation Kit (USA, bioWORLD.Cat No: 10760125-1) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

MiRNA 1st-Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Agilent technologies, Cat. no. 600036) was used for elongating miRNAs in a polyadenylation reaction to reverse transcribe the polyadenylated RNA into QPCR-ready cDNA. 5SrRNA was used as an internal standard. ABI 5700 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems) was used to estimate the quantity of cDNA using real-time quantitative PCR. The sequences of primers used for the expression study are listed in Table 2.

Table2. Real-time primer sequences

I doleat iteat	unie prinier sequences
5Sr RNA	F: 5_CCAACGTCCATACCATGTTGA_3
(Real Time-	R: 5_GCGGTCACCCATCCAAGTA_3
PCR)	
miR-185	F:5_GCGGCGGAGGGGGGGGGGGGATTG_3
(Real Time-	R:5_ATCCAGTGCAGGGTCCGAGG_3
PCR)	
miR-132	F: 5_GCGGCGGCCGCCCCCGCGTCTC_3
(Real Time-	R: 5_ATCCAGTGCAGGGTCCGAGG_3
PCR)	

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS software. The chi-square test was used for categorical variables, and the impact of methylation of miR-185 and miR-132 genes on the risk of congenital factor XIII deficiency was detected by estimating odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) using the binary logistic regression test. Analysis of relative gene expression $(2^{-\Delta\Delta CT})$ between patients and controls was done by independent t-test. The

significance level was set at $p \le 0.05$ for all the tests.

Results

Characteristics of study population

All study population had an abnormal clot solubility test and molecular analysis of two separated studies on 190 and 70 patients revealed that all of them were homozygous of factor XIII Trp187Arg polymorphism. These 260 patients were comprised more than two third of patients with factor XIII deficiency in this center. The mean age of patients was $14/65\pm11/35$ years while in control group was $15/19\pm10/45$ years (*p* value: 0.76) (Table 3).

Table3. Demographic characteristics of 74 patients with factor XIII deficiency as well as 75 healthy individuals

Charact	eristic	Controls	Cases	<i>p</i> -value
		N = 74	N = 75	
		(%)	(%)	
Mean	age	$15/19 \pm$	14/65	0/76
		10/45	±	
			11/35	
	-			
Sex	male	36 ±	34	0/57
		0/50	±	
			0/50	
	female	38	41	
		±	±	
		0/06	0/06	
Family	Yes	-	47	-
history			(62/67)	
	No	-	28	
			(37/33)	
Intracranial	Yes	-	17	-
bleeding			(22/67)	
	No		58	
			(77/33)	
	Umbilical	-	31	-
	cord		(41/33)	
The first	bleeding			
symptoms	Another	-	44	
	symptoms		(58/67)	
Age at	0-5	-	50	-
diagnosis			(66/67)	
	5-10	-	10	
			(13/33)	
	10≤	-	15	
			(20/0)	

Promoter methylation of miR-132 and miR-185 genes

As shown in Table 4, promoter methylation frequency of miR-132 and miR-185 genes showed no significant difference between cases with congenital factor XIII deficiency and healthy controls. The analysis of OR detected no significantly increased risk of disease for homomethylated.

Characte	eristic	Controls (N = 74)	MiR-185 methylation		N me	MiR-132 methylation			I m	MiR-185 methylation			MiR-132 methylation		
			М	U	MU	М	U	MU	Tresent	М	U	MU	М	U	MU
Sex	male	36 ± 0/502	-	3 (8.3)	33 (91.6)	3 (8.33)	3 (8.33)	30 (83.3 3)	34 ± 0/503	-	1 (2.9)	33 (97.0 5)	1 (2.94)	0	33 (97.0 5)
	fema le	38 ± 0/058	2 (5.2)	5 (13.1 5)	31 (81.5 78)	1 (2.63)	-	37 (97.3 6)	41 ± 0/058	3 (7.31)	-	38 (92.6 8)	0	0	41 (100)
Family History	Yes	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	47	3 (6.38)	-	44 (93.6 1)	0	0	47 (100)
	No	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	28	-	1 (3.57)	27 (96.4 2)	1(3.5 7)	0	27 (96.4)
Intracrani al bleeding	Yes	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	17	1 (5.88)	1 (5.88)	15 (88.2 3)	0	0	17 (100)
	No								58	2 (3.45)	-	56 (96.5 5)	1(1.7	0	57 (98.2 7)

Table 4. The socio-demographic characteristics of the case and control groups in miR-185 and miR-133.

 Table 5. Comparison of relative gene expression for Micro132 and Micro185 genes between in patients with congenital factor XIII deficiency and healthy controls.

Genes		Sex		p- Value	Age	p- Value	No.	Mean±SD	p-Value
		Male	Female	, and		, and			
	Cases	5	10	0.052	13.4		15	0.92±0.13	
Micro132	Controls	7	8		13.7	0.25	15	0.99±0.07	0.126
	Cases	5	10	0.052	13.4	0.25	15	0.93±0.1	
Micro185	Controls	7	8		13.7			0.98±0.1	0.165
							15		

Heteromethylated patterns of miR-132and miR-185 in comparison to the unmethylated pattern as reference [OR = 0, 95% confidential 0 - 65, p =0.78.OR = 4.41, 95% confidential 0.42 - 220.4, p =0.33, OR = 0.08, 95% confidential 0.001 - 2.05, p =0.19, OR = 0.74 , 95% confidential 0.06 - 6.68, p =0.9 respectively].

MiR-132 and miR-185 genes expression

Because of limitation for obtaining fresh sample only 15 patients in case group as well as 15 cases in control group during the study time were eligible for sampling and obtaining fresh sample for RNA extraction and subsequently for gene expression. Among case group, five and ten and in control group seven and eight persons were male and female respectively and this difference was not statistically significant (p: 0.052). Expression an analysis revealed no statistically significant difference between cases and healthy controls concerning the relative expression of miR-132 and miR-185 (Table 5).

Discussion

FXIII, a protransglutaminase distributed in blood plasma and platelets, is involved in clot preservation by converting loose fibrin polymers into an organized structure by cross linking the peptide-bound glutamyl and lysine residues of fibrinogen chains through an isopeptide bond. Therefore, it participates in physiologic processes including wound repair and healing (Fadoo et al., 2013). Unlike plasma FXIII, which is in the form of a tetrameric structure (A2B2), the cellular form of FXIII present in platelets, monocytes and tissue macrophages is a homodimer of FXIII-A subunit (Hsieh and Nugent, 2008). FXIII-A is synthesized by megakaryocytes and packaged into budding platelets, and it is present in large amounts in circulating forms. It seems to play an important role in the cytoskeletal remodelling associated with activation stages of platelets. FXIII-A is also found in blood monocytes and in all subsets of monocytederived macrophages in every part of the body. FXIII-A is mainly localized in the cytoplasm in association with cytoskeletal filaments; however, in stage early of macrophage а relatively differentiation, it appears temporarily in the nucleus. Cytoplasmic expression has a very close relationship with phagocytic activities (Adany et al., 2003). mRNA 3'UTRs of FXIII-A has binding sites for multiple individual miRNAs, which acts as posttranscriptional regulators of gene expression. Srikanth Nagalla et al (2011) demonstrated that miRNAs are able to repress expression of platelet proteins (Nagalla, 2011). Emerging evidences now support the idea that DNA methylation is crucially involved in dysregulation of miRNAs in different type of disorders. Shilpa Jain et al (2013) showed that platelets from sickle cell anemia patients exhibit an altered miRNA expression profile (Jain et al., 2013). Michael Girardot et al (2010) found miR-28 overexpressed in platelets of a fraction of myeloproliferative neoplasm patients, while it was expressed at constantly low levels in platelets from healthy subjects (Girardot et al., 2010). Lu Qian Wang (2013) showed that in miR-9 family, miR-9-3 is a relatively frequently methylated tumor suppressor miRNA, and hence silenced in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), while miR-9-1 methylation is rare in CLL (Wang et al., 2013). Pinto R et al (2013) showed different methylation and microRNA expression patterns in male and female familial breast cancer patients (Pinto et al., 2013). Tao Huang et al (2012) detected dysfunctions associated with MiRNA expression in lung cancer (Huang et al., 2012). From a therapeutic standpoint, however, manipulating the expression level of a specific miRNA may have only a limited effect on expression of the desired target gene, but targeting a single 3'UTR by multiple miRNAs can result in a synergistic mode of regulation. Improved understanding of miRNA epigenetics might lead to the development of a new generation of diagnostic markers for congenital factor XIII deficiency (Thomson et al., 2011; Richardson and Patel, 2014) .A limitation related to the samples was that due to timing and problems associated with fresh sample collection, the same samples were not used in methylation and gene expression studies. The present study results suggest that further research is necessary in this field to find an exact epigenetic change during diagnosis and treatment of congenital factor XIII deficiency in the same blood sample, which can be used as a fast and simple marker to monitor the disease process.

Acknowledgment

The authors wish to thank the University of Sistan and Baluchestan and Zahedan University of Medical Sciences for financially supporting this project through grant.

References

- Board P. G., M. S. Losowsky. and K. J. Miloszewski. (1993) Factor XIII: inherited and acquired deficiency. Blood Review. 7(4): p. 229-42.
- Muszbek L., Bagoly Z., Cairo A, and Peyvandi F. (2011) Novel aspects of factor XIII deficiency. Current Opinion Hematology 18(5): p. 366-72.
- Ivaskevicius V., Seitz R., Kohler H. P., Schroeder V., Muszbek L., Ariens R. A., Seifried E. and Oldenburg J. Study Group. (2007) International registry on factor XIII deficiency: a basis formed mostly on European data. Thrombosis and Haemostasis 97(6): p. 914-21.
- Adany R. and H. Bardos. (2003) Factor XIII subunit A as an intracellular transglutaminase. Cellular and Molecular Life Science 60(6): p. 1049-60.
- 5. Hsieh L. and D. Nugent. (2008) Factor XIII deficiency. Haemophilia 14(6): p. 1190-200.
- Ashcroft A. E., P. J. Grant. and R. A. Ariens. (2000) A study of human coagulation factor XIII A-subunit by electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 14(17): p. 1607-11.
- 7. Takagi T. and R. F. Doolittle. (1974) Amino acid sequence studies on factor XIII and the peptide released during its activation by thrombin. Biochemistry 13(4): p. 750-6.
- Esquela-Kerscher A. and F. J. Slack. (2006) Oncomirs - microRNAs with a role in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer 6(4): p. 259-69.
- 9. Morita K. and Han M. (2006) Multiple mechanisms are involved in regulating the

expression of the developmental timing regulator lin-28 in Caenorhabditis elegans. The EMBO Journal 25(24): p. 5794-804.

- 10. Robert W. Georgantas., Hildreth R., Morisot S., Alder J., Liu C. G., Heimfeld S., Calin G. A., Croce C. M. and Civin C. I. CD34+ hematopoietic (2007)stemprogenitor cell microRNA expression and diagram function: circuit а of differentiation control. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U S A. 104(8): p. 2750-5.
- Cimmino A., Calin G. A., Fabbri M., Iorio M. V, Ferracin M., Shimizu M., Wojcik S. E., Aqeilan R. I., Zupo S., Dono M., Rassenti L., Alder H., Volinia S., Liu C. G., Kipps T. J., Negrini M. and Croce C. M. (2005) miR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U S A. 102(39): p. 13944-9.
- Zhao Y. and D. Srivastava. (2007) A developmental view of microRNA function. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 32(4): p. 189-97.
- Wiklund E. D, Gao S., Hulf T., Sibbritt T., Nair S., Costea D. E., Villadsen S. B., Bakholdt V., Bramsen J. B., Sørensen J. A., Krogdahl A., Clark S. J. and Kjems J. (2011) MicroRNA alterations and associated aberrant DNA methylation patterns across multiple sample types in oral squamous cell carcinoma. PLoS One. 6(11): p. e27840.
- 14. Kunej T., Godnic I., Ferdin J., Horvat S., Dovc P. and Calin G. A. (2011) Epigenetic regulation of microRNAs in cancer: an integrated review of literature. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 717: p. 77-84.
- 15. Taganov K. D., Boldin M. P., Chang K. J. and Baltimore D. (2006) NF-kappaBdependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. roceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA. 103: p. 12481-12486.
- Gidlöf O., V. D. B. M., Ohman J., Gilje P., Olde B., Wahlestedt C. and Erlinge D. (2013) Platelets activated during myocardial infarction release functional miRNA, which can be taken up by endothelial cells and regulate ICAM1 expression. Blood 121(19): p. 3908-17.
- 17. Naderi M., Dorgalaleh A., Alizadeh S.,

Kashani Khatib Z., Tabibian S., Kazemi A., Dargahi H. and Bamedi T. (2014) Polymorphism of thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor and risk of intracranial haemorrhage in factor XIII deficiency. Haemophilia 20(1): e89-e92.

- Naderi M., Dorgalaleh A., Alizadeh S., Tabibian S., Bamedi T. and Karimi M. (2013) Molecular analysis of the largest group of patients with factor XIII deficiency in southeast of Iran. Blood 122(21):4780.
- Hashemi M., R. H., Kaykhaei M. A. and Taheri M. (2014) A 45-bp insertion/deletion polymorphism of UCP2 gene is associated with metabolic syndrome. Journal of Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders 13(1): p. 12.
- 20. Fadoo Z., Q Merchant. and K . A. Rehman. (2013) New developments in the management of congenital Factor XIII deficiency. Journal of Blood Medicine 4: p. 65-73.
- 21. Nagalla S. (2011) Platelet microRNAmRNA coexpression profiles correlate with platelet reactivity. Blood 117(19): p. 5189-5197.
- 22. Jain S., Kapetanaki M. G., Raghavachari N., Woodhouse K., Yu G., Barge S., Coronnello C., Benos P. V., Kato G. J., Kaminski N. and Gladwin M. T. (2013) Expression of regulatory platelet microRNAs in patients with sickle cell disease. PLoS One 8(4): p. e60932.
- Girardot M., Pecquet C., Boukour S., Knoops L., Ferrant A., Vainchenker W., Giraudier S. and Constantinescu S. N. (2010) miR-28 is a thrombopoietin receptor targeting microRNA detected in a fraction of myeloproliferative neoplasm patient platelets. Blood. 116(3): p. 437-45.
- 24. Wang L. Q., Kwong, Y. L., Kho C. S., Wong K. F., Wong K. Y., Ferracin M., Calin G. A. and Chim C. S. (2013) Epigenetic inactivation of miR-9 family microRNAs in chronic lymphocytic leukemia implications on constitutive activation of NF kappa B pathway. Molecular Cancer. 12: p. 173.
- Pinto R., Pilato B., Ottini L., Lambo R., Simone G., Paradiso A. and Tommasi S. (2013) Different methylation and microRNA expression pattern in male and female familial breast cancer. Journal of Cellular Physiology 228(6): p. 1264-9.

- 26. Huang T., Jiang M., Kong X. and Cai Y. D. (2012) Dysfunctions associated with methylation, microRNA expression and gene expression in lung cancer. PLoS One. 7(8): p. e43441.
- Thomson D. W., C. P. Bracken. and G. J. Goodall. (2011) Experimental strategies for microRNA target identification. Nucleic Acids Research 39(16): p. 6845-53.
- 28. Richardson B. C. and D. R. Patel. (2014) Epigenetics in 2013: DNA methylation and miRNA-key roles in systemic autoimmunity. Nature Reviews Rheumatology.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

A Long Noncoding RNA, ANCR, Is Upregulated in Bladder and Breast Tumor Tissues

Mahshid Malakootian¹, Youssef Fouani, Parisa Naeli¹, Fatemeh Mirzadeh Azad¹, Seyed Amir-Mohsen Ziaee², Seyed Javad Mowla^{1*}

Department of Genetics, Faculty of biological Sciences, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran
 Urology and Nephrology Research Center, Department of Urology, Shahid Labbafinejad Medical Center, Shahid Beheshti
 University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Received 3 July 2014

Accepted 15 August 2014

Abstract

Long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs) have recently found to have important regulatory roles, and their aberrant expressions and functions are directly linked to carcinogenesis. Both urinary bladder and breast tumors are prevalent neoplasms, with high rates of incidence. To identify a potential expression alteration of the recently discovered "anti-differentiation non-coding RNA, (ANCR), during tumorigenesis, we initially assessed its expression in several cancer cell lines (LNCAP, MCF-7, Ht-29, 5637, A549, HepG2, and PC3) and then compared its expression variability in tumor vs. non-tumor samples of bladder and breast. Here, ANCR expression profile was studied by qRT-PCR in paired tumor and marginal non-tumor samples obtained from patients that had been referred to the Labbafi-Nejad and Imam Khomeini Hospitals, respectively. Our data revealed a significant upregulation (p = 0.003) of ANCR in breast tumor tissues, in comparison to non-tumor marginal specimens from same patients. Similar upregulation was also detected in bladder tumor samples, however, this alteration was not statistically significant ($p \ge 0.05$), probably due to small number of samples (n = 10). In conclusion, our results suggest a possible role of ANCR in tumorigenesis of bladder and breast tissues, as well as its potential usefulness as a novel diagnostic biomarker for bladder and breast tumors.

Keywords: IncRNA, ANCR, Breast Cancer, Bladder Cancer

Introduction

Long non-coding RNAs, > 200 nucleotide- non coding RNAs. are transcribed extensively throughout the genome, and regulate various life processes including development, differentiation, and pluripotency. They regulate these processes mostly by fine tuning gene expression, and cellular mechanisms such as chromatin modification, transcription and posttranscriptional processes (Gabory et al., 2010; Gupta et al., 2010; Mercer et al., 2009; Tripathi et al., 2010). Due to these functions, lncRNAs are emerging as critical players in tumorigenesis and several studies have reported lncRNAs deregulation in a number of cancers (Congrains et al., 2013; Huarte et al., 2010; Huarte and Rinn, 2010; Nakano et al., 2006; Redon et al., 2010). Such studies have demonstrated that this class of the non-coding RNAs contains molecules with both oncogenic and tumor suppressive

functions, suggesting that their aberrant expressions may be a contributor in carcinogenesis. Urinary bladder cancer (UBC) is the 9th most prevalent cancer around the world (Murta-Nascimento et al., 2007), with the rate of incidence in males being much higher than in females. Annually about 261000 new cases are diagnosed with UBC, and roughly 115000 patients die from it, mostly due to a late diagnosis (Christoforidou et al., 2013; Larsson et al., 2008). The difference between the incidence and mortality rates suggests that UBC has a long progression period (Murta-Nascimento et al., 2007). UBC is mostly common in developed countries (Murta-Nascimento et al., 2007), while in Iran the rate of incidence is moderate accounting to <8.8/100000 in males and < 2.8/ 100000 in females (Parkin et al., 2001).

Breast cancer is also the most prevalent cancer among women and ranks the 2^{nd} , after lung cancer. However, due to a relatively good prognostic procedure, it ranks fifth in the list of cancer-caused death (Parkin et al., 2001; Sharif et al., 2010).

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*}simowla@modares.ac.ir

In Iran breast cancer is also the most common cancer among women, comprising about 21.4% of all cancers affecting female population (Noroozi et al., 2011). Moreover, it has been shown that in Iran younger women are at relatively higher risk to preventative and therapeutic strategies to combat breast develop breast cancer than Western women (Harirchi et al., 2000). Therefore, in Iran more advance malignancies needed to be developed.

Anti-differentiation non-coding RNA, (ANCR), is a lncRNA gene located on human chromosome 4 upstream of USP46 gene, and embeds MIR4449 and SNORNA26 within its 1st and 2nd introns. Although these small non-coding RNAs are co-expressed with ANCR, but they are not part of the mature lncRNA transcript. ANCR gene encodes a single 855-nucleotide transcript with diminished expression in different terminally differentiated cell types (keratinocytes, adipocytes and osteoblasts), suggesting that it controls differentiation genes scattered throughout the genome (Kretz et al., 2012; Zhu and Xu, 2013).

In this study, we initially assessed the expression of ANCR in various tumor cell lines, and then examined a potential gene expression alteration of this lncRNA in urinary bladder and breast tumor and non-tumor samples.

Materials and Methods

Cultivation of human cell lines

Cell lines originated from bladder carcinoma (5637), breast adenocarcinoma (MCF-7), hepatocellular carcinoma (HepG2), prostate cancer (PC3), prostatic adenocarcinoma (LNCAP), lung adenocarcinoma (A549), and human colorectal adenocarcinoma (Ht29) were obtained from Pasteur Institute of Iran. They were cultured at 37°C with 5% humidified CO2 in RPMI or high glucose DMEM medium (Invitrogen, UK) supplemented with 10% FBS (Invitrogen, UK), 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 mg/mL streptomycin, and 25 ng/mL amphotericin B.

Clinical Samples

Urinary bladder tissue samples from cancer patients had been underwent surgery in Labafinejad hospitals, were collected whereas breast tissue samples were provided by Iran bank of tumor tissues, in Imam Khomeini hospital. Tissues were immediately snap frozen using nitrogen before extracting their total RNA. In addition, the whole procedure was approved by the ethics committees of Tarbiat Modares University and Labafi-nejad hospital. Patients' written informed consents were also collected prior to sampling. Pathological parameters for tumor grading were evaluated according to the WHO criteria.

RNA Extraction and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was extracted from both bladder and breast tissues as well as from tumor cell lines, using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. To evaluate the purity and integrity of the isolated RNA, RNA samples were separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and their concentration was measured by optical absorbance at 260 nm. Furthermore, 4 μ g of the extracted RNA were treated by RNase-free DNaseI (Takara, Japan) to remove any trace of DNA contamination. Then, 1 μ g of DNase-treated RNA was used for Reverse transcription by employing PrimeScript TM Reagent kit (Takara, Japan).

Quantitative Real-time PCR and regular RT-PCR

The specific primers for regular and quantitative RT-PCR to amplify both ANCR (GenBank accession numbers NR_024031.1) and β 2 microglubolin (β 2M, as an internal control; GenBank accession number NM_004048.2) were designed using Gene runner (version 3.02; Hastings Software), PerlPrimer v1.1.16, and Oligo v 6.54 softwares.

Regular RT-PCR reactions were performed using 10 µl of Taq DNA polymerase master mix RED (Ampliqon, Denmark), 2µl of synthesized cDNA, and 0.5 mM of each primer. PCR cycles were performed using the following conditions: initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 min, followed by 30 and 25 cycles (for ANCR and β2M amplification, respectively) of 94°C for 35 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds, and 72°C for 35 seconds, with a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. The aforementioned primers amplified a 472 bp fragment of ANCR and a 167 bp fragment of β 2M. Then, the PCR products were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide and visualized under UV light. The validity of PCR products was confirmed by direct DNA sequencing (Microgen, South Korea). The sequences of the forward and reverse primers were shown in table 1. 2 µl of cDNA, 10 µl of SYBR-Green ready mix, and 0.1 µl of Rox, and 0.5 µM of each specific primer were used to carry out quantitative PCR (q-PCR). B2M gene was used as an internal control, and the expression of other genes were normalized to its expression level.

Primer	Sequence
name	
β2MF	5-GGGTTTCATCCATCCGACATTG-3
β2MR	5-TGGTTCACACGGCAGGCATAC-3
ANCR-F1	5-GCCACTATGTAGCGGGTTTC-3
ANCR-R1	5-CAGAGTATTCAGGGTAAGGGTC-3
ANCR-R2	5-GTAGTTGTCAACCTGCGCTAAG-3

 Table 1. Primer Sequences

ABI 7500 real-time PCR system (applied Biosystems, Foster city, CA) was used to perform the PCR using the following cycling conditions: initiation at 95°C for 15 minutes, amplification for 40 cycles with: denaturation at 95°C for 15 seconds, annealing at 62.5°C for 30 seconds, and extension at 72°C for 30 seconds. To validate the PCR products, melt curves were analyzed, and amplified products were sequenced.

Statistical Analysis

The relative expression values were calculated by using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, by normalization to the internal control β 2M, and those of non-tumor samples in both breast and bladder tissues, both used as calibrators to calculate the fold change of relative expression. The significance of difference in the gene expression levels was determined by student's t-test using GraphPad Prism 6.0. Furthermore, all qPCR experiments were carried out in duplicates.

Results

Two sets of primers were designed to delineate the expression patterns of ANCR in various cell lines, urinary bladder tumors, and breast tumors (Figure 1). The designed primers serve to amplify a 472 bp (using F1 and R1 primers) and a 171 bp (F1 and R2 primers) fragment of ANCR cDNA by regular RT-PCR or quantitative RT-PCR, respectively. The authenticity of the PCR products was further confirmed by DNA sequencing. Moreover, DNase treatments as well as no-RT reactions, as negative controls, were employed to avoid genomic's DNA amplification.



Figure 1. Genomic organization of ANCR. Two pairs of primers were designed; F1/R1 primers employed in regular RT-PCR and F1/ R2 primers used in qRT-PCR.

ANCR expression was delineated in seven different cell lines (5637, MCF7, HEPG2, PC3, A549, and Ht-29), and all of the examined cell lines were found highly expressing ANCR (Figure 2).



Figure 2. : Expression of ANCR in 7 different cancer cell lines. ANCR expression was detected in LNCAP, MCF-7, Ht-29, 5637, A549, HepG2, and PC3 cell lines. B2M gene was used as an endogenous control, and No-RT control (NC) sample was employed to validate the accuracy of RT-PCR products.

Moreover, the primers for conventional RT-PCR were designed in a way to permits the detection of any possible novel variants of ANCR. However, it failed to recognize and alternative spliced form for ANCR.

Additionally, the expression profile of ANCR was analyzed in 10 pairs of breast tumor and non-tumor samples, as well as 10 pairs of urinary bladder tumor/non-tumor surgical specimens. Initially, ANCR expression was normalized to that of endogenous control, B2M. Moreover, the nontumor samples were used as calibrators to calculate the relative expression of ANCR. Based on our real-time data, ANCR found to have a higher expression level (p = 0.003; Figure 3A) in tumor samples, compared to that of apparently normal tissues obtained from the margin of same patients. Similar observation was made on upregulation of ANCR in bladder tumor samples, compared to their paired non-tumor specimens. However, the latter overexpression was not statistically significant (p =0.3; Figure 3B).



Figure 3: ANCR expression in breast and bladder tumor and non-tumor tissue pairs. A) A significant (p = 0.003) upregulation in the expression of ANCR was detected in breast tumor specimens, in comparison to the non-tumor marginal samples obtained from the same patients. B) Similarly, in bladder samples ANCR was upregulated in tumor samples, but such alteration was not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

Discussion

In recent years, numerous reports have identified several lncRNAs with important regulatory parts in initiation and progression of cancers (He et al., 2014; Huarte and Rinn, 2010; Shahryari et al., 2014; Tian et al., 2014; Xiang et al., 2014). Such non-coding RNAs play crucial roles in almost every aspect of cell biology. from epigenetics modification to posttranscriptional regulation and splicing (Ip and Nakagawa, 2012; Mercer et al., 2009; Soreq et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2014). These processes are linked directly to the genetics of cancer initiation and development. Therefore, aberrant expression of lncRNAs is expected to be a causative event of tumorigenesis in different tissues.

In the light of available statistics, both breast and urinary bladder cancers are associated with high incidence and mortality rates, therefore finding novel diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers, as well as to develop more efficient therapeutic strategies are needed. Accordingly, several researches have recently focused on misregulation of lncRNAs in bladder and breast cancers, and proposed such transcripts as potential diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic biomarkers (Crea et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2014; Shahryari et al., 2014; Zhang and Leung, 2014).

Considering the reports linking perturbations of lncRNAs and cancer, we aimed here to explore a possible link between ANCR expression and tumorigenesis in both breast and urinary bladder tumors. ANCR was reported to be downregulated in terminally differentiated keratinocytes and osteoblasts (Kretz et al., 2012; Zhu and Xu, 2013). These findings raised the possibility that this transcript has a critical function in the transition from progenitor to differentiated state of the cell. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report to delineate the expression of ANCR in breast cancer and UBC.

Similar to HOTAIR, a lncRNA that interacts with Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2) to regulate the chromatin state and found to be overexpressed in breast cancer (Gupta et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2013), our data showed that ANCR was also significantly upregulated in breast tumor tissues in comparison with the non-tumor control samples. On the other hand, in bladder cancers, Urothelial Cancer Associated-1 (UCA1) is highly expressed in embryonic tissues, bladder and other cancers, but not in adult tissues or adjacent nontumor tissues, indicating that UCA1 may be involved in both embryonic development and

tumorigenesis (Wang et al., 2008). Likewise, ANCR showed an overexpression in the urinary bladder tumor samples, but such increase was not statistically significant, probably due to a low number (10 pairs) of samples. These findings may highlight a strong correlation between the aberration in ANCR expression and tumorigenesis. Nevertheless, these data are preliminary and need to be validated by using more tissue samples. samples. Therefore. with employing more subdivided in different grades and stages of malignancies, we could better analyze the suitability of ANCR as a potential diagnostic and prognostic biomarker.

In this study, we also delineated the expression of ANCR in different cell lines originating from various tissues (5637, MCF-7, HepG2, PC3, A549 and Ht-29). The fact that ANCR is highly expressed in these cell lines suggests that it has probably a general causative role in other types of cancers.

In Conclusion, we depicted the expression pattern of ANCR in both urinary bladder and breast tumors. Our data is the first report on distinct expression of ANCR in breast and bladder cancers, demonstrating a possible link between the expression level of ANCR and tumorigenesis. Moreover, with further validation, ANCR can potentially be considered as a novel tumor biomarker with potential diagnostic, prognostic and therapeutic value.

References

- 1. Christoforidou E. P., Riza E., Kales S. N., Hadjistavrou K., Stoltidi M., Kastania A. N. and Linos A. (2013) Bladder cancer and arsenic through drinking water: а systematic review epidemiologic of evidence. Journal of environmental science and health. Part A, Toxic/hazardous substances & environmental engineering 48:1764-1775.
- Congrains A., Kamide K., Ohishi M. and Rakugi H. (2013) ANRIL: Molecular Mechanisms and Implications in Human Health. International journal of molecular sciences 14:1278-1292.
- Crea F., Watahiki A., Quagliata L., Xue H., Pikor L., Parolia A., Wang Y., Lin D., Lam W. L., Farrar W. L., Isogai T., Morant R., Castori-Eppenberger S., Chi K. N., Wang Y. and Helgason C. D. (2014) Identification of a long non-coding RNA as a novel biomarker and potential therapeutic

target for metastatic prostate cancer. Oncotarget 5:764-774.

- 4. Gabory A., Jammes H. and Dandolo L. (2010) The H19 locus: role of an imprinted non-coding RNA in growth and development. **BioEssays** : news and reviews molecular, cellular in and developmental biology 32:473-480.
- Gupta R. A., Shah N., Wang K. C., Kim J., Horlings H. M., Wong D. J., Tsai M. C., Hung T., Argani P., Rinn J. L., Wang Y., Brzoska P., Kong B., Li R., West R. B., van de Vijver M. J., Sukumar S. and Chang H. Y. (2010) Long non-coding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis. Nature 464:1071-1076.
- 6. Harirchi I., Ebrahimi M., Zamani N., Jarvandi S. and Montazeri A. (2000) Breast cancer in Iran: a review of 903 case records. Public health 114:143-145.
- He Y., Meng X. M., Huang C., Wu B. M., Zhang L., Lv X. W. and Li J. (2014) Long noncoding RNAs: Novel insights into hepatocelluar carcinoma. Cancer letters 344: 20-27.
- Huarte M., Guttman M., Feldser D., Garber M., Koziol M. J., Kenzelmann-Broz D., Khalil A. M., Zuk O., Amit I., Rabani M., Attardi L. D., Regev A., Lander E. S., Jacks T. and Rinn J. L. (2010) A large intergenic noncoding RNA induced by p53 mediates global gene repression in the p53 response. Cell 142: 409-419.
- 9. Huarte M. and Rinn J. L. (2010) Large noncoding RNAs: missing links in cancer? Human molecular genetics 19: R152-161.
- Ip J. Y. and Nakagawa S. (2012) Long noncoding RNAs in nuclear bodies. Development, growth and differentiation 54: 44-54.
- Kretz M., Webster D. E., Flockhart R. J., Lee C. S., Zehnder A., Lopez-Pajares V., Qu K., Zheng G. X., Chow J., Kim G. E., Rinn J. L., Chang H. Y., Siprashvili Z. and Khavari P. A. (2012) Suppression of progenitor differentiation requires the long noncoding RNA ANCR. Genes and development 26:338-343.
- Larsson S. C., Andersson S. O., Johansson J. E. and Wolk A. (2008) Diabetes mellitus, body size and bladder cancer risk in a prospective study of Swedish men. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990) 44:2655-2660.

- 13. Lin X., Yang M., Xia T. and Guo J. (2014) Increased expression of long noncoding RNA ABHD11-AS1 in gastric cancer and its clinical significance. Medical oncology (Northwood, London, England) 31:42.
- Mercer T. R., Dinger M. E. and Mattick J. S. (2009) Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. Nature reviews. Genetics 10:155-159.
- Murta-Nascimento C., Schmitz-Drager B. J., Zeegers M. P., Steineck G., Kogevinas M., Real F. X. and Malats N. (2007) Epidemiology of urinary bladder cancer: from tumor development to patient's death. World Journal of Urology 25:285-295.
- 16. Nakano S., Murakami K., Meguro M., Soejima H., Higashimoto K., Urano T., Kugoh H., Mukai T., Ikeguchi M. and Oshimura M. (2006) Expression profile of LIT1/KCNQ10T1 and epigenetic status at the KvDMR1 in colorectal cancers. Cancer Science 97:1147-1154.
- Noroozi A., Jomand T. and Tahmasebi R. (2011) Determinants of breast selfexamination performance among Iranian women: an application of the health belief model. Journal of cancer education : the official journal of the American Association for Cancer Education 26:365-374.
- Parkin D. M., Bray F., Ferlay J. and Pisani P. (2001) Estimating the world cancer burden: Globocan 2000. International Journal of Cancer. Journal International Du Cancer 94:153-156.
- Redon S., Reichenbach P. and Lingner J. (2010) The non-coding RNA Terra is a natural ligand and direct inhibitor of human telomerase. Nucleic Acids Research 38:5797-5806.
- 20. Shahryari A., Rafiee M. R., Fouani Y., Oliae N. A., Samaei N. M., Shafiee M., Semnani S., Vasei M. and Mowla S. J. (2014) Two novel splice variants of SOX2OT, SOX2OT-S1, and SOX2OT-S2 are coupregulated with SOX2 and OCT4 in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) 32:126-134.
- 21. Sharif F., Abshorshori N., Tahmasebi S., Hazrati M., Zare N. and Masoumi S. (2010) The effect of peer-led education on the life quality of mastectomy patients referred to breast cancer-clinics in Shiraz, Iran 2009. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes 8:74.
- 22. Soreq L., Guffanti A., Salomonis N.,

Simchovitz A., Israel Z., Bergman H. and Soreq H. (2014) Long non-coding RNA and alternative splicing modulations in Parkinson's leukocytes identified by RNA sequencing. PLoS Computational Biology 10:e1003517.

- 23. Tian Y., Zhang X., Hao Y., Fang Z. and He Y. (2014) Potential roles of abnormally expressed long noncoding RNA UCA1 and Malat-1 in metastasis of melanoma. Melanoma Research 24:335-341.
- 24. Tripathi V., Ellis J. D., Shen Z., Song D. Y., Pan Q., Watt A. T., Freier S. M., Bennett C. F., Sharma A., Bubulya P. A., Blencowe B. J., Prasanth S. G. and Prasanth K. V. (2010) The nuclear-retained noncoding RNA MALAT1 regulates alternative splicing by modulating SR splicing factor phosphorylation. Molecular Cell 39:925-938.
- 25. Wang F., Li X., Xie X., Zhao L. and Chen W. (2008) UCA1, a non-protein-coding RNA up-regulated in bladder carcinoma and embryo, influencing cell growth and promoting invasion. FEBS letters 582:1919-1927.
- 26. Wu L., Murat P., Matak-Vinkovic D., Murrell A. and Balasubramanian S. (2013) Binding interactions between long noncoding RNA HOTAIR and PRC2 proteins. Biochemistry 52:9519-9527.
- 27. Xiang J. F., Yin Q. F., Chen T., Zhang Y., Zhang X. O., Wu Z., Zhang S., Wang H. B., Ge J., Lu X., Yang L. and Chen L. L. (2014) Human colorectal cancer-specific CCAT1-L lncRNA regulates long-range chromatin interactions at the MYC locus. Cell Research 24:513-531.
- Yang L., Lin C., Liu W., Zhang J., Ohgi K. A., Grinstein J. D., Dorrestein P. C. and Rosenfeld M. G. (2011) ncRNA- and Pc2 methylation-dependent gene relocation between nuclear structures mediates gene activation programs. Cell 147:773-788.
- 29. Zhang X. Q. and Leung G. K. (2014) Long non-coding RNAs in glioma: Functional roles and clinical perspectives. Neurochemistry international.
- Zhou H. L., Luo G., Wise J. A. and Lou H. (2014) Regulation of alternative splicing by local histone modifications: potential roles for RNA-guided mechanisms. Nucleic acids research 42:701-713.
- 31. Zhu L. and Xu P. C. (2013) Downregulated LncRNA-ANCR promotes osteoblast

differentiation by targeting EZH2 and regulating Runx2 expression. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 432: 612-617.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Renin-Angiotensin A1166C Polymorphism and the Rrisk of Stroke

Peyman Zargari¹, Mohammad R. Ghasemi², Maryam Pirhoushiaran², Veda Vakili³, Javad Hami⁴, Mohammad Taghi Farzadfard⁵, Payam Sasan nezhad⁵, Mahmood R. Azarpazhooh⁵, Ariane Sadr-Nabavi^{6,2,7*}

1. Department of Biology, Science and Research branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

2. Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

3. Department of community medicine, School of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

4. Department of Anatomical sciences, School of Medicine, Birjand University of Medical Sciences, Birjand, Iran 5. Department of Neurology, Ghaem medical Center, School of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences,

iter, School of Medicine, Mashhad, Iran

6. Medical Genetic Research Center (MGRC), School of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

. Irai

7. Iranian Academic Centers for Education, Culture and Research (ACECR)

Received 16 August 2014

Accepted 12 September 2014

Abstract

Stroke is the leading cause of death and disability in the world after the cancer and cardiovascular diseases. Genetic factors have main significance to got stroke. Renin-angiotensin system contains candidate genes and polymorphisms for causing stroke. There are reported associations between stroke and angiotensin II type-1 receptor g. 1166A > C polymorphism (rs5186). Therefore in this study this association was investigated for the east Iranian population. This study is based on 201 stroke patients and 220 controls. To predict the genetic risk of stroke allele and genotype frequencies of angiotensin II type-1 receptor rs5186 were analyzed in this population according to stroke subtypes, gender, age, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, high and low density lipoprotein and triglycerides. According to statistical analysis no significant difference was found between case and control groups. But there were a significant relevance between total cholesterol and stroke (p = 0.037). In this population angiotensin II type-1 receptor g. 1166A > C polymorphism did not increase the risk of stroke. The main reason for this study is complex nature of gene-environment interactions in the pathophysiology of this disease.

Keywords: Stroke, Polymerase Chain Reaction-Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (PCR-RFLP), Angiotensin II type-1 Receptor g. 1166A > C Polymorphism.

Introduction

Stroke has recognized as a multifactorial neurological disease, and is one of the most important causes of death and disability throughout the world (Deb Sharma and Hassan, 2010; Meschia et al., 2011). The question is that what is the molecular function of Stroke? And why people affected more and more with this disease. Each year 795000 people were affected a new or recurrent with stroke (Roger et al., 2011). Renin-angiotensin system (RAS) contains candidate genes for causing stroke (Hassan and Markus, 2000). This system is one of the most important physiological pathways that play a role in the maintenance of blood pressure (Harrison-Bernard, 2009). Angiotensin plays an important role in RAS pathway.

Angiotensin I convert to angiotensin II by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE).

At least there are two main receptors for angiotensin II: angiotensin II type I receptor (AGTR1 or AT1R) and angiotensin II type II receptor (AGTR2). Angiotensin II is a primary regulator of aldosterone secretion and acts as a vasoconstrictor by binding to angiotensin II type 1 receptor (Fyhrquist and Saijonmaa, 2008; Kobori et al., 2007). AT1R location is 3q23-25 as well as it contains more than 55 kb length and 5 exons between 59 to 2014 bp size ranges. First four exons encode a 5'untranslated region (Abdollahi et al., 2005; Guo et al., 1994). The activated receptor couples to G-protein and thus effect on intracellular messengers including phospholipase C, Ca^{2+} and protein kinase C (Carey and Siragy, 2003). There are lot polymorphisms in RAS pathway genes' (Gargano et al., 2009; Rupert et al., 2003; Wong et al., 2008). During the last years, there has been

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*}sadrnabavia@mums.ac.ir
considerable debates over the association of angiotensin II type-1 receptor g. 1166A > C polymorphism and risk of stroke, myocardial infarction and hypertension (Brenner et al, 2005; Hahntow et al., 2010; Léon H Henskens et al., 2007; Lapierre et al., 2006; Rubattu et al., 2004; Takami et al., 2000). This polymorphism has been considered as a risk factor for stroke in several populations (Agachan al., 2003; Möllsten, Stegmayr et al., 2008; Szolnoki et al., 2006; Takami et al., 2000). In contrary, other studies have not pose AT1R 1166A > C as a risk factor for stroke (Hindorff et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2001).

Stroke incidence in Iran is considerably great than most western countries (Azarpazhooh et al., 2010). In this regard, in the present study a population based case-control study has been used to prospectively investigate the association of AT1R/1166A > C and stroke in east Iranian population.

Materials and Methods

Study population

In this study 201 randomly subjects were selected at the Ghaem hospital between March 2012 and December 2013 according to the following criteria: clinical symptoms of a stroke based on world health organization definition for stroke and ages between 20 and 70. In the cases group of this case-control study there were 86 males and 115 females. Stroke subtypes in subjects were determined by experienced neurologist according to the TOAST (Trial of ORG 10172 in Acute Stroke Treatment). To determine the type of stroke computed tomography (CT) scan and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was used. In the control group there were 96 males and 124 females (220 controls) without any history and clinical evidence of cerebrovascular disease. In control and stroke patient groups biochemical analysis were measured. Both groups were matched in age, sex. Stroke risk factors containing hypertension, diabetes, ischemic heart disease (IHD), low density lipoprotein (LDL), high density lipoprotein (HDL), triglyceride and cholesterol was analyzed. Patients by fasting blood glucose ≥ 126 mg/dl were diagnosed as diabetes mellitus. People with Hypertension were determined in Systolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140 mmHg.

DNA Extraction

Venus blood was collected in tube containing

ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid (EDTA). DNA was extracted from 200 μ l of blood samples by PrimePrep Genomic DNA isolation kit from blood (catalog No K-2000; Genet Bio) and checked by 1% agarose gel. Blood samples were stored at - 20°C.

Genotyping

The AT1R/1166A > C polymorphism was identified using polymerase chain reactionrestriction fragment length polymorphism (PCRprimer The forward RFLP). was 5'-AAAAGCCAAATCCCAC TCAA and the reverse primer was 5'-CAG GACAAAAGCAGGCTAGG (21). PCR was carried out with an Applied Biosystems 2720 thermal cycler. PCR amplification was performed in 25 µl reaction volume containing, 0.5 µl of DNA (40-80 ng), 0.4 µM of each primer, 0.25 mM of dNTPs, 1.5 mM MgCl₂ and 0.5 U Taq DNA polymerase. The PCR amplification conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 96 °C for 120s, followed by 35 cycles of 30s at 96 °C, 30s annealing at 53 °C, extension for 60s at 72°C and final extension for 10 minutes at 72 °C. PCR products with 432bp length were analyzed on 2% agarose gel. PCR products were digested by DdeI restriction endonuclease at 60 °C overnight. Restriction fragment products were 58 and 374 bp for A allele and 58, 143 and 231 bp for C allele. Products were detected by electrophoresis on 3% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide (Firure 1).



Figure 1. Restriction fragment products. 58 and 374 bp for A allele and 58, 143 and 231 bp for C allele.

Statistical analysis

The normality of numeric variables was assessed using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was tested by χ^2 test. Quantitative data were compared by Student's t-test and qualitative data such as genotypes and alleles were analyzed by the χ^2 and Fisher's exact test. Allele frequencies and genotype distribution between case and control groups were compared by χ^2 test. Each stroke subtype was compared with their matched control subjects. Stroke risk factors were analyzed between both case and control groups. Two tailed pvalue of 0.05 was considered for data analyses.

Results

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population are shown in table 1.

Characteristics	Cases	Controls	p-
			value
Age	51.5 ± 13.8	50.3 ± 12.2	0.169
$(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$			
Sex	86/115	96/124	0.860
(male/Female)			
Diabetes mellitus	57 (28.4)	45 (20.5)	0.055
(n, %)			
LDL	127.0 ± 34.5	121.1 ± 32.1	0.094
HDL	40.8 ± 9.5	42.2±8.6	0.161
Triglyceride	140.2 ± 93.1	142.3 ± 86.6	0.796
Total Cholesterol	185.3 ± 45.9	190.3 ± 42.2	0.283

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of study participants

Stroke subtypes distribution in case group was: Ischemic 111 (55.2%), hemorrhagic 66 (32.8%) and other subtypes 24 (11.9%). Risk factors for stroke such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, total cholesterol, high and low density lipoprotein and triglycerides were analyzed between case and control groups and there were no significant different between them (p > 0.05). The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was assessed in patient and control groups and both allele and genotype distribution was in accordance with it (p > 0.05). Alleles and genotypes frequency between stroke and control groups are presented in table 2, 3 and 4. There was no association between case and control groups in AT1R/1166A > C genotypes or allelic distribution.

Table 2. Alleles and genotypes frequency for male

	Ν	/Iale	<i>p</i> -value
Genotype	Stroke	Control	
and alleles	N= 87	N=96	
AA n (%)	57 (65.5)	67 (69.8)	0.501
AC n (%)	27 (31.0)	25 (26.0)	0.425
CC n (%)	3 (3.4)	4 (4.2)	0.812
An(%)	140 (80.9)	159 (82.8)	0.03
C n (%)	33 (19.1)	33 (17.2)	0.860

Table3. Alleles and genotypes frequency for female

	0.11		
	Fe	male	<i>p</i> -value
Genotype	Stroke	Control	
and alleles	N=1 14	N= 124	
AA n(%)	76 (66.7)	84 (67.7)	0.897
AC n (%)	38 (33.3)	35 (28.2)	0.419
CC n(%)	0 (0.0)	5 (4)	0.03
A n (%)	190 (83.3)	203 (81.9)	0.8
C n (%)	38 (16.7)	45 (18.1)	0.537

 Table 4. Total alleles and genotypes frequency

	Т	otal	<i>p</i> -value
Genotype	Stroke	Control	
and alleles	N= 201	N= 220	
AA n (%)	133 (66.2)	151 (68.6)	0.589
AC n (%)	65 (32.2)	60 (27.3)	0.256
CC n (%)	3 (1.5)	9 (4.1)	0.110
A n (%)	331 (82.3)	362 (82.3)	0.110
C n (%)	71 (17.7)	78 (17.7)	0.589

In addition, the analysis was done in the subtypes of stroke, age, sex and other risk factors but except in one case there were no significant difference among patients and controls.

Discussion

In the present study the genotypic and allelic frequency of AT1R/1166A > C polymorphism in stroke patients and controls were examined. Neither genotype distribution nor the allelic frequency differed significantly between the case and control groups. Further subgroup analysis including stroke subtypes, gender, age, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, high and low density lipoprotein and triglycerides showed any direct association. Reninangiotensin system plays a major role in blood pressure which is one of the most effective factors in stroke development. There are several polymorphisms in this pathway which all of them can be potentially a risk factor for stroke (Jia et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2014). Among them AT1R/1166A > C is a candidate SNP which previously studied in different populations. A nested case-control study on 257 northern Sweden subjects who suffered a first ever stroke and 549 controls demonstrated AA genotype can increase risk of stroke (Möllsten et al., 2008). Henskens et al. have determined AGTR1 A1166C polymorphism is in a significant association with Silent white matter lesions (WMLs), as lesion volume was lowest in the

presence of an AGTR1 C allele and CC genotype (Léon HG Henskens et al., 2005). Rubattu et al. study supports the role of AT1R/1166A > Cpolymorphism in the development of ischemic stroke among Sardinia population. They assessed 215 cases and 236 controls in this population (Rubattu et al., 2004). In contrary, some other study demonstrated no association between this SNP and stroke. Szolonki et al. study on 308 patients and 272 neuroimaging alteration-free subjects showed AT1R/1166A > C polymorphism cannot be considered as a risk factor for stroke (Szolnoki et al., 2006). In a study of 800 African Americans and 1371 whites reported that this SNP is not associated with stroke (Hindorff et al., 2002). In a metaanalysis which has been performed by zhang et al. no significant association was found between A1166C polymorphism and ischemic stroke in Asian population (Zhang et al., 2010). In a nut shell, there are several studies demonstrating significant association between AT1R/1166A > Cpolymorphism and stroke but this study performed that this SNP cannot be considered as an independent risk factor for stroke in this population. It could be because of Iranian particular genetic context. It is worth nothing that, the biological relevance of the angiotensin II type-1 receptor g. 1166C polymorphism is unclear and further welldesigned studies are needed to identify the biological cause of this relationship between angiotensin II type-1 receptor g. 1166C polymorphism and stroke.

Acknowledgment

This research was supported by Mashhad University of Medical Sciences.

References:

- Abdollahi M., Gaunt T., Syddall H., Cooper C., Phillips D., Ye S. and Day I. (2005) Angiotensin II type I receptor gene polymorphism: anthropometric and metabolic syndrome traits. Journal of Medical Genetics 42: 396-401.
- Agachan B., Isbir T., Yilmaz H. and Akoglu E. (2003) Angiotensin converting enzyme I/D, angiotensinogen T174M-M235T and angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C gene polymorphisms in Turkish hypertensive patients. Experimental and Molecular Medicine 35: 545-549.
- Azarpazhooh M. R., Etemadi M. M., Donnan G. A., Mokhber N., Majdi M. R., Ghayour-Mobarhan M., Ghandehary K.,

Farzadfard M. T., Kiani R. and Panahandeh M. (2010) Excessive Incidence of Stroke in Iran Evidence From the Mashhad Stroke Incidence Study (MSIS), a Population-Based Study of Stroke in the Middle East. Stroke 41: e3-e10.

- Brenner D., Labreuche J., Poirier O., Cambien F. and Amarenco P. (2005) Renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system in brain infarction and vascular death. Annals of Neurology 58: 131-138.
- 5. Carey R. M. and Siragy H. M. (2003) Newly recognized components of the reninangiotensin system: potential roles in cardiovascular and renal regulation. Endocrine Reviews 24: 261-271.
- 6. Deb P., Sharma S. and Hassan K. (2010) Pathophysiologic mechanisms of acute ischemic stroke: an overview with emphasis on therapeutic significance beyond thrombolysis. Pathophysiology 17: 197-218.
- Fyhrquist F. and Saijonmaa O. (2008) Renin-angiotensin system revisited. Journal of Internal Medicine 264: 224-236.
- Gargano J. W., Holzman C. B., Senagore P. K., Reuss M. L., Pathak D. R., Friderici K. H., Jernigan K. and Fisher R. (2009) Polymorphisms in thrombophilia and reninangiotensin system pathways, preterm delivery, and evidence of placental hemorrhage. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 201: e311e319.
- Guo D.-F., Furuta H., Mizukoshi M. and Inagami T. (1994) The genomic organization of human angiotensin II type 1 receptor. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 200: 313-319.
- 10. Hahntow I. N., Mairuhu G., van Valkengoed I. G., Koopmans R. P. and Michel M. C. (2010) Are" functionally related polymorphisms" of reninangiotensin-aldosterone system gene polymorphisms associated with hypertension? BMC Cardiovascular Disorders 10: 1-8.
- 11. Harrison-Bernard L. M. (2009) The renal renin-angiotensin system. Advances in Physiology Education 33: 270-274.
- 12. Hassan A. and Markus H. S. (2000) Genetics and ischaemic stroke. Brain 123: 1784-1812.
- 13. Henskens L. H., Kroon A. A., van Boxtel M. P., Hofman P. A. and de Leeuw P. W.

(2005) Associations of the angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C and the endothelial NO synthase G894T gene polymorphisms with silent subcortical white matter lesions in essential hypertension. Stroke 36: 1869-1873.

- Henskens L. H., Kroon A. A., van der Schouw Y. T., Schiffers P. M., Grobbee D. E., de Leeuw P. W. and Bots M. L. (2007) Renin-angiotensin system and nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms in relation to stroke. American Journal of Hypertension 20: 764-770.
- 15. Hindorff L. A., Heckbert S. R., Tracy R., Tang Z., Psaty B. M., Edwards K. L., Siscovick D. S., Kronmal R. A. and Nazar-Stewart V. (2002) Angiotensin II type 1 receptor polymorphisms in the cardiovascular health study: relation to blood pressure, ethnicity, and cardiovascular events. American Journal of Hypertension 15: 1050-1056.
- 16. Jia E.-Z., Chen Z.-H., An F.-H., Li L.-H., Guo C.-Y., Gu Y., Liu Z., Li Z.-Y., Zhu T.-B. and Wang L.-S. (2014) Relationship of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system polymorphisms and phenotypes to mortality in Chinese coronary atherosclerosis patients. Scientific Reports 4.
- 17. Kobori H., Nangaku M., Navar L. G. and Nishiyama A. (2007) The intrarenal reninangiotensin system: from physiology to the pathobiology of hypertension and kidney disease. Pharmacological Reviews 59: 251-287.
- 18. 18- Lapierre A. V., Arce M. E., Lopez J. R. and Ciuffo G. M. (2006) Angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C gene polymorphism and essential hypertension in San Luis. Biocell 30: 447-455.
- Meschia J. F., Worrall B. B. and Rich S. S. (2011) Genetic susceptibility to ischemic stroke. Nature Reviews Neurology 7: 369-378.
- Möllsten A., Stegmayr B. and Wiklund P.-G. (2008) Genetic polymorphisms in the renin–angiotensin system confer increased risk of stroke independently of blood pressure: a nested case–control study. Journal of Hypertension 26: 1367-1372.
- Roger V. L., Go A. S., Lloyd-Jones D. M., Adams R. J., Berry J. D., Brown T. M., Carnethon M. R., Dai S., De Simone G. and Ford E. S. (2011) Heart disease and

stroke statistics—2011 update a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 123: e18-e209.

- 22. Rubattu S., Di Angelantonio E., Stanzione R., Zanda B., Evangelista A., Pirisi A., De Paolis P., Cota L., Brunetti E. and Volpe M. (2004) Gene polymorphisms of the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system and the risk of ischemic stroke: a role of the A1166C/AT1 gene variant. Journal of Hypertension 22: 2129-2134.
- 23. Rupert J., Kidd K., Norman L., Monsalve M., Hochachka P. and Devine D. (2003) Genetic Polymorphisms in the Renin-Angiotensin System in High-Altitude and Low-Altitude Native American Populations. Annals of Human Genetics 67: 17-25.
- 24. Szolnoki Z., Havasi V., Talián G., Bene J., Komlósi K., Somogyvári F., Kondacs A., Szabó M., Fodor L. and Bodor A. (2006a) Angiotensin II type-1 receptor A1166C polymorphism is associated with increased risk of ischemic stroke in hypertensive smokers. Journal of Molecular neuroscience 28: 285-290.
- 25. Szolnoki Z., Maasz A., Magyari L., Horvatovich K., Farago B., Somogyvari F., Kondacs A., Szabo M., Fodor L. and Bodor A. (2006b) Coexistence of angiotensin II type-1 receptor A1166C and angiotensinconverting enzyme D/D polymorphism suggests susceptibility for small-vesselassociated ischemic stroke. Neuromolecular Medicine 8: 353-360.
- 26. Takami S., Imai Y., Katsuya T., Ohkubo T., Tsuji I., Nagai K., Satoh H., Hisamichi S., Higaki J. and Ogihara T. (2000) Gene polymorphism of the renin-angiotensin system associates with risk for lacunar infarction The Ohasama study. American Journal of Hypertension 13: 121-127.
- 27. Tsai C.-T., Chang S.-N., Chang S.-H., Lee J.-K., Lin L.-Y., Wu C.-K., Yu C.-C., Wang Y.-C., Tseng C.-D. and Lai L.-P. (2014) Renin–angiotensin system gene polymorphisms predict the risk of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A 10-year prospective follow-up study. Heart Rhythm 11: 1384-1390.
- 28. Wong C., Kanetsky P. and Raj D. (2008) Genetic polymorphisms of the RAScytokine pathway and chronic kidney disease. Pediatric Nephrology 23: 1037-1051.

- Zhang H., Sun M., Sun T., Zhang C., Meng X., Zhang Y. and Yang J. (2010) Association between angiotensin II type 1 receptor gene polymorphisms and ischemic stroke: a meta-analysis. Cerebrovascular Diseases (Basel, Switzerland) 32: 431-438.
- 30. Zhao Y., Ma L., Liu Y., Wang X., Liu L. and Klaus L. (2001) Relationship between AT R21 gene A1166C polymorphism and ischemic stroke. Chin Journal Geriatr Cardiovasc Cerebrovasc Dis 4: 247-249.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Application of Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) to Detect the Genotoxic Effect of Cadmium on Tow Iranian Ecotypes of cumin (*Cuminum cyminum*)

Soraya Salarizadeh, Hamid Reza Kavousi*

Department of Plant Biotechnology, College of Agriculture, Shahid Bahonar University of Kerman, Kerman, Iran

Received 9 December 2014

Accepted 20 January 2015

Abstract

Cadmium, a metal widely used in industrial processes, has been recognized to be a highly toxic and dangerous environmental pollutant. Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) test is a feasible method to evaluate the toxicity of environmental pollutants on vegetal organisms. Herein, two Iranian ecotypes of *Cuminum cyminum* (cumin) plantlets following exposure to cadmium (Cd) concentrations of 300–1050 μ M for 7 days were screened for DNA genetic alterations by DNA fingerprinting. 10 RAPD primers of 50–70% GC content were found to produce unique polymorphic band profiles on treating cumin seedlings. After Cd treatment, significant changes were observed in RAPD profiles of both ecotypes. These changes included variation in band intensity, disappearance of bands, and appearance of new PCR products in comparison to the control group, and they were dose dependent. These results indicated that genomic template stability (GTS, a qualitative measure reflecting changes in RAPD profiles) was significantly affected at the above Cd concentrations. The GTS index in both ecotypes gradually decreased with an increase in Cd concentrations. These findings suggest that DNA polymorphism detected by RAPD analysis could be a powerful eco-toxicological tool to evaluate the genotoxic effects of cadmium on plants.

Keywords:: Cadmium (Cd), Genomic Template Stability, RAPD, Genotoxicity, Cuminum cyminum

Introduction

Heavy metal toxicity is one of the major current environmental health problems and potentially dangerous due to bioaccumulation through the food chain and in plant products for human consumption. Therefore, heavy metal contaminations of soils and plants have become an increasing problem (Michael et al., 2012).

Cadmium (Cd) is a highly toxic heavy metal that enters the environment mainly from industrial processes and phosphate fertilizers. It can reach high levels in agricultural soil and easily accumulates in plants. Cd ions are taken up readily by the plant roots and translocated to the aboveground vegetative parts (Shamsi et al., 2008).

The presence of Cd at higher concentrations in the soil damages root tips, reduces nutrient and water uptake, impairs photosynthesis and inhibits growth of the plants (Sharma and Dubey, 2006). Furthermore, Cd directly or indirectly induces reactive oxygen species (ROS), which affect the redox status of the cell and cause oxidative damage

to proteins, lipids, and other biomolecules (Schutzendubel et al., 2001; Amirthalingam et al.,

2013). Cd damages the nucleoli in cells of root tip, alters the synthesis of RNA, inhibits ribonuclease activity and inhibits the DNA repair mechanism (Amirthalingam et al., 2013).

The genetic material (DNA, except in the case of some viruses in which it is RNA) carries the determining information necessary for the properties of an organism and is responsible for transmitting information from parent to offspring. cycle, the cell DNA undergoes During conformational and structural changes, but it is of paramount importance that its structural integrity be maintained throughout the life of the cell. Organisms are continuously exposed to environmental stresses that may result in DNA damage. Genotoxicity of metals such as Cd is directly related to its effect on the structure and function of DNA and several studies have used the comet assay, micronucleus assay or chromosome aberration assay to measure the genotoxic effect of metals on plants (Angelis et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2009a,b; Cambier et al., 2010). Advantages of measuring effects of genotoxic chemicals directly

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*} hrkavousi@yahoo.com

on DNA are mainly related to the sensitivity and short response time. Recently, the development of molecular marker technology has provided new tools for detection of genetic alteration in response to heavy metal tolerance by looking directly at the level of DNA sequence and structure. The random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) assay, developed by Williams et al. (1990) and Welsh and McClelland (1990), is a PCR-based technique that amplifies random DNA fragments of genomic DNA with single short primers of the arbitrary sequence under low annealing nucleotide conditions.

This technique is used extensively for species classification, genetic mapping and phylogeny etc. In addition, their use in surveying genomic DNA for evidence of various types of DNA damage and mutation shows that RAPD may potentially form the basis of novel biomarker assays for the detection of DNA damage and mutational events (e.g. rearrangements, point mutation, small insertions or deletions of DNA and ploidy changes) in cells of bacteria, plants, invertebrate and vertebrate animals (Savva, 1996; Savva, 2000; Atienzar et al., 2000).

Fragments generated by RAPD are visualized after agarose gel electrophoresis and ethidium bromide staining. The resulting DNA profiles may differ due to band shifts, missing bands or the appearance of new bands. Detection of genotoxic effect using RAPD involves the comparison of profiles generated from control (unexposed) and treated (exposed) DNA.

The aims of this study was the evaluation of the random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) assay for the detection of DNA damage in two Iranian ecotypes of cumin (*C. cyminum*) seedlings measured in laboratory condition.

Materials and Methods

Plant materials and growth condition

The experimental plant used in this investigation was two Iranian ecotypes of cumin (*C. cyminum*) seeds, namely Isfahan and Khorasan that kindly provided by Dr. Mahammadinejad, Department of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Shahid Bahonar University of Kerman, IRAN. Seeds were surface sterilized by immersion in 70% ethanol for 3 min., followed by stirring in sodium hypochlorite (5% chlorine) for 20 min. The surface sterilized seeds were rinsed 3 times with sterile distilled water for 5 min. The seeds then placed in petri dishes (90-mm diameter) on filter paper (Whatman # 42) under dark condition, so simulate the soil condition at 20°C. Uniform germinated seeds were transferred to petri pots (diameter 9.5 cm and height 14 cm) containing sands at sizes 1-3 mm (40%) and perlite (60%). Petri pots were incubated in a growth chamber at a temperature of $20 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and a 16-hday-8-h-night photoperiod. The plants were fertilized by Hoagland solution once a day. After 21 days, seedlings were treated with 0 (as control), 300, 450, 600, 750 and 1050 µM of Cd under the above mentioned laboratory condition for 7 days.

DNA extraction and RAPD procedures

For both the control and Cd treatments, shoots were collected and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen prior to storage at -70°C. Total DNA was extracted from approximately 100 mg of shoots using a CTAB protocol (Doyle and Doyle, 1987). The quantity and quality of DNA were estimated using scan Drop UV-Visible spectrophotometer (Analytik Jena, Germany) at 260 nm and 280 nm. The integrity of DNA was examined by gel electrophoresis in 1% agarose in 0.5 X TBE buffer. Electrophoresis of DNA was visualized with a UV for 35 min and DNA was visualized with a UV Transilluminator after staining with ethidium bromide

PCR conditions were optimized according to Williams et al. (1990). PCR was performed in a reaction mixture of 25 μ l containing approximately 80 ng of genomic DNA, 20 pmol of decanucleotide primer (Table 1), 200 μ M dNTPs (50 μ M of each), 2 mM MgCl₂, 1 U of *Taq* DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific) and 1X reaction buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.3, 50 mM KCl).

For amplification, the reaction mixtures were denatured at 94°C for 3 min, followed by 35 cycles at 94°C for 30 sec (denaturation), 37°C for 60 sec (annealing) and 72°C for 60 sec (extension), with an additional extension period of 8 min at 72°C. All amplifications were conducted twice in order to evaluate the reproducibility of the polymorphic bands. A negative control, without genomic DNA, was run in parallel with every set of samples to confirm that no contaminating DNA was present in the reactions. Amplification was carried out in a thermocycler (Eppendorf, Germany) with heated lid. Amplification mixtures were stored at 4°C before use.

PCR reaction products were mixed with one-fifth volume of gel loading buffer (SinaClone, Iran), and then separated by electrophoresis on a 1.2% agarose gel, using a Tris-borate-EDTA (TBE) system (0.5 x TBE = 45 mM Tris-base, 45 mM boric acid, and 1 mM EDTA). Agarose gel dimensions were $10 \times 8 \times 0.5$ cm³. Electrophoresis

was carried out at room temperature at 75 V for 1.5 h and after which the gels were stained with EB solution (0.015%) in distilled water. The image of the gel was visualized with a UV Transilluminator and the size of each amplification product was estimated using the Total Lab TL120 software. For comparison, DNA molecular size marker (100 bp DNA Ladder, Thermo Scientific) was used for each agarose gel. In all PCR-gels, the marker bands visualized were, from top to bottom, 3000, 2000, 1500, 1200, 1000, 900, 800, 700, 600, 500, 400, 300, 200 and 100 bp

Table1. Sequences of primers used in this study

Primer	Sequences of primer $(5, 3)$	Primer	Sequences of primer $(5, 2)$
OPE-07	AGATGCAGCC	OPI-14	TGACGGCGGT
OPF-05	CCGAATTCC C	OPJ-19	GGACACCACT
OPJ-01	CCCGGCATAA	OPQ-06	GAGCGCCTTG
OPJ-20	ACGAGGGACT	OPB-17	AGGGAACGAG
OPP-06	GTGGGCTGAC	OPS-17	TGGGGACCAC
OPU-20	ACAGCCCCCA	OPK-14	CCCGCTACAC
OPC-08	TGGACCGGTG	OPJ-21	ACGAGGGACT

Estimation of genomic template stability

Genomic template stability (GTS, %) was calculated as follows:

GTS (%) =
$$(1 - \frac{\alpha}{n}) \times 100$$

Where a is the average number of polymorphic bands detected in each treated sample, and n is the number of total bands in the control. Polymorphism observed in RAPD profiles included the disappearance of a normal band and appearance of a new band in comparison to control RAPD profiles (Atienzar et al., 1999; Luceri et al., 2000), and the average was then calculated for each experimental group exposed to different Cd treatment.

Estimation of band sharing index

In our investigations, we have used the band sharing index (BSI) as a measure of similarity between two samples and this was calculated using the following equation:

$$BSI = 2s/(a+b)$$

Where s is the number of bands shared between two samples, a is the number of bands in the first sample and b the number of bands in the second sample. A BSI value of 1 indicates that two samples are identical, while a BSI value of zero indicates that two samples are totally different (Savva, 2000).

Results

DNA extraction

The suitability of the CTAB extraction method for DNA extraction was evaluated on the basis of the DNA purity and integrity. Concentration and purity of DNA extracted are usually measured at OD260 and by 260 nm/280 nm absorbance ratio. The purity grade of DNA extracted from the control and the exposed seedlings for 7 days of treatment was in the range of 1.6–1.7, and the yield obtained was approximately 85 μ g (100 mg)⁻¹ (FW) tissue in the control plantlets. The integrity of the genomic DNA extracted by the CTAB method was shown in Figure 1. These results indicated that the CTAB method was suitable for DNA extraction from cumin and yielded high quality DNA samples, which is crucial for good RAPD analysis (Williams et al., 1990).



Figure 1. Genomic DNA of about 150-400 ng extracted by CTAB in *C. cyminum*

Effect of Cd stress on RAPD profile

In total, fourteen 10-mer oligonucleotide primers were utilized for screening the cumin genome for alteration in response to Cd stress, whilst only 10 priming oligonucleotides yielded specific and stable results (Figure 2 and Table 2). In all cases, RAPD patterns generated by the Cd-exposed plantlets were clearly different from those obtained using control DNA and exhibited a distinct change with increasing Cd concentration in both ecotypes. The differences in RAPD patterns refer to band intensity, loss of normal bands and appearance of new bands as compared with the control. Table 2. Changes of total bands in control, and of polymorphic bands and varied bands in Cd-treated seedlings of Isfahan

No. of primer	S		Cd conc	entration (µM)		
	0	300	450	600	750	1050
		a b c d	a b c d	<u>a b c d</u>	<u>abcd</u>	<u>a b c d</u>
OPE-07	8	0 0 1 2	0 0 1 2	0 0 1 1	0 0 1 2	0 6 2 0
OPF-05	8	1 0 1 0	1 0 1 0	1 1 2 0	2 0 1 1	2 0 1 1
OPJ-01	6	2 0 2 4	2 0 2 5	2 0 2 5	2 0 2 6	2 2 0 5
OPJ-20	8	0 0 7 0	0 0 7 0	0 0 7 0	0 0 7 0	0 0 7 0
OPP-06	5	1 0 0 2	0 0 1 2	2 0 0 4	0 0 0 4	0 0 0 3
OPU-20	11	1 1 3 0	1 1 4 0	1 2 2 2	1 2 1 2	1 2 5 0
OPC-08	3	1 0 1 0	1 0 1 1	1 0 1 0	1 0 1 0	1 0 0 1
OPI-14	7	2 0 2 0	2 0 2 0	2 0 2 2	5 1 1 3	2 1 2 0
OPJ-19	8	0 0 0 2	0 0 0 2	0 0 0 2	0 0 0 2	1 0 0 3
OPQ-06	8	2 0 0 4	2 0 1 4	2 0 1 5	2 0 0 5	2 0 0 5
Total bands	72	0 1 17 14	9 1 20 16	11 3 18 21	13 3 14 25	11 11 17 18
a + b		11	10	14	16	22
a+b+c+d		42	46	53	55	57

ecotype (up) and Khorasan ecotype (bel	ow))
----------------------------------------	-----	---

No. of primers			Cd co	ncentration (µM)		
	0	300	450	600	750	1050
		a b c d	a b c d	a b c d	a b c d	a b c d
OPE-07	8	0 0 0 1	0 0 1 1	0 0 3 1	0 0 1 4	0 0 2 3
OPF-05	9	0 0 0 1	0 0 1 0	1 0 1 3	0 2 5 0	0 2 3 1
OPJ-01	6	2 0 0 4	2 0 0 4	2 0 0 4	2 0 0 6	2 1 2 2
OPJ-20	8	0 0 3 0	0 0 3 0	0 0 3 0	0 0 5 0	0 0 5 0
OPP-06	5	1 0 0 0	1 0 0 1	1 0 0 4	3 0 0 4	1 0 0 4
OPU-20	12	0 0 1 0	0 0 1 0	0 0 0 2	0 0 0 1	0 1 1 0
OPC-08	3	2 0 1 1	0 0 1 1	0 0 1 1	0 0 1 1	0 0 1 1
OPI-14	7	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0
OPJ-19	8	0 0 5 0	0 0 5 0	0 0 4 0	0 0 3 0	0 0 0 2
OPQ-06	4	5 0 0 7	5 0 0 7	5 0 0 7	5 0 0 6	5 0 0 6
Total bands	70	10 0 10 14	8 0 14 14	9 0 14 22	10 2 17 22	8 4 16 19
a + b		10	8	9	12	12
a + b + c + d		34	36	45	51	47

* a: indicates appearance of new bands, b: disappearance of normal bands, c: decrease in band intensities, and d:increase in band

intensities. a+b denotes polymorphic bands, and a+b+c+d, varied band

Almost all of the primers detected more than such alteration in a given sample.

For instance, extra bands of amplified DNA appeared in the case of 300, 450, 600, 750 and 1050 μ M cadmium-treated cumin with 5 and 8 primers in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotypes respectively. Five primer namely OPE-05 (one and seven new bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively), primer OPJ-01 (ten new bands in both ecotypes), primer OPP-06 (seven and three new bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively), primer OPC-08 (two and five new bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively), primer OPC-08 (two and five new bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively) and primer OPQ-06 (twenty five and ten new bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively) produced new band in both ecotypes (Table 2). Primers OPE-07 and OPJ-20 were not amplified any new band under

different concentrations of cadmium in two ecotypes. The remanding primers including OPU-20, OPI-14 and OPJ-19 produced five, thirteen and one new bands respectively only in Khorasan ecotype. Extra bands of molecular size from approximately 500-3000 bp were indicated to appear. The number of disappearing RAPD bands increased with the increasing Cd concentration for three primers in Isfahan ecotype and five primers in Khorasan ecotype, and bands of molecular size about 525–2516 bp was shown to disappear. The number of disappeared bands in Khorasan ecotype was much higher than another ecotype. Overall, the number of disappeared RAPD bands correlated positively with the concentration of the cadmium (Table 2).







Figure 2. RAPD profiles of genomic DNA from cumin seedlings exposed to varying Cd concentrations (300-1050 μ M). NC: negative control, C: control, and M: 100 bp DNA ladder.

Furthermore the decrease and increase in band intensity were particularly obvious for both cumin ecotypes exposed to all cadmium concentration used in this experiment for almost all primers (Table 2).

Ten primers gave a total of 142 RAPD fragments (70 and 72 bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively) ranging from 200-3000 bp in molecular size in the control (Figure 2). Different polymorphic bands were detected at each concentration of Cd for different primers. Value of polymorphisms in Isfahan ecotypes was P(%) =14.3%, 11.4%, 12.9%, 17.1% and 17.1% for 300, 450, 600, 750 and 1050 µM Cd, respectively. In Khorasan ecotypes the value of polymorphisms of mentioning concentration was 15.3%, 13.9%, 19.4%, 22.2% and 30.5%. The value of observed polymorphism in RAPD patterns in response to Cd stress in Khorasan ecotype was greater than Isfahan ecotype. In all cases, polymorphisms were due to the loss and/or gain of amplified bands in the treated samples compared with the control. Table 2 also indicates that changed bands observed in RAPD profiles (e.g. disappearance, appearance of bands, decrease and increase in band intensity in comparison to control) in the Cd-contaminated cumin seedlings increased dramatically after exposure to Cd. In addition, further experiments confirmed that the variation in band intensities in Figure 2 was stable and not a consequence of either a change in concentration of template DNA within a certain range or a change in PCR reagent concentration (results not shown).

Effect of cadmium pollution on Band Sharing Index (BSI)

The value of Band Sharing Index (BSI) for each treatment group compared with the control was calculated in both ecotypes (Table 3).

Table 3. Effect of Cd on Band Sharing Index (BSA) of two

 ecotypes compared with control seedlings

Cd concentration	Isfahan ecotype	Khorasan ecotype
(μινι)		
300	0.912	0.889
450	0.937	0.898
600	0.927	0.871
750	0.912	0.869
1050	0.912	0.801

Results showed that in both ecotypes with the increase of Cd concentration following 7 days of treatment, the BSI value was decreased (With the exception of 450 μ M concentration). These results reflect the existence of diversity among of RAPD patterns of samples treated with different

concentrations of Cd compared with control. However, the variation in RAPD pattern in response to different concentrations of cadmium was greater in Khorasan ecotype compared with another ecotype. In other words, there was a higher degree of diversity in Khorasan ecotype in response to Cd pollution. However, the band sharing index, despite being very simple to estimate, is not as valuable as GTS index, because it does not take into consideration the absence of bands in profiles.

Effect of cadmium pollution on genomic template stability (GTS) content

Changes in the RAPD patterns were expressed as decreases in GTS, a qualitative measure reflecting obvious changes to the number of RAPD profile generated by the Cd-exposed cumin seedlings, in relation to profiles obtained from control seedlings. A comparison between GTS content of two ecotypes in each treatment is shown in Figure 3. Results indicate that the general tendency of above mentioned index was a progressive reduction with ascending Cd concentration in the culture media. The decreasing trend of the GTS index in Khorasan ecotype was much greater than other ecotype. However the GTS of cumin seedlings increased at 450 µM Cd in both ecotypes only. This effect is ascribed to the multiple changes in RAPD profiles (loss or addition of bands) which tend to counterbalance each other.



Figure 3. Comparison of genomic DNA template stability in two ecotypes of cumin seedlings exposed to different Cd concentration.

Discussion

Plant growth and development under stress conditions are generally negatively affected. One of these stress conditions that affect plants is heavy metals. Recently, heavy metals have become a hot topic of research for many researchers around the world, mostly due to their detrimental effects on many organisms including plants. Much research has been conducted on the effect of Cd on crops and other agricultural plants. However, little information is available on the toxicity of Cd on medicinal plants. In ecotoxicology, the effective evaluation and proper environmental monitoring of potentially genotoxic contaminant will be improved with the development of sensitive and selective methods to detect toxicant-induced alterations in the genomes of a wide range of biota. In the present study, the RAPD-PCR technique was used to determine the potential genotoxic effect of cadmium in *C. cyminum*

The results of this study showed that Cd levels affected DNA profile in both ecotypes of *C. cyminum* by different magnitudes and significant changes in RAPD profiles of both ecotypes was observed here.

Once optimized, the use of RAPD for the detection of DNA damage presents a number of advantages. The assay, which is suitable for any extracted DNA of sufficient quality, allows rapid analysis of a large number of samples. As arbitrary primers are used, specific details of DNA damage or the genome organisms sequence in are not needed. Furthermore, no radioactivity or enzymatic degradation of PCR products is required prior to analysis (Atienzar et al., 1999).

The modifications to the genomic DNA were detected by RAPD profiles through the use of randomly primed PCR reactions. These effects include changes in oligonucleotide priming sites and variations in the activity of the Taq DNA polymerase. Such effects lead to visible changes in the electrophoretic profiles of RAPD reaction changes in products. The amplified band fluorescence intensity, obvious disappearance of amplified bands and appearance of new PCR products occurred in RAPD profiles generated from the Cd-exposed organisms in comparison to the control (Figure 2 and Table 2)

To test the reproducibility of the RAPD-PCR, the experiments were repeated at least twice for each primer and faint bands were ignored; only reproducible bands obtained in repeated experiments were taken into account.

It has been reported that cadmium can induce a range of DNA damage such a single- and doublestrand breaks, abasic sites, modified bases, DNAcross-links, oxidized bases. protein 8adducts hydroxyguanine and even bulky representing intra strand dimerization of adjacent purine bases (dimmers) in organisms (Hsiao and Stapleton, 2004; Liu et al., 2007). Dimmers can alter the structure of the DNA (Liu et al., 2007). These DNA damage and structure variations can be better identified by our multiple biomarker approach presented here.

Modifications of band intensity and lost bands are likely to be due to one or a combination of the following events: (1) changes in oligonucleotide due mainly to priming sites genomic rearrangements and less likely to point mutations and DNA damage in the primer binding sites (because the binding site is only 10 base long whereas genomic rearrangements occur in much longer fragments, e.g. several kb), and (2) interactions of DNA polymerase in cumin seedlings with damaged DNA. These events could act to block or reduce (bypass event) polymerization of DNA in the PCR reaction. The by-pass event is a complicated process that depends on the enzymatic properties of the DNA polymerase, the structure of the lesion and the sequence context of its location (Enan, 2006).

In this experiment, increase in band intensity occurred in the all Cd concentrations for primer OPJ-01, OPP-05, OPJ-19 and OPQ-06 in Khorasan ecotype and for primer OPE-07, OPJ-01, OPC-08 and OPQ-06 in Isfahan ecotype (Table 2). Decrease in band intensity occurred in all used Cd concentrations in this experiment for primer OPJ-20 and OPC-08 in Isfahan ecotype and for primer OPE-07, OPJ-01, OPJ-20, OPU-20 and OPI-14 in Khorasan ecotype (Table 2).

In this study the frequency of band loss was shown to enhance with ascending Cd doses (Table 2).The disappearance of PCR products in some cases affected the high molecular weight bands (i.e. greater than 1 kb) for primers OPE-07 and OPU-20 in Khorasan ecotype and for primer OPJ-01 in Isfahan ecotype because the odds of obtaining DNA damage increased with the length of the amplified fragment. However, some smaller amplicons in this experiment were even much more affected in both ecotypes, thus suggesting a nonrandom interaction between DNA and Cd contamination in soil.

Highest number of disappeared bands that was observed in both ecotypes with cadmium at high concentration (750 and especially 1050 μ M) suggests that cadmium maybe cause the same above mentioned changes to the DNA of the treated plants that consequently resulted in the disappearance of DNA bands.

Appearance of new PCR products or appearance of bands could be attributed to the presence of oligonucleotide priming sites which become accessible to oligonucleotide primers after structural change or because some changes in DNA sequence have occurred due to mutations (resulting in new annealing events) or large deletions (bringing two pre-existing annealing sites closer) or homologous recombination (Atienzar et al., 1999; Enan, 2006). New amplified fragments of mainly greater than 1 Kb in molecular size appeared for all Cd concentrations in both ecotypes. The presence of some extra band in this experiment may also be the results of genomic template instability related to the level of DNA damage, the efficiency of DNA repair and replication (Atienzar et al., 1999).

Our results (Figure 2 and Table 2) indicating polymorphism increased with increasing concentration of Cd, agree well with the observations of other researchers who have also demonstrated a dose-dependent relationship between the DNA changes in treating seedlings and the cadmium concentrations with the RAPD analyses (Liu et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2009a; Liu et al., 2012). On the other hand, the genomic template stability in the cumin decreased with increasing of Cd concentrations, which indicated that the genomic template stability was significantly affected by Cd stress (Figure 3). Previous studies have also shown that changes in RAPD profiles induced by pollutants can be regarded as changes in genomic DNA template stability and this genotoxic effect can be directly compared with alterations in other parameters (Atienzar et al., 2000). Similar effect on DNA damage was reported due to UV radiation in a marine alga Palmaria palmate (Atienzar et al., 2000). Meanwhile, other studies have reported that RAPD or amplified fragment length polymorphism was more sensitive than classic tests such as the comet and micronucleus assay since RAPD analysis was capable of detecting temporary DNA changes at lower concentration of pollutants that may not finally manifest themselves as mutations (Liu et al., 2005; Atienzar and Jha, 2006).

Recently, RAPD technique has been successfully utilized to detect various types of DNA damage and mutation in animals, bacteria and plants induced by low doses of pollutants (Atienzar et al., 1999; Theodorakis, 2001; Atienzar et al., 2002; Rong and Yin, 2004; Liu et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2009a).

The main advantages of the RAPD method were already mentioned. However, RAPD is only a qualitative method. Effect of each category of DNA damage (e.g. strand breakage, modified bases, abasic sites, oxidized bases, and bulky adducts) on RAPD profiles can only be speculated unless amplicons are analyzed (e.g. sequencing) and more specific methods such as the comet assay and ³²P-postlabelling assay is needed to obtain quantitative data (Liu et al., 2009a).

In conclusion the RAPD method has successfully

been used as a sensitive means of detecting Cdinduced DNA damage and showed potential as a reliable assay for soil genotoxicity. From RAPD, ten 10 bp RAPD primers were found to produce a total of 142 RAPD fragments (70 and 72 bands in Isfahan and Khorasan ecotype respectively) ranging from 200-3000 bp in molecular size in the control. The change occurring in RAPD profiles of the seedlings following Cd treatment presents alterations in band intensity, gain or loss of bands compared with control. New amplified fragments of 500-3000 bp in molecular size appeared for all Cd concentrations. The number of missing bands enhanced with the increasing Cd concentration and the genomic template stability reflecting changes in RAPD profiles were significantly affected. This study suggests that the RAPD analysis can be a powerful tool for detection of genotoxic effects of metal contamination in soils.

References

- 1. Amirthalingam T., Velusamy G. and Pandian R. (2013) Cadmium -induced changes in mitotic index and genotoxicity on *Vigna unguiculata* (Linn.) Walp. Journal of Environmental Chemistry and Ecotoxicology 5(3): 57-62.
- Angelis K. J., Mcguffie M., Menke M. and Schubert I. (2000) Adaption to alkylation damage in DNA measured by the comet assay. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis 36: 146–150.
- 3. Atienzar F. A., Conradi M., Evenden A. J., Jha A. N. and Depledge M. H. (1999) Qualitative assessment of genotoxicity using random amplified polymorphic DNA: Comparison of genomic template stability with key fitness parameters in *Daphnia magna* exposed to benzo[a]pyrene. Environmental Toxicology Chemistry 18: 2275–2282.
- Atienzar F. A., Cordi B. and Donkin M. E. (2000) Comparison of ultraviolet-induced genotoxicity detected by random amplified polymorphic DNA with chlorophyll fluorescence and growth in a marine macroalgae, *Palnaria palnata*. Aquatic Toxicology 50: 1–12.
- Atienzar F. A., Venier P., Jha A. N. and Depledge M. H. (2002) Evaluation of the random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) assay for the detection of DNA damage and mutations. Mutation Research 521: 151–163.

- 6. Atienzar F. A. and Jha A. N. (2006): The random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) assay and related techniques applied to genotoxicity and carcinogenesis studies: a critical review. Mutation Research 613: 76-102.
- Cambier S., Gonzalez P., Durrieu G. and Bourdineaud J. P. (2010) Cadmiuminduced genotoxicity in zebra fish at environmentally relevant doses. Ecotoxicology and Environment Safety 73: 312–319.
- 8. Doyle J. J. and Doyle J. L. (1987) A rapid DNA isolation procedure for small quantities of fresh leaf tissue. Phytochemical Bulletin 19: 11-15.
- Enan M. R. (2006) Application of random amplified polymorphic DNA to detect genotoxic effect of heavy metals. Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry 43: 147–154.
- Hsiao C. J. and Stapleton S. R. (2004) Characterization of Cd induced molecular events prior to cellular damage in primary rat hepatocytes in culture: activation of the stress activated signal protein JNK and transcription factor AP-1. Journalof Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology 18 (3): 133–142.
- 11. Liu W., Li P., Qi X., Zhou Q., Zheng L., Sun T. H. and Yang Y. S. (2005) DNA changes in barely (*Hordeum vulgare*) seedlings induced by cadmium pollution using RAPD. Chemosphere 61: 158-167.
- Liu W., Yang Y. S., Zhou Q., Xie L., Li P. and Sun T. (2007) Impact assessment of cadmium contamination on rice (*oryza sativa* L.) seedlings at molecular and population levels using multiple biomarkers. Chemosphere 67: 1155-1163.
- 13. Liu W., Yang Y. S., Li P. J., Zhou Q. X., Xie L. J. and Han Y. P. (2009a) Risk assessment of cadmium contaminated soil on plant DNA damage using RAPD and physiological indices. Journal of Hazardous Materials 161: 878-883.
- 14. Liu W., Zhou Q. X., Li P. J., Gao H. R., Han Y. P. and Li X. J. (2009b) DNA mismatch repair related gene expression as potential biomarkers to assess cadmium exposure in Arabidopsis seedlings. Journal of Hazard Materials 167: 1007–1013.
- 15. Liu W., Sun L., Zhong M., Zhou M., Zhou Q., Gong Z., Li P. and Tai P. (2012) Cadmium-induced DNA damage and

mutations in Arabidopsis plantlet shoots identified by DNA fingerprinting. Chemosphere 89: 1048–1055.

- Luceri C., Filippo C., Caderni G., Gambacciani L., Salvadori M., Giannini A. and Dolara P. (2000) Detection of somatic DNA alterations in azoxymethane-induced F344 rat colon tumors by random amplified polymorphic DNA analysis. Carcinogenesis 21: 1753–1756.
- Michael W. H., Evangelou A., Hockmann K., Pokharel R., Jako A. and Schulin R. (2012) Accumulation of Sb, Pb, Cu, Zn and Cd by various plants species on two different relocated military shooting range soils. Journal of Environmental Management 108: 102-107.
- Rong Zh. Y. and Yin H. W. (2004) A method for genotoxicity detection using random amplified polymorphism DNA with Danio rerio. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 58: 96–103.
- Savva D. (1996) DNA fingerprinting as a biomarker assay in ecotoxicology. Toxicology and Ecotoxicology News Reviews 3: 110–114.
- 20. Savva D. (2000) The Use of Arbitrarily Primed PCR (AP-PCR) Fingerprinting to Detect Exposure to Genotoxic Chemicals. Ecotoxicology 9: 341-353.
- Schutzendubel A., Schwanz P., Teichmann T., Langenfeld-Heyser G. K., Godbold D. L. and Polle A. (2001) Cadmium-induced Changes in antioxidative systems, hydrogen peroxide content, and differentiation in scots pine roots. Plant Physiology 127: 887-898.
- 22. Shamsi I. H., Wei K., Zhang G. P., Jilani G. and Hassan M. J (2008) Interactive effects of cadmium and aluminum on growth and antioxidative enzymes in soybean. Biologia Plantarum 52:165-169.
- Sharma P. and Dubey R. S. (2006) Cadmium uptake and its toxicity in higher plants. In: Khan N.A., Samiullah, S. (Eds.). Cadmium Toxicity and Tolerance in Plants. Narosa publishing House, New Delhi, pp. 63-86.
- 24. Theodorakis C. W. (2001) Integration of genotoxic and population genetic endpoints in biomonitoring and risk assessment. Ecotoxicology 10: 245–256.
- 25. Theodorakis C. W., Bickham J. W., Lamb T., Medica P. A. and Lyne T. B. (2001) Integration of genotoxicity and population

genetic analyses in kangaroo rats (*Dipodomys merriami*) exposed to radionuclide contamination at the Nevada Test Site. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 20: 317-326.

- 26. Welsh J. and McClelland M. (1990) Genomic fingerprinting using arbitrarily primed PCR and a matrix of pairwise combinations of primers. Nucleic Acids Research 18: 7213–7218.
- 27. Williams J., Kubelik A. R. and Livak K. J. (1990) DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acids Research 18: 6531–6535.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited

Acipenser persicus Growth Hormone Gene Sequencing and its Structures

Ehsan Nasr^{1*}, Hrachia Hovhannisyan², Mohammad Pourkazemi³

Department of biology, Islamic Azad University of meshkin Shahr, Meshkin Shahr. Iran
 2- Scientific and Production Center "Armbiotechnology" NASRA, Armenia
 3- Iranian Fisheries Research Organization, P.O. Box: 14155-6116 Tehran, Iran

Received 10 November 2014

Accepted 25 December 2014

Abstract

Administering growth hormone increases growth rate of cultured fish. The aim of this study was isolation and synthesis of Persian sturgeon (GH) cDNA. The total RNA was extracted from pituitary gland of Persian sturgeon and cDNA was synthesized. The full-length cDNA sequence of Persian sturgeon contains a 645 nucleotide open reading frame, which encoding a 214 amino acid protein. The position of the signal peptide cleavage site was predicted to be at position 72. After cleaving of a signal peptide of 24 amino acid residues, a mature peptide of 190 aa formed. The blast observed that the Persian sturgeon pre GH have highest nucleotide sequence similarity with Acipenseridae family and mammals GH. Secondary structure and tertiary structure of Persian sturgeon growth hormone gene were prediction by online software. The secondary structure of the GH revealed the predomination of *a*- helix (> 55%), the domains of high conservation across the vertebrate GH protein. The predicted 3D structure of Persian sturgeon growth hormone attributes to the typical 4-*a*-helix bundle protein conformation, the characteristic 3-D confirmation of growth hormones.

Keywords: Persian Sturgeon, Growth Hormone, cDNA

Introduction

Acipenser persicus is an economically important species for high quality meat and caviar production in the Caspian Sea. It belongs to Acipenseridae family and mainly observed in the Iranian rivers, Sefidrood and Gorgan-chaii, flowing into the Caspian Sea (Khoshkholgh et al., 2011). During the late 20th century Persian sturgeon (PS) population rapidly declined and now it's one of the endangered species of the sturgeon fishes so it is under governmental programming using artificial methods to save the species from extinction (Yousefian, 2011). The maturation of this specie is very long however, males reach maturity at 12 - 14 years and females at 14 - 18 years of age. Due to long and costly rearing of growing conditions such as feeding, control of water temperature and dissolved oxygen reduced sturgeon maturity to 7-9 years in males and 9-12 years in females (Huai Tsai, 1995). For acceleration of fish growth and maturation widely biotechnological used approaches such as optimization of culture

condition. The Growth hormone (GH) as a potential growth promoting agent has long been recognized and GH administration has been shown to accelerate growth rate in a number of animals, especially fish such as rainbow trout, Atlantic salmon, Nile tilapia, Coho salmon, among others (Huai Tsai, 1995; Luis FM, 2003; Venugopal, 2002). The growth hormone good conserved among animals and fishes but observed high diversity in molecular weights and amino acid sequences and space specify. Hence, the cloning, characterization and expression of GH genes has been the subject of extensive research during the last decade. However, almost all the described GH sequences are for fishes of Europe and western countries (Venugopal, 2002). In contrast, there is a little information on Acipenseridae family growth hormones amino acid sequence and there are no information about the GH genes or amino acid sequence of Acipenser persicus. The aim of this study was the synthesis and sequencing GH cDNA of Acipenser persicus.

Materials and Methods

In this study four Persian sturgeons were captured in the southern part of the Caspian Sea and transported to the International sturgeon Research

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*} nasr ehsan1357@yahoo.com

institute (Rasht, Iran). They were killed and immediately manually extracted their pituitary glands and were used for total RNA extraction.

Total RNA was extracted from pituitary glands of all sturgeons using Biozol solution (Bioflux, Japan) and precipitated into 0.5 volum of RNA precipitation solution (1.2 M sodium chloride, 0.8 M disodium citrate and 0.5 vol of isopropyl alcohol. RNA quality was confirmed using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer with absorbance ratios at OD 260/280. The RNA was treated by DNase and reverse transcribed to first strand cDNA Reverse Transcriptase M-MuLV kit using (Fermentas, USA) and oligo dT(18) at 42 °C for 1 h. All solutions were prepared from DEPC treated autoclaved distilled water. The PS preGH cDNA of all fishes were sequenced in Bioneer Co., South Korea and no differences between the male and female's pre GH cDNA sequences were found.

The specific primers used for amplification of cDNA encoding the target genes were designed from alignment of several known acipenseridea GH nucleotide sequences and matches with the first exon region which was retrieved from the NCBI GenBank. [Acipenser] sinensis (EU119864.1), Acipenser gueldenstaedtii (Russian Sturgeon) (AY941176.1) and Huso Huso (AB517597.1). The 5'-ATGGCATCAGGTCTGCTT primers were 5'-(forward primer) and CTACAGAGTACAGTTGCTCTC (reverse primer).

The PCR reaction was Primer sets were generated using Primer3 program (http://biotools.umassmed.edu/bioapps/primer3_w ww.cgi). The PCR was performed under the condition of DNA denaturation at 94°C (5 min), followed by 35 cycles of denaturation at 94°C (30 sec), annealing at 58°C (90 sec) and extension at 72°C (30 sec), with a final extension at 72°C (25 min). Amplicons were separated by 1.5 % agarose gel electrophoresis and stained with Ethidium bromide.

PCR products of the appropriate size was excised from the gel, purified by an extraction kit (Vivantis, Iran) and sent to Takapozist Company(Iran) for sequencing.

Nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequences were analyzed using BLAST-N and BLAST-P (GenBank, NCBI, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). The signal peptide and putative cleavage sites were detected using the Signal-P (http://www.cbs.dtu. dk/services/SignalP). N glycosylation sites were prognosticated by searching the Asp-Xaa-Ser/Thr motif (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/ NetNGlyc). Secondary structure and tertiary structure of PS GH gene were predicted by online software (Guermeur, 1999; Ma J, 2013).

Results

In our study we isolated and synthesized GH cDNA of Persian Sturgeon. The Persian sturgeon preGH cDNA contains an open reading frame of 645 nucleotides starting from ATG codon and ending with TAG stop codon encoding preGH of 214 amino acid residues. The first 24 amino acid residues from the N-terminus are highly hydrophobic (~70% of the amino acids residues of this region are non-polar) and also have a high degree of homology to the signal peptide of other fish GHs, it is assumed that in the Persian sturgeon pre-GH this region probably represent the signal peptide which is cleaved upon hormone secretion. The position of the signal peptide cleavage site was predicted to be at position between 24 and 25 amino acids. After cleaving of the signal peptide formed mature GH containing 190 amino acid residues starting with a glutamic acid (figure 1).

The obtained polypeptide exhibit typical GH feature, such as four Cystein residues, capable of forming two disulfide bonds which are assumed to contribute to the tertiary structure of the hormone, a single tryptophan residue and stretches of amino acid highly conserved in all known GHs. There is only one Asn-Xaa-Thr amino acid motif in GH at the C terminus region which is potential site for N-linked glycosylation. The amino acids Leucine and Serine are dominant, about 25 % of total pool and only one tryptophan is exists.

By means of Sequences Producing Significant Alignments from National Center for Biotechnology Information (NBCI) data base we compared the sequences of PS GH gene with other fish as well as mammalian GH genes sequences, which demonstrated high degree of identity, especially with Acipenseridea's GH sequences, scores denote conserved nucleotides (71–99%) (Table 1). Thus, the GH coding DNA sequences of Persian sturgeon GH have 99% similarity to Beluga cDNA (Huso Huso) GH, 72% to Sus scrofa and 73% to mouse. Apart of a few deletions and insertions, GH is a remarkably conserved protein. The molecule is composed of four conserved region and four variable regions which are likely to be functionally important. In contrast to Persian sturgeon and other fish species the GH of goldfish and in other Cyprinidae contain 5 Cystein residues. Since the gene GH is a highly conserved protein, it provided a better resolution for more distantly related animals. The characteristics some of vertebrates are presented in table 2.

Atg	gca	tca	ggt	ctg	ctt	ctg	tgt	cca	gtg	ctg	ctg	gtt	ata	ttg	ctg	gtc	tcc	cct	aaa
М	А	S	G	L	L	L	С	Р	V	L	L	V	Ι	L	L	V	S	Р	K
Gag	<u>tct</u>	ggg	gcc	tac	cct	atg	att	cca	cta	tcc	agt	ctt	ttc	aca	aac	gct	gtg	ctc	aga
Е	S	G	А	>Y	Р	М	Ι	Р	L	S	S	L	F	Т	Ν	А	V	L	R
Gca	cag	tac	cta	cac	cag	ctt	gct	gca	gac	att	tac	aaa	gat	ttc	gag	cgt	acc	tat	Gtt
А	Q	Y	L	Η	Q	L	А	А	D	Ι	Y	Κ	D	F	Е	R	Т	Y	V
cca	gat	gag	caa	cgt	cac	tcc	agc	aaa	aac	tcc	ccg	tca	gca	ttc	tgc	tac	tct	gag	acc
Р	D	Е	Q	R	Н	S	S	K	N	S	Р	S	А	F	C*	Y	S	Е	Т
atc	cct	gct	ccc	act	ggc	aaa	gat	gag	gcc	caa	cag	cga	tca	gac	gtg	gag	ctg	ctt	cag
Ι	Р	А	Р	Т	G	K	D	Е	А	Q	Q	R	S	D	V	Е	L	L	Q
ttt	tcc	ctg	gct	ctc	atc	cag	tcc	tgg	att	agt	ccc	ctg	cag	tcc	ctg	agc	cgt	gtt	ttc
F	S	L	А	L	Ι	Q	S	W	Ι	S	Р	L	Q	S	L	S	R	V	F
acc	aat	agc	ctg	gtg	ttc	agc	acc	tcc	gac	cga	gtg	ttt	gag	aaa	ctg	aaa	gat	ctg	gag
Т	N	S	L	V	F	S	Т	S	D	R	V	F	Е	K	L	K	D	L	Е
gaa	ggc	att	gtg	gct	ctc	atg	agg	gat	ctg	ggg	gaa	ggc	ggt	ttc	gga	agt	tct	act	ttg
Е	G	Ι	V	А	L	М	R	D	L	G	Е	G	G	F	G	S	S	Т	L
ctg	aag	ctc	act	tat	gat	aag	ttt	gat	gtc	aac	cta	aga	aac	gat	gat	gct	ttg	ttt	aaa
L	Κ	L	Т	Y	D	K	F	D	V	N	L	R	N	D	D	А	L	F	K
aat	tat	ggg	ctt	tta	tgc	tgt	ttt	aag	aaa	gat	atg	cac	aaa	gta	gag	acg	tac	ctg	aaa
Ν	Y	G	L	L	C*	S	F	K	K	D	М	Н	K	V	Е	Т	Y	L	K
gtg	atg	aaa	tgc	aga	cgt	tgt	gtg	gag	agc	aac	<u>tgt</u>	act	ctg	tag					
V	М	K	R	R	F	C*	V	E	S	N	<u>C*</u>	<u>T</u>	L						

Figure 1. Persian sturgeon (*Acipenser persicus*) preGH ORF complete nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequences. The potential glycosylation site is underlined. The arrow indicated the possible site for cleavage of signal peptide. The cysteine residues in the mature hormone are asterisked

Accession	Family	Species	Max identity
JN604534.1	Acipenseridae	Acipenser persicus	100%
HQ166628.1	_	Huso huso	99%
AY941176.1		Acipenser gueldenstaedtii	98%
KC460212.2		Acipenser schrenckii	98%
JX947839.1		Acipenser baerii	98%
EU599640.2		Acipenser sinensis	96%
		-	
EU390781.1	Mammalia	Sus scrofa	72%
AF052192.1		Trichosurus vulpecula	72%
X02891.1		Mouse (Mus musculus)	73%
S50877		Ovis aries	71%
V01237		Rattus norvegicus	71%
V00520		Homo sapiens	74%
EF521480.1	Aves	Eupodotis ruficrista	92%
EF521592.1		Scytalopus magellanicus	81%
Ay148493	Anguilidea	Anguilla anguilla	67%
M24066		Anguilla japonica	67%
M24683	Salmonidea	Onchorhynchus mykiss	65%
S52027	Amphibia	Rana catesbiana	67%
X60475	Cypriniformes	Carassius auratus	61%
M27000.1		Cyprinus carpio	65%
X60475		Hypoththalmichtys mulitrix	68%
AF389237		Pimephales promelas	68%

Table 1. Sequences producing significant alignments from (NBCI) data base

•

Character	PS	Huso	Russian
		huso	
Nucleotides	967	967	980
5' UTR	25	25	39
ORF	645	645	642
Stop codon	TAG	TAG	TAG
Protein	214	214	213
Signal peptid	25 aa	25 aa	24 aa
Mature	190 aa	190 aa	190 aa
protoein			
Mol. mature	~22	~22	~
Wt (kDa)	kDa	kDa	22kDa
Isoelectric	6.31	6.31	6.31
point (pH)			
Glycosylation	187	187	187
sites			
Cystein	76,	76, 187,	76, 187,
residues	187, 204 ,	204,212	204,212
	212		

Table 2. The GH characteristics some of vertebrates

In order to make the PS preGH phylogenetic tree with the GHs of other species, at first PS preGH and several known GHs genes of many species from different species in NBCI were blasted together. The blast revealed that the PS preGH have highest nucleotide sequence similarity to other GH sequences. Thus, Acipenseridae family (98-99%), mammals GH (72%) and Brides GH (*Gallus gallus*) (73%) as well as by Muse (73%), *Trichosurus vulpecula* (72%) (Table 1).

The secondary structure of the GH was determined by in homogenous score combination method of Guermeur *et al.* (1999) based of neural networks (http://npsa-pbil. ibcp.fr/npsa) and by the PROFILESCAN, PEPTIDESORT and other modules of the GCG software (Figure 2).

It is revealed the predomination of a- helix (> 55%), the domains of high conservation across the vertebrate GH protein, which attributes to the characteristic 4-*a*-helix bundle confirmation. The four different key *a*-helices are indicated by roman numerals. Second predominant random coils (35%) which connect the helices support the 4 *a*-helix bundle confirmation.

The predicted 3D structure of psGH was made by template-based modeling including alignment and template selection (Ma J, 2013) availeble (http://raptorx.uchicago.edu/download/.) (Figure. 3).

The 56.07% of amino acids are involved in *a*-helix formation, which run anti-parallel to each other. These helices attribute to the typical 4-*a*-helix bundle protein conformation, the characteristic 3-D confirmation of growth hormones.



Figure 2. The predicted secondary structure of the PS GH protein. Protein sequence is annotated with secondary structure information [a-helix in blue, (H); extended strand in red, (E); random coil, (C)].



Figure 3. 3-D structure of the mature PS GH.

Discussion

In this study we described sequence analysis and of Persian Sturgeon GH to other vertebrates. Apart from a few deletions and insertions, GH is a remarkably conserved protein. GH molecule is composed of four conserved and four variable regions which are likely to be functionally important. Since the GH gene is a highly conserved protein, it provided a better resolution for more distantly related species (Luis FM, 2003; Venugopal, 2002).

As a result, the aa sequences of Persian sturgeon (PS) GH have 99% similarity to beluga (Huso Huso) and highest (99%) levels of homology to the GHs of Acipenseridea and mammalian.

The comparison of aa amounts shows no difference between GH of PS and RS and only a little difference between PS and Huso huso. The cystein residues, which are important for the disulfide bond formation and structural integrity of the 3-D structure of the GH protein (Schneider, 1992) is conserved in sturgeons and located at 56, 146,187 and 192 positions. Their presence was found to be important for the structural integrity and biological activity of the hormone. Probably these are the regions, from which strong homology could be between vertebrate GH drawn sequences (Schneider, 1992).

Primary Structure of PS GH Gene contains an ORF nucleotide sequence of the gene (645 bp) and matur sequence (570 bp) with 190 amino acid was determined. The position of signal peptide was in 72 nucleotide (24 amino acid) (fig.1) and this sequence registered in gene bank NCBI for the first time and was given number JN604534.

In the Russian sturgeon (*A. gueldenstaedtii*) growth hormone cDNA nucleotide sequence was 980 bp long and had an open reading frame of 642 bp, beginning with the first ATG codon at position 39 and ending with the stop codon at position 683. The position of the signal peptide cleavage site was predicted to be at position 111, yielding a signal peptide of 24 amino-acids (aa) and a mature peptide of 190 aa. (Yom Din, 2008).

The Beluga sturgeon (*Huso huso*) growth hormone cDNA also has an open reading frame of 645 nucleotides encoding a protein 214 amino acid residues. The signal peptide cleavage site was predicted to be at position 72, yielding a signal peptide of 24 amino acid residues and a mature peptide of 190 amino acids. The cDNA sequence of the Russian sturgeon was similar to that of the Beluga cGH. (Azizzadeh, 2013).

Cao H. et al. (2011) show that the Chinese sturgeon *A. sinensis* GH cDNA consists approximately 954 bp in size including a 16 bp 5'-untranslated region and 296 bp 3'-untranslated region. The open reading frame (642 bp) encodes a 214 aa, but it represents the precursor composed of a 25 aa signal peptide followed by a 189 aa mature polypeptide (Cao, 2011).

Conclusion

These results provide useful information for P.S GH, the finding demonsterate that the GH sequence have a higher degree of identity to mammalian and other fish. These are the first time an *Acipenser persicus* growth hormone encoding cDNA (PSGH; GenBank no. JN604534.1) has been reported and the deduced amino acid sequence obtained. Keeping in view the present results we are here able to suggest future experimental focuses.

Acknowledgment

This study was supported by the International Sturgeon Research institute Rast, Iran.

References

- Azizzadeh Pormehr1 L., Pourkazemi1 M., Yarmohammadi1 M., Banismaeili Y. and Sanati M. H. (2013) Phylogenetic and sequence analysis of the growth hormone gene of two turgeons, Huso huso and Acipenser Gueldenstaedtii. Progress in Biological Sciences 3(2): 99-105
- Cao H., Zhou R. J., Wei Q. W., Li C. J. and Gui J. F. (2011) Molecular characterization of the growth hormone in Chinese sturgeon and its Expression during embryogenesis and early larval stages. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 27: 501-504.
- Guermeur Y., Geourjon C., Gallinari P. and Deleage G. (1999) Improved Performance in Protein Secondary Structure Prediction by Inhomogeneous Score Combination. Bioinformatics 15(5): 413-421.
- Huai Tsai –Jen., Lin K. L., Kuo J. C. and Chen S. W. (1995) Highly Efficient Expression of Fish Growth Hormone by Escherichia coli Cells applied and environmental microbiology. American Society for Microbiology Nov 61(11): 4116–4119.
- Khoshkholgh M., Nazari S., Pourkazemi M. And Azizzadeh Pormehr L. (2011) Genetic diversity in the Persian sturgeon, Acipenser percicus, from the south Caspian Sea based on mitochondrial DNA sequences of the control region. Caspian Journal of Environmental Sciences 9(1): 17-25.
- 6. Luis F. M., Jose A. Levy., Josep M. Folch. and Armand Sanchez. (2003) A growth hormone-based phylogenetic analysis of

euteleostean fishes including a representative species of the Atheriniformes Order, Odontesthes argentinensis. Genetics and Molecular Biology 26(3): 295-300.

- Ma J., Wang S., Zhao F. and Xu J. (2013) Protein threading using context-specific alignment potential. Bioinformatics. 29(13): 257-265.
- Schneider J. F., Myster S. H., Hackett P. B. and Faras A. (1992) Molecular cloning and sequence analysis of the cDNA for northern pike (Esox lucius) growth hormone. Molecular Marine Biology and Biotechnology 1: 106–111.
- Venugopal T., Mathavan S. and Pandian T. J. (2002) Molecular cloning of growth hormone encoding cDNA of Indian major carps by a modified rapid amplification of cDNA ends strategy. Journal of Bioscience 27: p. 261–272.
- Yom Din S., Hurvitz A., Goldberg D., Jachson K., Levavi Sivon B. and Degani G. (2008) Cloning of Russion sturgeon (Acipenser gueldenstaedtii) growth hormone and insulin like growth factor I and their expression in male and female fish during the first period of growth. Journal of Endocrinology Investigation 31: p. 201-210
- Yousefian M. (2011) The Effect Of Environment And Individual Factors In Fertilization And Hatching Rate Of Acipenser Persicus. Advances in Environmental Biology. 5(9): 2881-2885.

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Evaluation of Agrobacterium-mediated Transformation of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* Using a Synthetic Amorpha-4, 11-diene Synthase Gene

Afsaneh Mohkami^{1*}, Hassan Marashi¹, Farajolah Shahriary Ahmadi¹, Masoud Tohidfar² and Motahareh Mohsenpour²

1. Biotechnology and Plant Breeding Department, College of Agriculture, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran 2. Tissue Culture and Gene Transformation Department, Agriculture Biotechnology Research Institute of Iran (ABRII), Karaj, Iran

Received 3 July 2014

Accepted 15 August 2014

Abstract

Amorpha-4,11-diene synthase (ADS) is a key enzyme in biochemical pathway of the antimalarial agent artemisinin. An Agrobacterium-mediated transformation was carried out to express a synthetic *ADS* gene in green microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* strain 125C with bacterial strains GV3101 and LBA4404. The foreign gene was optimized based on codon usage bias of the microalga. Integration of the *ADS* in nuclear genome of *C. reinhardtii* was confirmed by polymerase chain reaction assay. The transgenic colonies cultured on selective medium turned yellow after three days and gradually died. Transformation procedure, growth habit of the transgenic microalgae together with probable causes of transformants loss is discussed. The present study is the first investigation for production of ADS enzyme in a microalgal system.

Keywords: Amorpha-4,11-diene synthase, Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, Agrobacterium and Transformation

Introduction

In many regions of the world especially in developing countries malaria is a prevalent infectious disease which is the tenth cause of death and is predicted to remain at that level until at least 2030 (Castello et al., 2010). It is estimated that more than 380 million cases of malaria occur annually accounting for more than 1 million deaths (Briolant et al., 2010).

The most potent treatment for malaria disease is an herbal compound called artemisinin and its derivatives. Artemisinin is a secondary metabolite produced in the herbaceous plant *Artemisia annua*. Artemisinin has a short half-life so significant quantities in prescribed doses is required and thus there is an increasing demand for this important therapeutic agent (Crockett et al., 2007). Moreover, although artemisinin is still the preferred treatment for high risk patients, its use is hampered by its high cost, because is produced a very low amount of this compound in *A. annua*. Enhancing artemisinin concentration in plant tissues is,

therefore, a practical way to make artemisinin available as a cheap antimalaria drug (Wallaart et al., 2000). An ideal approach to achieve this goal would be genetic engineering of enzymes involved in biosynthesis of artemisinin. Artemisinin is synthesized in plant tissues via a complex pathway including different enzymes, the most critical of which is amorpha-4,11-diene synthase (ADS) which catalyzes conversion of farnesyl diphosphate (FPP) in to amorpha-4,11-diene (Arsenault et al., 2008).

Considering low content of artemisinin in *A. annua* tissues and high cost of synthetic production of the product on one hand, and increasing demand for artemisinin on the other hand; there have been extensive investigations for expression of artemisinin complex precursors such as Amorpha-4,11-diene in microbial platforms such as *E. coli* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and even in the higher plant tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) aiming at achieving a cost-effective way for production of artemisinin (Khosla et al., 2003).

Although production of artemisinin precursors in bacterial and yeast hosts has been successful, large scale production of artemisinin in such systems which requires vitamin and carbon source is not cost effective (Walker et al., 2005). This limitation can be circumvented by adopting an appropriate

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*} afi mohkami@yahoo.com, af mo360@stu.um.ac.ir

host such as fresh water microalgae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii.

Application of microalgae for production of pharmaceuticals offers a number of advantages not found in other production systems. Microalgae are cost effective platforms for therapeutics production and are free of human or animal pathogens (Dove, 2002; Tran et al., 2009). Moreover, they possess elaborated cellular machinery required to fold complex human proteins that bacteria and yeast may not be able to process properly (Rosenberg et al., 2004). Many species of green algae are regarded generally as safe (GRAS) microorganisms, meaning that if the protein can be expressed in a bioavailable form, purification steps could potentially be eliminated altogether. This will result in further reduction of production costs (Rasala et al., 2010).

Microalgae can be grown in contained bioreactors, reducing the risk of contamination of the production system by airborne contaminants, and also protecting the environment from any potential flow of transgenes into the surrounding ecosystem. Time course from initial transformation of microalgae to large-scale protein production is only a matter of weeks, compared to months or years in higher plants (Franklin and Mayfield, 2004). Indeed, algal-based platforms combine the advantages of microbial and plant systems for production of therapeutic agent (Rasala et al., 2010).

Genetic transformation of microalgae can be carried out in many ways including microparticle bombardment, glass beads, electroporation and Agrobacterium-mediated transformation (Soria-Guerra et al., 2013). Since the pioneer work of Kumar et al (2004), Agrobacterium-mediated transformation has been widely used for genetic manipulation of microalgae. This method is a simple and yet efficient approach that can be carried out in a relatively short time with low cost (Specht et al., 2010).

The goal of the present study was to investigate production of amorpha-4,11-diene as a major precursor of artemisinin in *C. reinhardtii* using Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation.

Materials and Methods

Construct design

Nucleotide sequence of *ADS* gene was obtained from NCBI website (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) with accession number of AF138959.1 and the corresponding protein sequence was obtained with accession number of AAF61439.1. The coding sequence was optimized using Vector NTI advance 11 software. This sequence encodes for the 63.933 kD ADS protein. To facilitate cloning procedure in pBI121 plasmid, *Bam*HI and *SacI* restriction sites were included in 5' and 3' ends of the gene, respectively. The *ADS* gene was synthesized in pGEM vector (Bioneer, south Korea).

Construction of expression vector

The synthetic *ADS* gene was removed from pGEM vector by digestion with *Bam*HI and *SacI* and inserted into the plant expression vector pBI121, downstream of the CaMV 35S promoter and upstream of the nopaline synthase (NOS) terminator, yielding pBI121-ADS vector. *Bam*HI/*SacI* double digestion removes *GUS* gene from pBI121 plasmid.

The resulted vector was used to transform E. coli strain DH5- α and kanamycin-resistant colonies were selected after overnight incubation at 37°C. For confirmation of the recombinant plasmid pBI121-ADS, at the first the plasmid was extracted from bacterial cells using alkaline lysis method, then digestion of recombinant plasmid with EcoRI and PCR analysis of the recombinant plasmid using gene specific-forward primer and NOS terminatorspecific reverse primer was performed. The sequence of forward and reverse primers: 5' TAAATGGGCTAATGAAGGTC 3' 5' and GAAGAAAGCGAAAGGAGC 3', respectively. PCR was carried out as follow: 94 °C 45s, 52 °C 45s, $72 \degree$ 1.5 min, 30 cycles.

pBI121-ADS vector was introduced into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain GV3101 and LBA4404 by thaw-melting method. Transformed cells were selected on screening medium (LB medium containing 50 mg/l kanamycin and 50 mg/l rifampicin) and colony PCR was carried out similar to that already explained.

Chlamydomonas culture

Chlamydomonas strain 125C was obtained from Chlamydomonas Resource Center (University of Minnesota). Algal cells were grown in Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium under continuous cool fluorescent light at 25°C.

Genetic transformation of C. reinhardtii

C. reinhardtii cells were transformed using the method proposed by Kumar et al (2004) with some modifications. In summary, 10^7 *Chlamydomonas* cells were transferred_on to the solid TAP medium with 100 µM and without acetosyringon (AS) and incubated in light for 2 days to form algal lawn. A fresh *Agrobacterium* culture (A600 = 0.5) grown in

liquid LB medium containing appropriate antibiotics (50 mg/l rifampicin and 50 mg/l kanamycin) was centrifuged in 4500rpm for 10 min, the supernatant was discarded and the bacterial pellet was resuspended in 200 µl TAP broth with or without AS. The bacterial suspension was spread to the thin layer of Chlamydomonas lawn growing on agar plate. The co-cultivation plates were incubated for 2 days at 25°C. The cells were then harvested and washed twice with liquid TAP medium containing 500 mg/l cefotaxime to eliminate bacterial residues and centrifugation at 1000 rpm for 2 min, resuspended in liquid TAP. The washed Chlamydomonas cells were cultured in solid selection medium containing 50 mg/l Kanamycin and 500 mg/l cefotaxime.

PCR screening of transformants

Half of each transformant colony was screened for presence of the gene of interest using aforementioned primers. *SacI* digestion was carried out to confirm PCR products. Cells were resuspended in Tris-EDTA solution and heated to 95°C for 10 minutes. The cell lysate was used as a template for PCR reactions. The other halves of the colonies with positive PCR results were grown in liquid selection medium containing 50 mg/l Kanamycin for further analysis.

Results

Design and construction of expression cassette

After codon optimization of *ADS* gene and inclusion of *Bam*HI and *SacI* restriction sites in 3' and 5' ends, the optimized 1653 nucleotide sequence was synthesized and cloned in pGEM vector. After digestion of pGEM-ADS and pBI121 vectors with abovementioned enzymes, the *ADS* gene was inserted in pBI121 vector (figure1).



Figure 1. Schematic components of pBI121-ADS expression

vector

After transfer of pBI121-ADS in to *E.coli* cells, the extracted plasmid of the putative transformed cells were evaluated using digestion with *Eco*RI restriction enzyme (figure 2) and PCR with specific primers (figure 3). *Eco*RI endonuclease has two restriction sites on the recombinant plasmid; one on pBI121 plasmid and the other on *ADS* gene.



Figure 2. Digestion product of *Eco*RI. lane1: 1kb ladder (Fermentas); lane 2: digestion pBI121-ADS with *Eco*RI (12600bp and 1900 bp segments).



Figure 3. lane1: 1kb ladder (Fermentas); lane 2: negative control (*E.coli*); lane 3: Transformed cell (The 1000bp band resulting from PCR with specific primers)

Genetic transformation of C. reinhardtii

Genetic transformation of C. reinhardtii was carried out using two strains of A. tumefaciens namely LBA4404 and GV3101. The transformed colonies appeared on selective medium after 7-10 days. In the lack of acetosyringone treatment, 2-3 colonies were obtained for both strains of application Agrobacterium. However, by of $(100 \ \mu M)$, the number acetosyringone of transformants increased significantly, that is 270 and 350 colonies were achieved for LBA4404- and

GV3101-mediated transformation, respectively.

PCR assay

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed to evaluate presence of foreign gene in putative transgenic microalgal cells. For each strain of Agrobacterium, twenty colonies were used for colony PCR among which, seven colonies showed the expected band (figure 4). In evaluation of PCR product using digestion with *SacI* restriction enzyme, desired segments was observed. (figure 5)



Figure 4. Gel electrophoresis of colony PCR products. Lane 1: 1kb ladder (Fermentas); lanes 2-5: colonies transformed using GV3101; 6-8: colonies transformed using LBA4404 and lane 9: wild type



Figure 5. Digestion of PCR product with *SacI*. lane1: 1kb ladder (Fermentas); lane 2-3: digestion of PCR product with *SacI* (600bp and 400bp segments).

Growth kinetic of transformant colonies

As stated in Material and methods section, half of each transgenic colony was cultured in selective broth medium. The colonies showed normal growth in the first three days creating a bright green color; however the cells got yellow thereafter and were completely lost on the seventh day. The experiment was repeated for more colonies but the results were the same. Some colonies even showed no growth in selective medium. The lack of growth in selective liquid media prevented from subsequent analyses such as expression assay.

Discussion

In this study, we investigated application of green microalgae C. reinhardtii as a platform for expression of ADS as a key enzyme in biochemical pathway of artemisinin. Although heterologous expression of ADS has been reported in other biological systems (Arsenault et al., 2008), to the best of our knowledge the present study is the first investigation for production ADS enzyme in a microalgal system. The synthetic ADS gene was optimized based on codon usage of C. reinhardtii. It has been reported that low expression of foreign genes in algal system is often due to the incompatibility of the codon usage in their coding regions which consequently decreases the efficiency of the translation (Mayfield et al., 1990). Although we were not able - due to loss of transgenic lines- to analyze the recombinant protein in translation level, some results achieved in this investigation worth noting. Acetosyringone had significant influence on the percentage of transformants, increasing from 2-3 colonies in 0µM to 350 colonies in 100µM of acetosyringone. This is in accordance with the results reported by Kumar et al (2004) who found out that 100µM of acetosyringone significantly enhanced transformation percentage.

Application of GV3101 strain led to better results compared to LBA4404 strain. Similar to our results, in a recent investigation it was reported that GV3101 was effective in increasing transformation rate (Habibi-pirkoohi et al, 2014). However, in another study investigating efficacy of different strains of *A. tumefaciens* in genetic transformation of microalgae, the best results were achieved by strain EHA 105 (Pratheesh et al., 2012). It seems that adoption of a certain strain as the best candidate for transformation of microalgae is not conclusive.

Another feature of the present study was instability of transformed cells of *C. reinhardtii*. The green colonies of transformed cells gradually turned in to yellow about two weeks after transformation procedure. Instability of microalgal transformed colonies has been reported by other authors (Leon et al., 2007; Habibi et al., 2014). Generally, in chlorophytes such as *C. reinhardtii*, transformation frequency of heterologous constructs is very low and gene expression is instable (Neupert et al., 2009). The unique nuclear characteristics of these microalgae can influence their ability to express genes under the control of heterologous promoters (von Gromoff et al., 2008).

It is generally accepted that in chlorophytes and diatoms, stable expression of heterologous genes can only be optimally achieved when adequate homologous promoters or promoters from very close species are included (Shao and Bock, 2008).

A great number of regulatory elements and transcriptional or post transcriptional events can influence on the expression level of the transgenes and on their stability (Kathiresan et al., 2009). Expression of an exogenous gene can be very low or null, even though all the elements required for optimal transcription and translation -promoters, introns and other regulatory regions- have been included in the chimeric gene construction. Difficulties for foreign gene expression in microalgae can be due to the lack of adequate regulatory sequences, to positional effects, biased codon usage, incorrect polyadenylation, inappropriate nuclear transport, instability of the mRNA, or gene silencing (Rasala et al., 2010).

In the present study, the transformed colonies were cultured on selective media; whereas in the pioneer work conducted by Kumar et al (2004), the transformants were cultured in non-selective medium. It has been reported that when transgenic algal clones are not maintained under selection conditions, expression of the exogenous genes might be suppressed (Leon et al., 2007). Furthermore, to verify reliability of the results reported by Kumar et al (2004), we cultured some PCR-positive clone in non-selective media. The colonies underwent normal growth, but after full growth no band was observed for these colonies in PCR assay, suggesting that the transformants lost the transgene during growth in non-selective medium. The results obtained in the present investigation can be justified by transient expression theory. Transient expression of firefly luciferase (Luc) in protoplasts of Chlorella ellipsoidea and of β -glucuronidase (Gus) gene in C. saccharophila has been already reported (Leon et al., 2007).

It can be postulated that expression of ADS exerts a metabolic load on *C. reinhardtii* cells and this suppresses microalgal growth. However, since the growth of transformants on selective media was normal for a few days, the hypothesis of metabolic load can't be so reliable. Therefore, we believe that instable gene expression is the probable cause of the results observed in the present study.

As a conclusion, agrobacterium-mediated procedure is a simple and cost-effective method for nuclear transformation of microalgae and an

acceptable number of colonies is achieved in this way. However, stable expression of ADS- and other foreign genes- in *C. reinhardtii* using agrobacterium-mediated transformation requires more elaborated constructs and algae-specific regulatory elements specially homologous promoters (Spetch et al., 2010).

Although gene expression was not analyzed in this investigation, based on the same results obtained in duplicate experiments and similar number of colonies achieved with two different Agrobacterium strains, it can be concluded that further studies along with application of homologous elements are required to achieve results in appropriate and stable nuclear transformation of C. reinhardtii moreover, it appears that combating gene silencing will be a major hurdle before recombinant proteins can be expressed at economically viable levels from nuclear transgenes in Chlamydomonas. (Specht et al., 2010).

References

- 1. Arsenault P. R., Wobbe K. K. and weathers P. J. (2008) Recent advances in artemisinin production through heterologous expression. Current Medicinal Chemistry 15(27): 2886-2903
- Briolant S., Wurtz N., Zettor A., Rogier C. and Pradines B. (2010) Susceptibility of *Plasmodium falciparum* isolates to doxycicline is associeted with pftetQ sequence polymorphism and pftetQ and pfmd copy Numbers. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 201: 153-159.
- Castello F., Odolini S., Autino B., Foca E. and Russo R. (2010) Malaria prophylaxis: a comprehensive review. Pharmaceuticals 3: 3212-3239
- Crockett M. and Kain C. (2007) Tafenoquine: a promising new antimalarial agent. Expert Opinion. Investigational Drugs 16: 705-715.
- 5. Dove A. (2002) Uncorking the biomanufacturing bottleneck. Nature Biotechnology 20:777–779
- Franklin S. E. and Mayfield S. P. (2004) Prospects for molecular farming in the green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Current Opinion Plant Biology 7:159–165
- Habibi-Pirkoohi M., Malekzadeh-Shafaroudi S., Marashi H., Moshtaghi N., Nassiri M., Mohkami A. and Zibaee S. (2014) Expression of Foot and Mouth

disease Virus (FMDV) capsid protein VP1 in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* as a possible siurce of recombinant vaccine. International journal of plant, animal and environmental science 4: 644-649

- Kathiresan S., Chandrashekar A. and Ravishankar G. A. (2009) Agrobacterium mediated transformation in the green alga *Haematococcus pluvialis*. Journal of Phycology 45:642–649
- 9. Khosla C. and Keasling J. D. (2003) Metabolic engineering for drug discovery and development. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 2: 1019–1025.
- Kumar S., Misquitta R. W., Reddy V. S., Rao B. J. and Rajam M. V. (2004) Genetic transformation of the green alga— *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. Plant Science 166: 731–8.
- 11. Leon R., Galvan A. and Fernandez E. (2007) Transgenic Microalgae as Green Cell Factories. Trends in Biotechnology 22(1): 45-52.
- Mayfield S. P. and Kindle K. L. (1990) Stable nuclear transformation of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* by using a *C. reinhardtii* gene as the selectable marker. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87(6): 2087- 2091.
- Neupert J., Karcher D. and Bock R. (2009) Generation of *Chlamydomonas* strains that efficiently express nuclear transgenes. Plant Journal 57: 1140–1150
- Pratheesh P., Shonima G. and Abraham C. (2012) Study on efficacy of different *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strains in genetic transformation of microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Advances in Applied Science Research 3 (5):2679-2686
- Rasala B. A., Muto M. and Lee P. A. (2010) Production of therapeutic proteins in algae, analysis of expression of seven human proteins in the chloroplast of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Plant Biotechnology Journal 8:1–15
- Rosenberg J. N., Oyler G. A. and Wilkinson L. (2008) A green light for engineered algae: redirecting metabolism to fuel a biotechnology revolution. Current Opinion Biotechnology 19: 430–436
- 17. Shao N. and Bock R. (2008) A codon optimized luciferase from Gaussia princeps facilitates the in vivo monitoring of gene

expression in the model alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Current Genet 53:381–388

- Soria-Guerra R., Dania O., Alonso M., Paz-Maldonado B. and Rosales S. (2013) Expression of an HBcAg-based antigen carrying angiotensin II in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* as a candidate hypertension vaccine. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 31: 495-511.
- Specht E., Miyake-Stoner S. and Mayfield S. (2010) Micro-algae come of age as a platform for recombinant protein production. Biotechnology Letter 32:1373–1383
- 20. Tran M., Zhou B. and Pettersson P. L. (2009) Synthesis and assembly of a full-length human monoclonal antibody in algal chloroplasts. Biotechnology Bioengineering 104:663–673
- 21. Von Gromoff E. D., Alawady A. and Meinecke L. (2008) Heme, a plastidderived regulator of nuclear gene expression in *Chlamydomonas*. Plant Cell 20:552–567
- Walker T. L., Purton S., Becker D. K. and Collet C. (2005) Microalgae as bioreactors. Plant Cell Reports 24: 629–641
- 23. Wallaart TE., Pras N. and Quax W. J. (2000) Seasonal variation of artemisinin and its biosynthetic precursors in tetraploid *Artemisia annua* plants compared with the diploid wild type. Planta Medica 66:57-62

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Recombinant Vaccine Production in Green Plants: State of Art

Maziar Habibi-Pirkoohi¹, Afsaneh Mohkami^{2*}

1. Department of Biotechnology and Plant Breeding, Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran 2- Horticulture Research Institute, Shahid Bahonar University of Kerman, Kerman, Iran

Received 9 March 2015

Accepted 20 April 2015

Abstract

Green plants have emerged as ideal platforms for production of recombinant vaccine during recent decades. Various antigens relating to a large number of animal and human diseases have been studied in different plant species for production of recombinant vaccines. Despite the unique advantages of plant systems as green factories for production of recombinant vaccines, there are some major hurdles that have prevented commercial production of plant-based vaccines. In this review, theoretical background and practical applications of plant system for production of various recombinant vaccines are discussed.

Keywords: Recombinant Vaccine, Plant, Genetic Transformation

Introduction

Plant-derived pharmaceuticals (PDPs) are proteins or organic compounds produced in plants via recombinant DNA technology, which are used to improve human or animal health. Subunit vaccines represent one category of PDPs that have been validated in a variety of studies, including human clinical trials. Application of green plants for production of therapeutic products is an emerging field of biotechnology with high economic potential (Sala et al., 2003). Although vaccination with conventional vaccines proved to be an effective practice in prevention of diseases, yet there still is disagreement over its use. Some of the documented side effects of the elements and substances used in vaccine serums include: blood disorders, autoimmune diseases, cerebral palsy, brain damage, paralysis, neurological impairment, monkey fever, autism, mental retardation, premature aging, as well as others. Thus, there is an urgent need to find an alternative to the present vaccines. This alternative can be substituted by development of plant vaccines (Schillberg et al., 2005).Considering recent developments in genetic engineering and transformation methods, it is possible to develop a wide range of transgenic plants that can express various recombinant pharmaceutical compounds

including viral and bacterial antigens, antibodies, and many other therapeutic proteins (Awale et al., 2012).

For a long time, Recombinant vaccines were exclusively produced in expensive expression platforms such as yeast or mammalian cells. High costs associated with preparation culture media and the risk of contamination by human pathogens are regarded as the major disadvantages of such systems. Production of recombinant vaccines in bacterial systems, though simple and cost-effective, was not successful due to improper folding of eukaryotic peptides and occurrence of inclusion bodies in bacterial hosts (Franklin and Mayfield, 2005). Genetic engineering of higher plants was a turning point in the field of recombinant vaccine production. The goal is to produce transgenic plants that upon oral or parenteral administration induce an immune response in the body. The first report of expressing a vaccine antigen within plants was published in 1990 when Curtiss and Cardineau expressed the Streptococcus mutants surface protein antigen A (SpaA) in tobacco (Curtiss and Cardineau, 1990). This pioneer study was followed by plant expression of the hepatitis B surface antigen (HbsAg) (kapusta et al., 1999), the E. coli heat-labile enterotoxin responsible for diarrhea (Haq et al., 1995), and the rabies virus glycoprotein (McGarvey et al., 1995). Proteins produced in these plants induced synthesis of antigen specific mucosal IgA and serum IgG when delivered orally to mice and humans.

Corresponding authors E-mail:

^{*&}lt;u>amohkami@uk.ac.ir</u>

Compared to other recombinant protein expression systems, Plants offer several advantages including the possession of eukaryotic posttranslational modification machinery, suitable folding of foreign protein, low cost scale up, target protein stability and safety of use of plant-derived products due to the lack of any mammalian pathogens. The cost of vaccine production in plant systems is comparable to that of microbial bioreactors and much lower than in mammalian cells. More importantly, in contrast to microorganisms, especially bacteria, it was well documented that plants express eukaryotic proteins in properly folded, modified, assembled and, consequently, native and biologically active forms. Plant-based recombinant vaccines are also advantageous in terms of safety, as naturally free of microbial toxins and human and animal pathogens (Pniewski al.. 2012). However. et oral immunization is thought to be the largest benefit and, in the most enthusiastic plans, plant-based vaccines are to be used as edible vaccines(Awale et al., 2012).



Figure1. Schematic representation of recombinant vaccine production in plat systems

Here, we first describe the principles of plant-based recombinant vaccine production. A handful examples demonstrating successful expression of antigen in plants are also cited. Moreover, strategies toward enhancing expression level will be noted, and finally, biosafety issues and future perspectives for commercial production of recombinant vaccines are discussed.

Plant species used for vaccine production

Plant-based vaccines are subunit vaccines in which the antigen of interest is expressed in plant tissues. The antigen, or antigens, must be expressed at a sufficiently high level in the chosen plant to allow for the practical oral delivery of a sufficient antigen dose to induce immune response. Many species can be adopted for production of recombinant vaccines, with tobacco being the most widely used host plant to date (Habibi and Zibaee, 2013). The advantages of the leafy crop tobacco include the high biomass yield, the ease of stable transformation either by cocultivation with Agrobacterium tumefaciens (Dugdale et al., 2014) or transiently by infiltration with transgenic agrobacteria (Leckie et al., 2011) or transfection with viral vectors (Rybicki et al., 2014). Another benefit is that tobacco is not used as a food crop, ensuring that a transformed line expressing a highly potent drug will not contaminate food resources. Other examples of leafy crops used for production of recombinant vaccines include alfalfa (Wigdorovitz et al., 1999), white clover (Lee et al., 2001), spinach (Yusibov et al., 2002; Karasev et al., 2005), lettuce (Kapusta et al., 2001), etc.

Tomato (Solanumlycopersicum) is an example of garden crops whose fruits are used for vaccine production. Tomato possesses a high fruit biomass yield and offers other advantages in terms of containment, because the plant is often grown in greenhouses. The most widespread use of tomato fruits in molecular farming has been in the expression of vaccine candidates. The first report on production of recombinant vaccines in tomato was the expression of rabies surface glycoprotein, which achieved the relatively high expression level (McGarvey et al., 1995). Other examples include cholera toxin B subunit (Jani et al., 2002) respiratory syncytial virus-F protein (Sandhu et al., 2000), toxin co-regulated pilus subunit A (TCPA) of Vibrio cholera (Sharma et al., 2008), as well as others. Other examples of fruits and vegetables used for antigen expression include potato (Mason et al., 1998; Yu et al., 2001), lettuce (Dong et al., 2014), carrot (Mendoza et al., 2011), etc.

Seed crops including both cereals (maize, rice, wheat and barley) and the grain legumes (soybean, pea, pigeon pea and peanut) have been used as ideal plant systems for production of recombinant vaccines (salaet al., 2003). The main advantage of seed crops is that recombinant proteins can be directed to accumulate specifically in the desiccated seed which is a natural storage organ, with the optimal biochemical environment for the accumulation of large amounts of protein. Moreover, recombinant proteins expressed in seeds have been shown to remain stable and active after storage at room temperature for over three years. Finally, seed proteome is fairly simple, which reduces the likelihood that contaminating proteins

will co-purify with the recombinant protein during downstream processing (Lamphear et al., 2004). According to Stoger et al (2000), Several factors should be considered when choosing an appropriate seed expression host, including geographical considerations, the ease of transformation and regeneration, the annual yield of seed per hectare, the yield of recombinant protein per kilogram of seed, the production cost of the crop, the percentage of the seed that is made up of protein and, inevitably, intellectual property issues.

Green microalgae have also emerged as new cell factories for production of recombinant vaccines. Microalgae possess advantages of prokaryote and eukaryote organisms simultaneously. On one side, they are unicellular organisms with very fast growth which facilitates mass production in short time (prokaryotic feature). On the other side, they are eukaryote and are able to process long eukaryotic peptides with accurate folding and appropriate post transcriptional modification (Specht et al., 2010). Examples of recombinant vaccine produced in microalgae include expression of Food and Mouth Disease Virus (FMDV) VP1 antigen in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii (Habibi et al., 2014), fusion protein containing the VP1 gene and the cholera toxin Bsubunit (Sun et al., 2003) and syndrome virus protein 28(VP28) (Surzycki et al., 2009) in chloroplast genome of the same species.

Several issues should be considered when selecting a plant species as an antigen expression host. The first issue is the form of vaccine delivery. Foreign proteins can be expressed in fresh tissue, such as mature plant leaves and germinating seedlings or in dry tissue, such as the seeds of cereals (Streatfield et al., 2001). Hydroponic culture is another ideal platform because the system makes it possible to secrete the expressed protein into the surrounding medium (Borisjuk et al., 1999). The plant species selected as expression system should possess optimum antigen expression, allows for costeffective production, and can be manufactured into a practical form for oral delivery.

Plant transformation strategies

In general, recombinant subunit vaccines can be produced in plants either by stable or transient transformation. Stable transformation is the most common method widely practiced for production of transgenic lines expressing the antigen of interest. In this approach, the gene of interest is integrated in nuclear or plastid genome using biolistic or *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation methods. In *Agrobacterium* mediated gene transfer, the gene of interest is inserted into the T-region of a Agrobacterium Ti plasmid disarmed of tumefaciens. The recombinant DNA is placed into Agrobacterium; a plant pathogen which is co-cultured with the plant cells or tissues to be transformed. The main disadvantage of this method is that it gives low yield and the process is slow. This method works especially well for dicotyledon plants like potato, tomato and tobacco. In this manner, the foreign antigen is stably inherited through successive generations (Lal et al., 2007). Some agronomically important plant species (e.g. most cereal crops) are recalcitrant to Agrobacterium transformation, and a biolistic method is frequently used for these plants (Awaleet al., 2012). In this approach, DNA coated gold particles are propelled into plant cells using compressed helium gas and becomes incorporated into chromosomal DNA. The biolistic method usually results in higher-copynumber plants compared to those generated by Agrobacterium, which can enhance expression. However, excessive copy numbers or very highlevel expression of nuclear genes can cause gene silencing, resulting in low protein accumulation. Thus it is important to select transgenic lines that carry only between one and three copies of the transgene (Sala et al., 2003).

In transient transformation technique, the epitope of interest is engineered into a plant virus, usually within the coat protein gene. Infection of target plant by this viral vector results in intracellular production and accumulation of the epitope. The epitope sequence, as well as the viral genome. never become integrated into the plant genome and hence are only expressed by the generation of infected cells (Yusibov et al., 2002). This approach has been successfully applied to tobacco, blackeyed beans and spinach (Dalsgaard et al., 1997). The potential advantage of viral expression systems compared to stable plant transformation is that viral replication can greatly amplify the template for protein synthesis resulting in highlevel protein accumulation (Pniewski, 2014).Transient transformation can also be achieved by A. tumefaciens. This method, called "agroinfiltration", involves the injection or vacuum infiltration of plants parts with a suspension of bacteria harboring the antigen of interest. This approach has a wide spectrum of applications and has been used for the study of molecular processes and production of interesting molecules of monoclonal antibodies (Orzaez et al., 2006), antigens of human (Mett et al., 2008) and livestock (Habibi et al., 2014) pathogens.

A newly developed transformation approach called

Magnifection is being used to overcome the limitations possessed by early platforms. It combines the two technologies namely agroinfiltration method and Tobacco Mosaic Virus (TMV)- based viral vectors system. This new approach allows the scalable production of a desired protein with high expression level and yield, low up- and downstream costs, reduced time, and most of all, reduced biosafety concerns (Gleba et al., 2005).

Enhancing antigen expression level in plants

Despite considerable advantages of green plants as feasible platforms for production of recombinant vaccine, low level of transgene expression is still a main drawback hindering commercial application of plant systems (Kang et al., 2003).As remarked by Habibi-Pirkoohi and Zibaei (2013), enhancing transgene expression in plant tissue will be a milestone in production of plant-based recombinant vaccines (Habibi-Pirkoohi and Zibaei, 2013).

To achieve this, several approaches have been proposed such as codon optimization, the use of strong plant promoters and untranslated leader sequences (Chikwamba et al., 2002).

Codon optimization is an efficient way to enhance transgene expression level in transgenic plants as different organisms prefer different codons when making a functional protein (Jabeen et al., 2010). It has been reported that codon optimization can enhance expression level in nuclear transformation as high as 5-fold (Fuhrmann et al., 1999) or up to 80-fold in chloroplast transformation (Franklinand Mayfield, 2005). Moreover, existence of rare codons in some organisms significantly reduces translation efficiency in transgenic plant (Gustafsson et al., 2004). Thus it is not surprising that many investigators make use of synthetic gene with optimized codon sequence (Habibi et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2004).

Presence of leader sequence at 5' untranslated region is also efficacious in enhancing expression level. The prominent Kozak leader sequence (GCCACC) is a ribosome binding site (RBS) whose role in promotion of translation efficiency is well documented (De Angioletti et al., 2004). The upstream leader of Tobacco Mosaic Virus (TMV) called Ω sequence is another untranslated region which plays as a translational enhancer in higher plants. The CAA region residing within Ω sequence is responsible for translational enhancement and acts as a binding site for HSP101 heat shock protein, with the latter is necessary for translation improvement (Gallie, 2002).

In some cases, signal peptides such as SEKDEL

sequence have been used to target the antigen in to endoplasmic reticulum (ER), where necessary enzymes and cellular machinery for proper folding are present(Xu et al., 2011). By addition of ER signals to transgene, high level of antigen expression has been observed in a number of studies (Kang et al., 2004; Haq et al., 1995; He et al., 2012). The ER signals are often attached to 3' end of the transgene just before stop codon(Habibi et al., 2014).

Chloroplast transformation is an effective way to improve foreign antigen accumulation in plant tissues. This approach- usually referred to as cpDNA transformation- is based on the integration of the transgene into the circular chloroplast DNA (cpDNA) that is present in multiple copies in plant cells. Advantages of chloroplast engineering are numerous: the cpDNA molecule is completely sequenced in a number of important plants and is present to up to 10.000 copies per cell. Moreover, it has been shown that chloroplasts can properly process eukaryotic proteins, including correct folding and disulfide bridges (Daniel et al., 2001). Integration into cpDNA has two important advantages, the first being the foreign sequence is targeted to a precise cpDNA site by homologous recombination. This eliminates variability in gene expression and gene silencing, which often occurs in nuclear transformation. The second advantage is the enhanced accumulation of the recombinant antigen. Accumulation of recombinant protein in chloroplast engineering is far more than that of nuclear transformation (Ruhlman et al., 2010).

Oral delivery and mucosal immunity

The majority of infectious agents enter the body through mucosal membranes. Induction of mucosal immunity is best achieved by direct vaccine delivery to mucosal surfaces (Carter and Langridge, 2002). Orally delivered, non-replicating subunit vaccines have not yet achieved commercial success using any means of manufacture. The main hurdle facing the use of orally delivered immunogenic proteins is the likelihood that some proteins will be after ingestion and degraded that some immunogens may not be recognized efficiently at mucosal immune effect or sites in the gut. Although this is a potential limitation, the use of plants as a protein biomanufacturing system offers advantages in that the cost of obtaining the end product is comparatively low. Plant-derived vaccines have demonstrated the ability to induce both systemic and mucosal immune responses (Kong et al., 2001). The major obstacle to oral vaccination is the digestion of the antigenic protein in the stomach. Vaccines derived from plant cells have been shown to overcome this problem through the protective effect of the plant cell wall. Like liposomes and microcapsules, the plant cell wall allows gradual release of the antigen onto the vast surface area of the lower digestive tract (Streatfield, 2006).

Diseases targeted for recombinant plant based vaccines

A large number of diseases have been studied for production of recombinant vaccines. This includes both human and animal infectious diseases and various plant species have been investigated as the host for production of recombinant vaccines. Foot and Mouth Disease (FMD) and hepatitis B are two example of disease for which many investigations have been carried out in trying to obtain an effective plant-based recombinant vaccine. A summary of plant-derived recombinant vaccines is presented in table 1. The table shows that Agrobacterium-mediated nuclear transformation is the dominant procedure for achieving transgenic plants and tobacco, potato and tomato are among the species widely used for recombinant vaccine production. The long list of recombinant vaccines is undoubtedly is not limited to the examples presented in this review, and the list is growing fast by introducing new vaccines, more sophisticated gene construct designs and application of new plant species.

Safety issues, Public acceptance and Commercialization

Plant-derived vaccines are free from human and animal pathogen contaminants. Furthermore plant DNA is not known to interact with the animal DNA and plant viral recombinants do not invade mammalian cells. Nevertheless, some concerns need to be addressed before recombinant vaccines release in market. One of the fears is that GMpollen may escape to the nature and bear harmful influences on biodiversity. To address this concern, some pollen containment approaches have been developed which are often based on establishment of different forms of male sterility (Sala et al., 2003).

Analternative way of solving the problem is engineering vaccines in to the cpDNA, which is not transmitted to the sexual progeny through the pollen grains (Daniel et al., 2011). With this approach, land needed for industrial plant-derived vaccine-production will be in the order of a few thousand square meters because expression level of the antigen is of high magnitude. This enables vaccine-producing transgenic plants to be set apart from field grown crop plants. Another public concern in GM-plants is the presence of antibiotic resistance genes (used as selective marker in most transgenic plants). Approaches have now been developed to generate GM-plants (with both nuclear or cpDNA integration)that do not carry these genes (Puchta et al., 2000).

Tabla 1	L	Decombinant	vooinos	produced	in	transgania planta	
I able I	L. F	Cecomoniant	vaccines	produced	ш	transgeme plants	

Antigen	Transformatio n method	Plant host	Reference
<i>E. coli</i> heat labile enterotoxin (LT-B)	Agrobacterium- mediated	Potato	(Mason et al., 1998)
<i>E. coli</i> heat labile enterotoxin (LT-B)	Agrobacterium- mediated	Tomato	(Walmsley et al., 2003)
<i>E. coli</i> heat labile enterotoxin (LT-B)	Agrobacterium- mediated	Soybean	(Moravec et al., 2007)
Foot and Mouth Disease antigen VP1	Agrobacterium- mediated	Alfalfa	(Wigdorovit z et al., 1999)
Foot and Mouth Disease antigen VP1	Chloroplast transformation (biolistic)	Tobacco	(Li et al., 2006)
Foot and Mouth Disease antigen VP1	Agroinfiltration	Tobacco	(Habibi et al., 2014)
Foot and Mouth Disease antigen VP1	Agrobacterium- mediated	Microalgae (C. reinhardtii)	(Habibi et al., 2014)
Hepatitis B antigen HBsAg	Agrobacterium- mediated	Potato	(Kong et al., 2001)
Hepatitis B antigen HBsAg	Agrobacterium- mediated	Lettuce	(Koprowski et al., 2001)
Hepatitis B antigen HBsAg	Agrobacterium- mediated	Lupin (<i>Lupinuslute</i> <i>us</i> L.)	(Kapusta et al., 1999)
HIV glycoprotein	Agrobacterium- mediated	Spinach	(Karasev et al., 2005)
HIV antigen p24	Agrobacterium- mediated	Potato	(Obregon et al., 2006)
Rabies G and N proteins	Agrobacterium- mediated	Tobacco	(Yusibov et al., 2002)
Rinderpest	Agrobacterium- mediated	Tobacco	(Khandelwa
hemagglutinin (H)	mediated		l et al.,
			2003)
Newcastle disease F antigen	biolistic	Maize	(Guerrero- Andre et al., 2006)
Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) antigens F and G	Agrobacterium- mediated	Tomato	(Sandhu et al., 2000)

Despite numerous advantages of plant-based recombinant vaccines. none of the major pharmaceutical companies is directing funding towards the development of plant-derived vaccines for infectious diseases. This reluctance about commercial production of plant-based recombinant vaccines is mainly due to concern about the potential for significant return on investment; uncertainties in the regulatory processes; limited human clinical trial data that establish required dosages, timing of delivery, and evaluation of possible adverse immunological effects; and finally, a lack of personnel with sufficient expertise in plant biology (Zhang et al., 2011).Participation of both the public sector and the non-profit sector will be essential to provide leadership and investment support to unlock the potential of plantderived vaccines.

Conclusion

Application of green plants for production of recombinant vaccines offers many advantages over traditional methods making this approach a practical way for manufacture of mucosal vaccines on a global scale. Since the pioneer work of Curtiss and Cardineau (1990), many vaccine antigens have been expressed in different plant species to demonstrate the feasibility of oral plant-based vaccines. Despite the promising future and several successes achieved in this field, different issues will have to be established and well defined such as high expression levels, product quality, downstream process costs, regulatory framework, efficacy and safety. Moreover, a large part of the researches in the field of recombinant vaccine production are carried out in tobacco which is not an edible plant and, due to possessing high level of alkaloids, is not affordable as an oral vaccine. Thus, it is necessary to try other plants such as fruits and vegetables to realize production of a plat-based recombinant vaccine.

Growing progress in the field of biotechnology and plant genetic engineering will undoubtedly assist in improvement of plant-based recombinant vaccines.

References

- Awale M. M., Mody SK., Dudhatra GB., Avinash Kumar., Patel HB., Modi CM., Kamani D. R. and Chauhan B. N. (2012) Transgenic Plant Vaccine: A Breakthrough in Immuno pharmaco therapeutics. Journal of Vaccines and Vaccination 3(5): 1-7.
- 2. Borisjuk N. V., Borisjuk LG., Logendra S.,

Petersen F., Gleba Y. and Raskin I. (1999) Production of recombinant proteins in plant root exudates. Nature Biotechnology 17(5):466-469.

- Carter J. E. and Langridge W. H. R. (2002) Plant-based vaccines for protection against infectious and autoimmune diseases. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences Reviews 21 :93–109.
- Chikwamba R., McMurray J., Shou H., Frame B., Pegg S. E., Scott P., Mason H. and Wang K. (2002) Expression of a synthetic *E. coli* heat-labile enterotoxin B sub-unit (LT-B) in maize. Molecular Breeding 10, 253-265.
- 5. Curtiss R. I. and Cardineau C. A. (1990) Oral immunisation by transgenic plants, World Patent Application WO 90/02484.
- Dalsgaard K., Uttenthal A., Jones TD., Xu F., Merryweather A., Hamilton WD., Langeveld J. P., Boshuizen R. S., Kamstrup S., Lomonossoff G. P., Porta C., Vela C., Casal J. I., Meloen R. H., Rodgers P. B. (1997) Plantderived vaccine protects target animals against a viral disease. Nature Biotechnology 15(3): 248-252.
- Daniell H., Streatfield J. and Wycoff K. (2001) Medical molecular farming:production of antibodies, biopharmaceuticals and edible vaccines inplants. Trends in Plant Science 6:219–26.
- Day A. and Goldschmidt-Clermont M. (2011) The chloroplast transformation toolbox: selectable markers and marker removal. Plant Biotechnology Journal 9: 540–553
- 9. De Angioletti M., Lacerra G., Sabato V. and Carestia C. (2004) Beta+45 G --> C: a novel silentbeta-thalassaemia mutation, the first in the Kozak sequence. British Journal of Haematology 12,(2),224–231.
- De Muynck B., Navarre C. and Boutry M. (2010) Production of antibodies in plants: status after twenty years. Plant Biotechnology Journal 8:529–563
- Dong H., Zhao Y., Wang Y. and Li H. (2014) Recombinant proteins expressed in lettuce. Indian journal of Biotechnology 13: 427-436
- Dugdale B., Mortimer C. L., Kato M., James T. A., Harding R. M. and Dale J. L. (2014) Design and construction of an inplant activation cassette for transgene expression and recombinant protein production in plants. Nature Protocols 9:

1010-1027.

- 13. Franklin SE. and Mayfield S. P. (2005) Recent developments in the production of human therapeutic proteins in eukaryotic algae. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy 5: 225–235
- Franklin S. E. and May field S. P. (2005) Prospects for molecular farming in the green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 7: 159– 165
- 15. Fuhrmann M., Oertel W. and Hegemann P. (1999) A synthetic gene coding for the green fluorescent protein (GFP) is a versatile reporter in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Plant Journal 19: 353–361.
- 16. Gallie D. (2002) The 5'leader of tobacco mosaic virus promotes translation through enhanced recruitment of eIF4F. Nucleic Acids Research 30: 3401-3411
- Gleba Y., Klimyuk V. and Marillonnet S. (2005) Magnifection- a new platform for expressing recombinant vaccines in plants. Vaccine: 23(17-18): 2042-8.
- Gustafsson C., Govindarajan S. and Minshull J. (2004) Codon bias and heterologous protein expression. Trends in Biotechnology 22(7): 346-353.
- Habibi-Pirkoohi M. and Zibaee S. (2013) Plant based recombinant vaccines. International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Science 6(1):27-31
- 20. Habibi-Pirkoohi M., Malekzadeh-Shafaroudi S., Marashi H., Moshtaghi N., Nassiri M., Mohkami A. and Zibaee S. (2014) Expression of foot and mouth disease virus (FMDV) capsid protein VP1 in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* as a possible source of recombinant vaccine. International Journal of Plant, Animal and Environmental Science 4 (2): 644-648
- Habibi-Pirkoohi M., Malekzadeh-Shafaroudi S., Marashi H., Moshtaghi N., Nasiri M. and ZibaeeS. (2014) Transient Expression of Foot and Mouth Disease Virus (FMDV) Coat Protein in Tobacco (Nicotiana tabacom) via Agroinfiltration. Iranian Journal of Biotechnology 12(3): 1015-1022
- 22. Haq TA., Mason S., Clements JD. And Arntzen C. J. (1995) Oral immunization with a recombinant bacterial antigen produced in transgenic plants. Science 268: 714-716.
- 23. He X., Haselhorst T., Vonitzstein M.,

Kolarich D., Packer N. and Kermode A. (2012) Influence of an ER-retention signal on the N-glycosylation of recombinant human induronidase generated in sees of Arabidopsis. Plant Molecular Biology 79:157-169

- 24. Jabeen R., Khan M. S., Zafar Y. and Anjum T. (2010) Codon optimization of cry1Ab gene for hyper expression in plant organelles. Molecular Biology Reports 37(2):1011-7.
- 25. Jani D., Meena L. S., Rizwan-ul-Haq Q. M., Singh Y., Sharma A. K., Tyagi A. K. (2002) Expression of cholera toxin B subunit in transgenic tomato plants. Transgenic Research 11(5):447-54.
- 26. Kang T. J., Loc N. H. and Jang M. O. (2003) Expression of the B subunit of E. coli heat-labile enterotoxin in the chloroplasts of plants and its characterization. Transgenic Research 12(6): 683-91.
- Kapusta J., Modelska A. and Figlerowicz M. (1999) A plant derived edible vaccine against hepatitis B virus. FASEB Journal 13:1796–9.
- Kapusta J., Modelska A., Pniewski T., Figlerowicz M., Jankowski K., Lisowa O., Plucienniczak A., Koprowski H. and Legocki A. B. (2001) Oral immunization of human with transgenic lettuce expressing hepatitis B surface antigen. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 495: 299-303.
- 29. Karasev A. V., Foulke S. and Wellens C. (2005) Plant based HIV-1 vaccine candidate: Tat protein produced in spinach. Vaccine 23(15): 1875-80.
- Khandelwal A., Sita G. L. and Shaila M. S. (2003). Expression of hemagglutinin protein of rinderpest virus in transgenic tobacco and immunogenicity of plantderived protein in a mouse model. Virology 308 (2):207-215.
- 31. Kong Q., Richter L., Thanavala Y., Yu F. Y., Arntzen C. J. and Mason H. S. (2001) Oral immunisation with hepatitis B surface antigen expressed in transgenic plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98: 11539–44.
- 32. Lal P., Ramachandran V. G., Goyal R. and Sharma R. (2007) Edible vaccines: Current status and future. Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology 25:93-102.
- 33. Lamphear B. J., Jilka J. M., Kesl L., Welter

M., Howard J. A. and Streatfield S. J. (2004)A corn-based delivery system for animal vaccines: an oral transmissible gastroenteritis virus vaccine boosts lactogenic immunity in swine. Vaccine 22 (19), 2420-2424.

- 34. Lee R. W., Strommer J., Hodgins D., Shewen P. E., Niu Y. and Lo R. Y. (2001) Towards development of an edible vaccine against bovine pneumonic pasteurellosis using transgenic white clover expressing a Mannheimia haemolytica A1 leukotoxin 50 fusion protein. Infection and Immunity 69 (9):5786-93.
- 35. Li Y., Sun M., Liu J., Yang Z., Zhang Z. and G. Shen. (2006) High expression of foot-and-mouth disease virus structural protein *VP1* in tobacco chloroplasts. Plant Cell Reports 25: 329–333
- 36. Mason H., Warzecha H., Mor T. and Charles J. A. (2002) Edible plant vaccines: applications for prophylactic and therapeutic molecular medicine. Trends in Molecular Medicine 8(7).
- 37. Mason H. S., Haq F. A. and Clement J. D. (1998) Edible vaccine protects mice against Escherichia Coli het labile enterotoxin (LT): Potatoes expressing a synthetic LT-B Gene. Vaccine16:1336-1343.
- McGarvey P. B., Hammond J., Dienelt M. M., Hooper D. C., Fu. Z. F., Dietzschold B., Koprowski H. and Michaels F. H. (1995) Expression of the rabies virus glycoprotein in transgenic tomatoes. Biotechnology 13:1484–7
- 39. Mett V., Musiychuk K., Bi H., Farrance CE., Horsey A., Ugulava N., Shoji Y., de la Rosa P., Palmer G. A., Rabindran S., Streatfield S. J., Boyers A., Russell M., Mann A., Lambkin R., Oxford J. S., Schild G. C. and Yusibov V. (2008) A plantproduced influenza subunit vaccine protects ferrets against virus challenge. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 2(1): 33-40.
- Modelska A., Dietzschold B. and Sleysh N. (1998) Immunization against rabies with plant-derived antigen. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 95(5): 2481-5.
- 41. Moravec T., Schmidt M. A., Herman E. M. and Woodford-Thomas T. (2007) Production of Escherichia coli heat labile toxin (LT) B subunit in soybean seed and analysis of its immunogenicity as an oral

vaccine. Vaccine 25(9): 1647-57.

- Obregon P., Chargelegue D., Drake P. M., Prada A., Nuttall J., Frigerio L. and Ma J.K. (2006) HIV-1 p24- immunoglobulin fusion molecule: a new strategy for plantbased protein production. Plant Biotechnology Journal 4(2): 195-207.
- 43. Orzaez D., Mirabel S., Wieland W. H. (2006) Agroinjection of tomato fruits. A tool for rapid functional analysis of transgenes directly in fruit. Plant Physiology 140(1): 3-11
- 44. Pniewski T., Kapusta J., Bociag P., Kostrzak A., Fedorowicz-Strońska O., Czyż M., Gdula M., Krajewski P., Wolko B. and Płucienniczak A. (2012) Plant expression, lyophilisation andstorage of HBV medium and large surface antigens for a prototype oral vaccine formulation. Plant Cell Reports 31: 585–595.
- 45. Pniewski T. (2014)The Twenty-Year Story of a Plant-Based Vaccine Against Hepatitis B: Stagnation or Promising Prospects? International Journal of Molecular Sciences 14: 1978-1998
- 46. Puchta H. (2000) Removing selectable marker genes: taking the shortcut. Trends in Plant Sciences 5: 273–4.
- Richter L., Mason H. S. and Arntzen C. J. (1996) Transgenic plants created for oral immunization against diarrheal diseases. Travel Medicine 3:52-56.
- 48. Ruhlman T., Verma D., Samson N. and Daniell H. (2010) The role of heterologous chloroplast sequence elements in transgene integration and expression. Plant Physiology 152: 2088–2104.
- Rosales-Mendoza S., Soria-Guerra R. E., Moreno-Fierros L., Han Y., Alpuche-Solís A. G. and Korban S. S. (2011) Transgenic carrot tap roots expressing an immunogenic F1-V fusion protein from Yersinia pestis are immunogenic in mice. Journal of Plant Physiology 168(2): 174-80
- 50. Rybicki E. P. and Martin D.P. (2014) Virus-derived ssDNA vectors for the expression of foreign proteins in plants. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunology 375: 19–45.
- 51. Sala F., Rigano M., Barbante A., BassoB., Walmsley A. M. and Castiglione S. (2003) Vaccine antigen production in transgenic plants: strategies, gene constructs and perspectives. Vaccine 21: 803–808
- 52. Sandhu J. S., Krasnyanski S. F., Domier L.

L., Korban S. S., Osadjan M. D. and Buetow D. E. (2000) Oral immunization of mice with transgenic tomato fruit expressing respiratory syncytial virus-F protein induces a systemic immune response. Transgenic Research 9(2):127-35.

- 53. Sharma M. K., Singh N. K., Jani D., Sisodia R., Thungapathra M., Gautam J. K., Meena L. S., Singh Y., Ghosh A., Tyagi A. K. and Sharma A. K. (2008) Expression of toxin co-regulated pilus subunit A (TCPA) of Vibrio cholerae and its immunogenic epitopes fused to cholera toxin B subunit in transgenic tomato (Solanumlycopersicum). Plant Cell Reports 27(2):307-18.
- Schillberg S., Twyman R. M. and Fischer R. (2005) Opportunities for recombinant antigen and antibody expression in transgenic plants - technology assessment. Vaccine 23: 1764-1769.
- 55. Stoger E., SackM., PerrinY., Vaquero C., Torres F., Twyman R., Christou P. and Fischer R. (2002) Practical considerations for pharmaceutical antibody production in different crop systems. Molecular Breeding 9 (3): 149–158.
- Streatfield S. J., Jilka J. M., Hood E. E., Turner D. D., Bailey M. R., Mayor J. M., Woodard S. L., Beifuss K., Horn M. E., Delaney D. E., Tizard I. R. and Howard J. A. (2001) Plant-based vaccines: unique advantages. Vaccine 19: 2742-2748.
- 57. Streatfield S. J. (2006) Mucosal immunization using recombinant plant-basedoral vaccines. Methods 38: 150-157.
- 58. Sun M., Qian K., Su N., Chang H., Liu J. and Shen G. (2003) Foot-and-mouth diseasevirus VP1 protein fused with cholera toxin B subunitexpressed in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii chloroplast. Biotechnology Letters 25:1087–1092
- 59. Surzycki R., Greenham K., Kitayama K., Dibal F., Wagner R., Rochaix J. D., Ajam T. and Surzycki S.(2009) Factors effecting expression of vaccines in microalgae. Biologicals37:133–138
- Walmsley A. M., Alvarez M. L. and Jin Y. (2003) Expression of the B subunit of Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxin as a fusion protein in transgenic tomato. Plant Cell Reports 21(10): 1020-6.
- 61. Walmsley A. M., Arntzen C. J. (2000) Plants for delivery of edible vaccines. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 11:126–

9.

- Wigdorovitz A., Carrillo C., Dus Santos M. J., Trono K., Peralta A., Gomez M., Rios R. D., Pascual M., Franzone P., Sadir A. M., Escribano J. M. and Borca M. (1999) Induction of a Protective Antibody Response to Foot and Mouth Disease Virus in Mice Following Oral or Parenteral Immunization with Alfalfa Transgenic Plants Expressing the Viral Structural Protein VP1.Virology 255: 347-353
- 63. Xu J., Ge X. and Dolan M. C. (2011)Towards high-yield production of pharmaceutical proteins with plant cell suspension cultures. Biotechnology Advances 29:278–299
- 64. Yu J. and Langridge W. H. (2001) A plantbased multi component vaccine protects mice from enteric diseases. Nature Biotechnology 19(6): 548-52.
- 65. Yusibov V., Hooper D. C., Spitsin S. V., Fleysh N., Kean R. B., Mikheeva T., Deka D., Karasev A., Cox S., Randall J. and Koprowski H. (2002) Expression in plants and immunogenicity of plant virus-based experimental rabies vaccine. Vaccine 20: 3155-3164.
- 66. Yusibov V., Modelska A., Steplewski K., Agadjanyan M., Weiner D., Hooper D. C. and Koprowski H. (1997) Antigens produced in plants by infection with chimeric plant viruses immunize against rabies virus and HIV-1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 94(11): 5784-8.
- 67. Zhang L., Zhang J., Chen H., Ding Y. and Liu Y. (2011) Research in advance for FMD novel vaccines. Virology Journal 8: 1-6

Open Access Statement:

This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Scientific Reviewers

Mohammad Bagher Bagherieh Najjar, Ph.D., (Professor of Plant Biology), Golestan University, Golestan, Iran

Ahmad Reza Bahrami, Ph.D., (Professor of Molecular Biology and Biotechnology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Farhang Haddad, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Genetics/Cell Biology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Aliakbar Haddad-Mashadrizeh, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor of Cell and Molecular Biology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Razieh Jalal, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Biochemistry), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Ali Javadmanesh, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor of Animal Sciences), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Dor Mohammad Kordi–Tammandani, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Molecular Genetics), University of Sistan and Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran

Maryam Moghaddam Matin, Ph.D., (Professor of Cellular and Molecular Biology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Nasrin Moshtaghi, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor of Plant Biotechnology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Seyyed Javad Mowla, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Neuroscience), Tarbiat Modarres University, Tehran, Iran

Mohammad Reza Nassiri, Ph.D, (Professor of Animal Genetic and Biotechnology), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Maryam Peyvandi, Ph.D., (Associate Professor of Molecular Plant Physiology), Islamic Azad University, Tehran North Branch, Tehran, Iran

Balal Sadeghi, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor- Animal Genetics and Bioinformatics), Shahid Bahonar University of Kerman, Kerman, Iran

Farajollah Shahriari Ahmadi, Ph.D., (Professor of Crop Biotechnology and Breeding), Ferdowsi University of Mashhad, Mashhad, Iran

Bahram Mohammad-Soltani, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor of Molecular Genetics), Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran

Maryam Tahmasebi Birgani, Ph.D., (Assistant Professor of Genetic), Jondishapour University of Medical Sciences, Ahwaz, Iran

Jalil Tavakol Afshar Ph.D., (Professor of Cellular and Molecular Immunology), Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran
MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

Manuscripts should be prepared in accordance with the uniform requirements for Manuscript's Submission to "Journal of Cell and Molecular Research".

Language: Papers should be in English (either British or American spelling). The past tense should be used throughout the results description, and the present tense in referring to previously established and generally accepted results. Authors who are unsure of correct English usage should have their manuscript checked by somebody who is proficient in the language; manuscripts that are deficient in this respect may be returned to the author for revision before scientific review.

Typing: Manuscripts must be typewritten in a font size of at least 12 points, double-spaced (including References, Tables and Figure legends) with wide margins (2.5 cm from all sides) on one side of the paper. The beginning of each new paragraph must be clearly indicated by indentation. All pages should be numbered consecutively at the bottom starting with the title page.

Length: The length of research articles should be restricted to ten printed pages. Short communication should not exceed five pages of manuscript, including references, figures and tables. Letters should be 400-500 words having 7-10 references, one figure or table if necessary. Commentaries and news should also be 800-1000 words having 7-10 references and one figure or table if necessary.

Types of Manuscript: JCMR is accepting original research paper, short communication reports, invited reviews, letters to editor, biographies of scientific reviewers, commentaries and news.

GENERAL ARRANGEMENT OF PAPERS

Title: In the first page, papers should be headed by a concise and informative title. The title should be followed by the authors' full first names, middle initials and last names and by names and addresses of laboratories where the work was carried out. Identify the affiliations of all authors and their institutions, departments or organization by use of Arabic numbers (1, 2, 3, etc.).

Footnotes: The name and full postal address, telephone, fax and E-mail number of corresponding author should be provided in a footnote.

Abbreviations: The Journal publishes a standard abbreviation list at the front of every issue. These standard abbreviations do not need to be spelled out within paper. However, non-standard and undefined abbreviations used five or more times should be listed in the footnote. Abbreviations should be defined where first mentioned in the text. Do not use abbreviations in the title or in the Abstract. However, they can be used in Figures and Tables with explanation in the Figure legend or in a footnote to the Table.

Abstract: In second page, abstract should follow the title (no authors' name) in structured format of not more than 250 words and must be able to stand independently and should state the Background, Methods, Results and Conclusion. Write the abstract in third person. References should not be cited and abbreviations should be avoided.

Keywords: A list of three to five keywords for indexing should be included at bottom of the abstract. Introduction should contain a description of the problem under investigation and a brief survey of the existing literature on the subject.

Materials and Methods: Sufficient details must be provided to allow the work to be repeated. Correct chemical names should be given and strains of organisms should be specified. Suppliers of materials need only be mentioned if this may affect the results. Use System International (SI) units and symbols.

Results: This section should describe concisely the rationale of the investigation and its outcomes. Data should not be repeated in both a Table and a Figure. Tables and Figures should be selected to illustrate specific points. Do not tabulate or illustrate points that can be adequately and concisely described in the text.

Discussion: This should not simply recapitulate the Results. It should relate results to previous work and interpret them. Combined Results and Discussion sections are encouraged when appropriate.

Acknowledgments: This optional part should include a statement thanking those who assisted substantially with work relevant to the study. Grant support should be included in this section.

References: References should be numbered and written in alphabetical order. Only published, "in press" papers, and books may be cited in the reference list (see the examples below). References to work "in press" must be accompanied by a copy of acceptance letter from the journal. References should not be given to personal communications, unpublished data, manuscripts in preparation, letters, company publications, patents pending, and URLs for websites. Abstracts of papers presented at meetings are not permissible. These references should appear as parenthetical expressions in the text, e.g. (unpublished data). Few example of referencing patterns are given as follows:

Bongso A., Lee E. H. and Brenner S. (2005) Stem cells from bench to bed side. World Scientific Publishing Co. Singapore, 38-55 pp.

Irfan-Maqsood, M. (2013) Stem Cells of Epidermis: A Critical Introduction. Journal of Cell and Molecular Research 5(1): 1-2.

Note: All the reference should be in EndNote format (JCMR EndNote Style is available on JCMR's web site, Author's Guideline)

Tables and Figures: Tables and Figures should be numbered (1, 2, 3, etc.) as they appear in the text. Figures should preferably be the size intended for publication. Tables and Figures should be carefully marked. Legends should be typed single-spaced separately from the figures. Photographs must be originals of high quality. Photocopies are not acceptable. Those wishing to submit color photographs should contact the Editor regarding charges.

Black Page Charges: There is no black page charges for publication in the Journal of Cell and Molecular Research.

Color Page Charges: All color pages being printed in color will cost 1,000,000 Iranian Rials/page.

Table of Contents

Significance of Cell/Stem Cell Therapy in Wound Care Management/ The Editorial Muhammad Irfan-Maqsood	1
Identification of PI3K Isoforms in Human Prostate Cancer Cell Lines (PC3, DU145) and Human Bladder Carcinoma Cell line (5637) Hajar Aryan, Zahra-Soheila Soheili	3
Cloning and Expression of Fusion (F) and Haemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) Epitopes in Hairy Roots of Tobacco (Nicotiana tabaccum) as a Step Toward Developing a Candidate Recombinant Vaccine Against Newcastle Disease Amir Ghaffar Shahriari, Abdolreza Bagheri, Mohammad Reza Bassami, Saeed Malekzadeh Shafaroudi, Ali Reza Afsharifar	11
Association of miR-132 and miR-185 Genes Methylation and their Expression Profile with Risk of Congenital Factor XIII Deficiency Majid Naderi, Dor Mohammad Kordi-Tamandani, Zohreh Rezaei, Akbar Dorgalaleh-Mail	19
A Long noncoding RNA, ANCR, is Unregulated in Bladder and Breast Tumor Tissues Mahshid Malakootian, Youssef Fouani, Parisa Naeli, Fatemeh Mirzadeh Azad, Seyed Amir Mohsen Ziaee, Seyed Javad Mowla	26
Renin-Angiotensin A1166C Polymorphism and the Rrisk of Stroke Peyman Zargari, Mohammad R. Ghasemi, Maryam Pirhoushiaran, Veda Vakili, Javad Hami, Mohammad Taghi Farzadfard, Payam Sasan-Nezhad, Mahmood R. Azarpazhooh, Ariane Sadr-Nabavi	32
Application of Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA (RAPD) to Detect the Genotoxic Effect of Cadmium on Tow Iranian Ecotypes of cumin (Cuminum cyminum) Soraya Salarizadeh, Hamid Reza Kavousi	38
Acipenser Persicus Growth Hormone gene Sequencing and its structures Ehsan Nasr, Mohammad Pourkazemi, Hrachia Hovhannisyan	47
Evaluation of Agrobacterium-mediated Transformation of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii using a Synthetic amorpha-4, 11-diene Synthase Gene Afsaneh Mohkami, Hassan Marashi, Farajolah Shahriary Ahmadi, Masoud Tohidfar, Motahareh Mohsenpour	53
Recombinant vaccine production in green plants: State of art Maziar Habibi-Pirkoohi, Afsaneh Mohkami	59

Journal of Cell and Molecular Research

Volume⁷, Number 1, Summer 2015